Molecular Characterization and Prevalence of Hepatitis E Virus in Swedish Wild Animals - A Zoonotic Perspective

Jay Lin

Faculty of Veterinary Medicine and animal Science. Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health, Section of Virology Uppsala

Doctoral Thesis Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences Uppsala 2015 Acta Universitatis agriculturae Sueciae 2015:86

Cover: This dendrogram reflects the phylogenetic relationship of Hepatitis E virus (HEV) isolated from different species. Clockwise description: 12 to 15 o'clock represents genotype 3; 16 o'clock represent genotypes 5-6; 17-18 o'clock represent genotype 4. 18-19 o'clock represent genotypes 1-2 and 20-24 o'clock represent a number of animal HEV, including the novel moose HEV, which is described in this thesis. (photo: Jay Lin)

ISSN 1652-6880 ISBN (print version) 978-91-576-8370-0 ISBN (electronic version) 978-91-576-8371-7 © 2015 Jay Lin, Uppsala Print: SLU Service/Repro, Uppsala 2015

MOLECULAR CHARACTERIZATION AND PREVALENCE OF HEPATITIS E VIRUS IN SWEDISH WILD ANIMALS - A ZOONOTIC PERSPECTIVE.

Abstract

Observation of chronic hepatitis E virus (HEV) in immunosuppressed patients, and unexplained high hepatitis E virus (HEV) prevalence in the human population raises public health concern. The aim of this thesis is to molecular characterize and investigate the prevalence of HEV in Swedish wild life and their association with HEV transmission to humans. A novel virus was detected in a sample from a Swedish moose (Alces alces). The genome was highly divergent with sequence identity of 30-60% to other HEVs. Genome sequence and phylogenetic analysis showed closest relationship with HEV genotypes1-7 (gt1-7). In addition, three open reading frames (ORFs) was also detected, and all these observed properties suggested the virus as a member of the Hepeviridae family. Markers for ongoing (HEV RNA) and/or past HEV infection (anti-HEV) was demonstrated in 67 (29%) of 231 Swedish moose samples collected from various Swedish provinces. Thus, moose are frequently infected with HEV. Its closest similarity with the HEV gt1-7 group, which includes strains that also infects humans, may indicate a potential for zoonotic transmission of this HEV. A survey detected HEV markers in the wild life, which included samples from wild boars (Sus scrofa) and different deer species, fallow deer (Darna darna), red deer (Cervus elaphus), roe deer (Capreolus capreolus) and moose (Alces alces). These markers were ongoing and/or past infections, and were found in 53 (22%) out of 245 animal samples. The viral nucleic acid sequences strains were sequenced and compared with autochthonous Swedish human HEV cases, of whom three were found infected with strains similar to wild boar strains. These results indicate that Swedish wild animals are often infected with HEV and may be an important source of HEV transmission to humans who come into contact with wild animals or eat game meat. The introduction of a single amplicon PCR of near complete HEV genomes enabled the identification of possible virulence marker, and the detection of possible recombination events between Swedish swine and wild boar, and that there may have been zoonotic transmission of HEV strains between Spain and France.

Keywords: Hepatitis E virus, wild life, deer, wild boar, moose, swine, zoonosis, recombination, virulence, classification, molecular tracing and epidemiology.

Author's address: Jay Lin, Department of Virology, Immunobiology and Parasitology (VIP), The National Veterinary Institute (SVA) Ulls väg 2B, SE-751 89 Uppsala, Sweden. *E-mail:* jay.lin@sva.se / jay_lin79@yahoo.se

To My Family

I have not failed. I've just found 10,000 ways that won't work Thomas A Edison

Contents

| Abbreviations | 9 |
|---|--------------|
| 1 Introduction | 11 |
| 1.1 Hepatitis E Virus (HEV): One virus with many faces in different | nt places 11 |
| 1.2 Etiology- Biology of hepatitis E virus (HEV) | 13 |
| 1.2.1 Morphology and genomic organization | 13 |
| 1.2.2 Viral life cycle overview | 20 |
| 1.2.3 Continous discovery of new HEVs require an updated | HEV |
| classification | 22 |
| 1.2.4 HEV subtype classification and genotypes 1-4 | 25 |
| 1.3 Clinical outcome | 27 |
| 1.3.1 Clinical manifestation in humans | 27 |
| 1.3.2 Clinical outcome in animals | 30 |
| 1.4 Epidemiology | 31 |
| 1.4.1 General epidemiology | 31 |
| 1.4.2 Epidemiology of Human HEV infection | 34 |
| 1.4.3 Epidemiology of animal HEV infection | 35 |
| 1.5 Diagnosis and detection of HEV | 40 |
| 1.5.1 Detection of HEV RNA - a marker for active HEV infec | |
| 1.5.2 Serological detection of anti-HEV markers for past/rec | |
| infection | 41 |
| 1.5.3 Cell culture and other animal model systems | 43 |
| 1.6 Routes of transmission | 46 |
| 1.6.1 Waterborne | 47 |
| 1.6.2 Foodborne zoonosis | 47 |
| 1.6.3 Other routes | 48 |
| 1.7 Adaptation and evolution of HEV | 49 |
| 1.7.1 General overview | 49 s 49 |
| 1.7.2 Genomic variability of genotypes 1-4 and quasispecies | |
| 1.7.3 HEV recombinants emerging from uptake of additional acid fragments | 50 |
| 1.7.4 HEV origin hypothesis | 50 |
| 1.8 HEV Prevention and control | 51 |
| 1.8.1 Virus survival and inactivation | 51 |
| 1.8.2 HEV therapeutics and vaccine | 52 |

| 2 | Aims of the thesis | 54 |
|-------|--|-----|
| 3 | Material and methods | 55 |
| 3.1 | General Material and methods approaches | 55 |
| | 3.1.1 Sample types and storage | 55 |
| | 3.1.2 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis | 55 |
| 3.2 | Past and active HEV detection assays, gel-based PCRs and Sanger | |
| | sequencing | 56 |
| | 3.2.1 ELISA for detecting past HEV infections | 56 |
| | 3.2.2 Quantitative PCR for detecting active HEV infections | 56 |
| | 3.2.3 Gel-based PCR, terminal amplification and Sanger sequencing | 57 |
| 3.3 | Sequence-, phylogenetic-, and statistical analysis | 58 |
| | 3.3.1 General sequence analysis tools | 58 |
| | 3.3.2 Phylogenetic relationship analysis of HEV | 59 |
| | 3.3.3 Possible recombination and identification of the moose HEV | |
| | ORF2-3 start codons | 60 |
| | 3.3.4 Statistical analysis | 60 |
| 3.4 | High throughput sequencing (HTS) | 60 |
| 4 | Result and discussion | 62 |
| 4.1 | Detection, amplification, characterization and prevalence of hepatitis E | Ξ |
| | virus found in Swedish moose | 62 |
| | 4.1.1 Unclear HEV status in moose and collection of wild life samples | s62 |
| | 4.1.2 New HEV like virus found in a moose | 62 |
| | 4.1.3 HEV prevalence in Swedish moose | 63 |
| 4.2 | Genomic characterization of potential recombination, zoonotic and | |
| | virulence elements in porcine HEV genomes | 66 |
| | 4.2.1 Genomic characterization of the frequently found subtype 3f | 66 |
| | 4.2.2 Phylogenetic relationship and potential HEV recombinations | 67 |
| | 4.2.3 Zoonotic and virulence elements | 67 |
| 4.3 | Wildlife as potential HEV reservoir | 68 |
| | 4.3.1 Prevalence of HEV markers in wild life | 68 |
| | 4.3.2 Wild life HEV transmission routes to humans | 70 |
| 5 | Concluding remarks | 72 |
| 6 | Future perspectives | 75 |
| Refer | ences | 76 |

Acknowledgements

List of Publications

This thesis is based on the work contained in the following papers, referred to by Roman numerals in the text:

- I Lin J., Norder H., Uhlhorn H., Belák, S. and Widén, F. (2013). Novel Hepatitis E virus found in Swedish moose. *The Journal of General Virology* 95(3), 557-570.
- II Lin J., Karlsson, M., Olofson A. S., Belák S., Malmsten J., Dalin A. M., Widén F and Norder H. (2015). High prevalence of Hepatitis E Virus in Swedish moose- a phylogenetic characterization and comparison of the virus from different regions. *PLoS One* 10(4), e0122102.
- III Lin J., Norder H., Belák S., and Widén F. (2015). Near complete single PCR amplification of porcine Hepatitis E virus genomes; characterization of genomic regions of potential recombination and markers of zoonosis and virulence elements (manuscript).
- IV Roth A., Lin J., Magnius L., Karlsson M., Bélak S., Widén F. and Norder H. (2015) Swedish wild ungulates are commonly infected with hepatitis E virus (manuscript).

Papers I-II are reproduced with the permission of the publishers.

Abbreviations

| aa | amino acid |
|-------|--|
| ab | antibody |
| ag | antigen |
| AH | Acute Hepatitis |
| ALT | Alanine Aminotransferase |
| BLSV | Big liver and spleen disease |
| CGW7 | CLC Genomics Workbench 7 (software) |
| C_t | Threshold cycle number (used in qPCR) |
| dPPR | downstream Poly proline region |
| ELISA | Enzyme-Linked Immune Absorbent Assay |
| EM | Electron Microscopy |
| ER | Endoplasmatic Reticulum |
| FH | Fulminant hepatitis |
| GRP78 | Glucose-Regulated protein 78 |
| gt | genotype |
| HAV | Hepatitis A virus |
| HEV | Hepatitis E virus |
| HRP | Horse Radish Peroxidase |
| HSC70 | Heat Shock Cognate protein 70 |
| HSP90 | Heat Shock protein 90 |
| HSPG | Heparan sulfate proteoglycans |
| HSS | Hepatitis-spenomegaly syndrome |
| HVR | Hypervariable region |
| ICTV | International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses |
| IDR | Intrinsically Disordered Region |
| IgA | Immunoglobulin A |
| IgG | Immunoglobulin G |
| IgM | Immunoglobulin M |
| JR | Junction region |
| | |

| MEGA5 | Molecular Evolutionary Genetics Analysis 5 (software) | | | |
|------------|---|--|--|--|
| MeT | Methyltransferase | | | |
| ML | Maximum Likelyhood | | | |
| mRNA | Messenger RNA | | | |
| MSA | Multiple sequence alignement | | | |
| NJ | Neighbor Joining | | | |
| NS | None structural protein | | | |
| nt | nucleotide | | | |
| ORF | Open Reading Frame | | | |
| Р | Protruding | | | |
| PCP | Papain-like Cysteine Protease | | | |
| PDB | Protein Database | | | |
| p-distance | proportion distance | | | |
| pi | post-infection | | | |
| PPR | Poly Proline Region | | | |
| PSAP | Proline-Serine-Alanine-Proline | | | |
| qPCR | quantitative real-time RT-PCR | | | |
| RdRp | RNA dependent RNA polymerase | | | |
| RNA | Ribonucleic acid | | | |
| RT-PCR | Reverse Transcription-Polymerase Chain Reaction | | | |
| S | Shell | | | |
| SPF | Specific Pathogen Free | | | |
| swHEV | swine hepatitis E virus | | | |
| T_m | melting temperature of the PCR product | | | |
| UPGMA | unweight pair-group method using arithmetic averages | | | |
| uPPR | upstream Poly proline region | | | |
| UTR | Untranslated region | | | |
| VLP | Virus Like Particles | | | |
| WHO | World Health Organization | | | |
| | - | | | |

1 Introduction

1.1 Hepatitis E Virus (HEV): One virus with many faces in different places

The disease previously associated with enterically transmitted none-A to D hepatitis, now known as hepatitis E, is an infectious viral disease caused by the agent hepatitis E virus (HEV). The disease is one of the most common cause of acute viral hepatitis globally. According to WHO, 20 million people are or have been infected with HEV. HEV is a RNA virus with a positive single stranded genome. It has caused several human epidemics in India (Chobe et al., 1997), Pakistan (Rab et al., 1997), China (Zhuang et al., 1991), Africa (Kim et al., 2014) and Mexico (Huang et al., 1992). HEV was first recognized as a new pathogen during the Kashmir water-borne epidemic in 1978, at that time called non-A non-B hepatitis (Khuroo, 1980), but HEV has also retrospectively been traced back as the cause to a large outbreak in New Dehli, India in 1957 (Viswanathan, 1957). In 1981, a similar hepatitis epidemic occurred in a Soviet military camp located in Afghanistan and the infectious agent HEV was isolated for the first time. The discoverer, Dr. Balayan developed acute hepatitis following ingestion of a water phase stool suspensions from the 1981 water-borne epidemic and he sampled his stool and blood during his illness. These samples were used for further characterization of the virus (Balayan et al., 1983). It took almost ten years for the HEV genome to be sequenced after the isolation of HEV cDNA from a HEV infected Cynomolgus monkey bile (Reves et al., 1990).

The clinical properties of acute HEV hepatitis are indistinguishable from hepatitis caused by the hepatitis A virus (HAV). The disease course is mostly asymptomatic or with mild symptoms, but can also cause severe hepatitis. In infected pregnant women the mortality rate is up to 25% (Kamar et al., 2012a; Aggarwal, 2011). HEV is important from the public health perspective in

developing countries (the Middle East, southeast and central Asia, Africa and the American continent), where it frequently cause large epidemics. HEV is fecal-orally transmitted, and the transmission is favoured by crowded settings with poor hygiene and water sanitation. The spread of the virus is usually through consumption of contaminated water or food (Okamoto, 2007). In developed countries HEV infection have long been considered as a poor hygiene and travel related illness. The situation was not investigated until several studies triggered questions why the general population in many industrialised countries like USA, Japan, Canada and several European countries (including Sweden) had high prevalence of antibodies against HEV (anti-HEV), ranging 5-53% in some regions (Kamar et al., 2012a; Mansuy et al., 2011; Guo et al., 2010; Olsen et al., 2006). This high prevalence indicates widespread asymptomatic HEV infections. The increased numbers of autochthonous (locally acquired) sporadic HEV cases with no history of travelling to HEV endemic countries raised the question if HEV would have other sources than water as viral reservoirs to infect humans (Kamar et al., 2012a).

Since the early 1990s, serological evidence of past HEV infections from several animal species and in some cases virus detection suggested that animals could be infected with HEV-like viruses. The breakthrough came in 1997, when a swine HEV strain was identified in the USA for the first time and named swine hepatitis E virus (swHEV) (Meng *et al.*, 1997). This new HEV variant was also genetically correlated to two human HEV strains isolated in the USA from individuals with no history of travelling to endemic HEV affected areas (Meng *et al.*, 1997). Since then, it has been found that domestic swine and wild boars across the globe are frequently infected by HEV, suggesting porcine as the main reservoir for HEV infections (Meng, 2010; Widén *et al.*, 2010; Meng *et al.*, 1997). The HEV transmission pathway is often unknown in the industrial part of the world with good sanitary conditions. However, there are well documented zoonotic reports by ingestion of HEV contaminated porcine products (swine/wild boar) or from consumption of deer.

Apart from the previously mentioned HEV hosts, additional animal species can be infected with HEV e.g. rabbit, mongoose and camels. The HEV variants infecting these hosts are classified into genotypes 1-7 (gt1-7) and all are members of the recently suggested species *Orthohepevirus* A of the *Orthohepevirus* genus (Smith *et al.*, 2014). Currently, only gt1-4 have been associated with human infections, and gt1-2 exclusively have human as host. These genotypes are associated with large outbreaks in developing countries often due to poor sanitary conditions. Swine and wild boar are possible viral reservoirs for gt3 and gt4 which both have zoonotic properties (Meng, 2013;

Meng, 2010). The discovery of new HEV variants found in a wide range of animal species has led to important HEV classification changes (Smith et al., 2014), that are needed for this, seemingly, ever expanding virus family. Other issues include the poor knowledge of its replication and infection pathways, mainly because the HEV research progress has been hampered by the lack of efficient cell culture and small animal models (Kenney & Meng, 2015). There are improved models with potential, but they still suffer from complicated and expensive setups and are unsuitable for routine labs. A wide range of extrahepatic manifestations and increased incidences of chronic HEV infections in immunosuppressed patients also raises concern (Kamar et al., 2012a). The discovery of HEV in animals, including moose, have broadened the known host range and diversity of HEV, and raised public health concerns for zoonosis and food safety. High HEV seroprevalence in the human population indicate that unidentified sources HEV transmission may exist and it is of importance to find these transmission routes. Thus, HEV may exist in our "backyard", but this awareness can be used for minimising the zoonotic transmission and indicate better preventive measures.

1.2 Etiology- Biology of hepatitis E virus (HEV)

1.2.1 Morphology and genomic organization

HEV was first sequenced in 1990 (Reyes et al., 1990). Its genome consists of a single stranded positive sense RNA, which varies in size from 6.6-7.6kb depending on the virus strain described (Thiry et al., 2015). The HEV genome is contained in a small, non-enveloped icosahedral symmetric virus capsid of about 27-34 nm diameter. HEV was first assigned into the Picornaviridae and later the *Caliciviridae* family, based on the first findings of its morphology and other physiochemical properties. Later it was clear that the genomic organization was different from *Caliciviridae* and other existing virus families. HEV was therefore classified into its own genus, Hepevirus of the novel family, *Hepeviridae* by the International Committee on Taxonomy of Viruses (ICTV). However, with the recent discoveries of several divergent animal HEVs, including the HEV found in moose (study I-II) have indicated the need for a revised HEV classification. A consensus HEV classification was recently presented (Smith et al., 2014) and will most likely represent the update for the classification of HEV. This update suggest two genera: Orthohepevirus with four species (A-D) and *Piscihepevirus* with a single species *Piscihepevirus* A, and there seven genotypes (gt1-7) within the Orthohepevirus A species (see chapter 1.2.3 for more information). At least strains belonging to gt1-4 appear to share the same serotype, i.e. infection with one genotype infers immunity

against the other (Emerson & Purcell, 2003). The genome has the features of eukaryotic mRNA (Figure 1), and comprises of a 7-methylguanine cap at its 5' end followed by three partial overlapping open reading frames 1-3 (ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3) and ends with a poly(A) stretch at the 3' end (Tam et al., 1991). Although ORF2-3 are encoded in the main HEV genome, its protein expression has been demonstrated to occur through a smaller viral RNA species of 2.2kb subgenomic RNA (Graff et al., 2006). In addition, the viral genome also has short 5'- and 3'untranslated regions (UTRs), and a region covering from the 3'end of ORF1 to the start of ORF2/3, which is homologous to a junction region (JR) found in alphaviruses (Purdy et al., 1993). These elements are likely to form into complex secondary structures containing conserved stem-loops and hairpin structures with properties important for HEV RNA replication, translation and packaging (Ahmad et al., 2011; Reyes et al., 1993). The appearance of the viral genome as mRNA facilitate viral protein translation through the caped 5'-end, disguising the viral genome from the immune response (Ahmad et al., 2011). Studies have confirmed the ORF1-3 expression by detecting antibodies against these proteins in HEV infected humans and experimental animals (Khudyakov Yu et al., 1994). However, the expression kinetics of these proteins during the viral life cycle are still not fully understood.

An investigation showed a 76nt region (at nucleotide position 130 to 206) within the 5' UTR that could bind with the N-terminal end of ORF2, suggesting it to function as a RNA encapsidation signal (Surjit *et al.*, 2004). The end of ORF2 and the 3'UTR are believed to form secondary structures and have been demonstrated to bind to a cloned recombinant HEV RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp), indicating an important role in the HEV replication process (Agrawal *et al.*, 2001; Emerson *et al.*, 2001). Viral proteins have beside their essential function to replicate and encapsidate the viral genome, also displayed additional functions for host cellular protein interaction. All ORF1-3 have shown such interactions, see following section for more information.



Figure 1. Illustration of the ~7.2kb HEV genome consisting of a cap at its 5' end and terminates with a poly(A) tail at its 3' end. Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) position based on gt1-SAR55. There are also short sections of untranslated regions (UTRs) at 5' and 3' ends that folds into stem-loop structures (indicated with blue and green colour). These UTRs are involved in virus replication, translation and packaging. Three open reading frames 1-3 (ORF1-3) are shown. ORF1 encodes a none-structural polyprotein (with the following domains: MeT; Methyltransferase; Y: Y-domain; PCP: papain-like cysteine protease; P: poly proline region; X: X- or Macro-domain Hel; Helicase RdRp: RNA dependent RNA polymerase) and ends within a junction region (JR); Both ORF2-3 proteins are translated from a caped bistronic subgenomic RNA that is produced from viral replication starting in the JR. The ORF2 encodes the viral capsid with the following regions: ER-signal (purple) and viral RNA binding region (brown), S-, M-, P-domain. The accessory protein ORF3 contains the following domains (D1, D2, P1 and P2). All predicted domains and their possible boundaries positions are illustrated with numbers. The three yellow dots represents glycolysation sites in ORF2 (amino acid position 137, 310 and 562), while the red dot is the phosphorylation site in ORF3 at amino acid position 71.

The ORF1 polyprotein

The ORF1 (~5.0kb) occupies more than a third of the HEV genome and encodes the non-structural poly-protein (pORF1) of about 1693-1704 amino acids (aa), (Figure 1). This poly-protein is involved in the replication of the viral genome and processing of viral proteins (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). The ORF1 consists of six functional domains including a methyltransferase (MeT), followed by the Y-domain, a papain-like cysteine protease (PCP), a hypervariable region (HVR) with a prolin rich region (PPR), macro domain (X-domain), a RNA helicase and a RNA dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp) at the 3'-ORF1 terminal end (Koonin *et al.*, 1992). The predicted MeT representing residues 56-240 (Koonin *et al.*, 1992), is suspected for the 5' terminal end capping activities, since both the HEV genomic and subgenomic RNAs (encoding ORF2 and ORF3) are capped (Huang *et al.*, 2005; Chen &

Meng, 2004; Kabrane-Lazizi *et al.*, 1999b). A cDNA corresponding to amino acids 1-979 was expressed in a baculivirus system showing that both metyltransferase and guanyltransferase activities were detected (Magden *et al.*, 2001).

The subsequent downstream Y domain still remains elusive with unknown assigned function. The putative PCP domain between 1300-1779nt/433-592aa of ORF1 has long been suspected to have a role in the ORF1 processing (Koonin *et al.*, 1992). But its presence and polyprotein processing properties still remain controversial and more work has to be performed to clarify if it exist and how it function.

Further downstream is the hypervariable region (HVR), which includes the proline rich region (PPR) corresponding to 2137-2337nt/712-778aa. The PPR is suggested as an intrinsically disordered region (IDR), rich in polar and charged amino acids and may act as a flexible hinge (Purdy, 2012). The mutations within the PPR have shown preference for cytosine in the first and second codon positions leading to increased frequency of proline residues. The PPR of gt1 shows more conservation and less substitution rates compared with the zoonotic gt3-4, which may reflect wider host range flexibility of these latter genotypes (Purdy et al., 2012). Several studies, including study III reported that gt3 can acquire fragment inserted into the PPR regions, but how these insertions occur is still unknown. These fragment insertions have frequently been observed in strains from immunosuppressed patients with chronic HEV infection. Recombinants appears also to have an improved replication capacity when tested on cell lines as model (see chapter 1.7.3 from more information). It has been shown that the inserted sequences could come from the host cell genome or from the virus genome itself, and it is proposed to open new protein-protein interactions with new potential regulation sites (Lhomme et al., 2014a; Purdy, 2012).

The X- or macro-domain, is the downstream flanking region at position 2356-2829nt/785-960aa (Neuvonen & Ahola, 2009; Egloff et al., 2006). Macro domains can be found in a large range of proteins of bacteria, archaea and eukaryotes, and contribute to ADP-ribose metabolism and posttranslational modifications (Han et al., 2011). It is suggested that the viral macro domain may function as poly (ADP-ribose)-binding unit and is also attracting cellular factors for participation in viral RNA replication and/or transcription (Egloff et al., 2006). The increased sequence diversity of the PPR and X domain at the acute phase of an HEV infection was suggested to be associated with persistence of the virus in immunosuppressed solid organ patients (Lhomme et al., 2014b).

The next following domain (2881-3615nt/960-1204aa) of the HEV ORF1 region is encoding the helicase, which is essential for the viral replication. The putative HEV helicase contains seven motifs that participates in the binding and hydrolysis of nucleotides triphosphates (NTPs), and binding of nucleic acids (DNA/RNA), (Koonin *et al.*, 1992).

The RdRp is found in the subsequent flanking region (3546-5106nt/1207-1693aa). This essential enzyme is found in all RNA viruses. Its function is to replicate the genomic RNA. Which most likely occurs through an anti-genomic RNA intermediate, in the case of HEV, through a minus sense RNA genome intermediate. As in the RdRp of other RNA positive-stranded RNA viruses, eight motifs can be found in the HEV RdRp, including GDD amino acid sequences that binds Mg²⁺ required for replicase activity (Koonin *et al.*, 1992). The RdRp activity has been demonstrated in HEV replicon systems (Graff *et al.*, 2005; Agrawal *et al.*, 2001).

It is still unclear whether the pORF1 processed into separate components or remain unprocessed as a large poly-protein. Studies observing ORF1 processing into smaller units have been reported (Parvez, 2013; Karpe & Lole, 2011; Sehgal et al., 2006; Ropp et al., 2000), however contradicting studies showing the opposite have also been reported (Perttila et al., 2013; Suppiah et al., 2011; Ansari et al., 2000).

Junction region

The conserved junction region (JR) including ORF1 stop codon and the start codons of the overlapping reading frames ORF2 and ORF3, is predicted to encode secondary stem-loop RNA structures (Cao et al., 2010; Huang et al., 2007). The authentic start codon (AUG) positions of ORF2-3 in JR has been investigated in different studies: The first study of liver tissue of macaques experimentally infected with HEV, detected three RNA species of 7.2kb, 3.7kb and 2kb designated as the genomic and two subgenomic RNA (Tam et al., 1991). This model suggested that the ORF1 stop codon at position 5105 (gt1 SAR-55 Strain) overlapped with the ORF3 codon at position 5104. The ORF2 was suggested to be translated from the 3.7kb subgenomic RNA, while the ORF3 was translated with the 2kb subgenomic RNA. However, the 3.7kb subgenomic RNA could not be confirmed in other studies. Another challenging model from stable Huh-7 cell lines created with HEV RNA replicons expressing the neomycin resistance gene from ORF2 and ORF3, showed stable expression only of the genomic RNA and 2.2kb subgenomic RNA (Graff et al., 2006). This subgenomic RNA started at 5122 and was bicistronic for the translation of both ORF2 and ORF3. This model also explains the reading frame differences observed for gt4, which contains an extra nucleotide T-insert

between 5116/5117 (SAR-55) resulting in a different reading frame for the ORF3 start codon. The translation of ORF3 from position 5131 (SAR-55) should be the same for all gt1-4. Several other studies supports this model through intrahepatic inoculation of unchanged and mutant gt3 swine HEV replicons into swine and through secondary structure predictions (Huang et al., 2007). Another study confirmed the existence of the 2.2kb subgenomic RNA and its starting position at 5122 through PLC/PRF/5 cells inoculated with fecal suspension containing gt4 or transfected in vitro from a cloned cDNA produced from infectious gt3 RNA (Ichiyama et al., 2009). The role of the JR secondary structure in viral replication was demonstrated when Huh7-cells were transfected with unchanged or mutant JR replicons with reporter genes (Cao et al., 2010). The viral negative-strand RNA may act as a template for the positive-strand genome and subgenomic RNA synthesis, the former within the JR in a primer-independent manner. The JR of negative-sense directed RNA is predicted to contain a folded stem-loop structure. Mutations on the predicted loop or part of the stem of the subgenomic RNA start site considerably reduced or stopped reporter activity. The sequence of the JR therefore play important role in HEV replication.

The ORF2 protein - Viral capsid

The ORF2 corresponds to nucleotide positions 5145-7125 in the genome. It encodes the viral capsid of ~660 amino acids depending on the HEV strain. This structural protein is highly immunogenic and is proposed to encapsidate the viral RNA and interact with the host cell e.g. while entering into and exit from the host cell (Xing *et al.*, 2010). The 111aa N-terminal region appears to bind to the 5' region of the viral RNA (Surjit *et al.*, 2004). This region also contains signal sequence, which translocates the ORF2 protein to the *endoplasmatic reticulum* (ER), where it is glycosylated at three conserved asparagine sites (137, 310 and 562), (Zafrullah *et al.*, 1999). This is required to produce infections virus particles and for efficient propagation, as has been shown in cell lines with HEV replicons (Yamada *et al.*, 2009b; Graff *et al.*, 2008). There is a broad antigenic cross-reactivity between ORF2 proteins from known HEV genotypes, which has been demonstrated with western blot and antisera using recombinant capsid from various HEV strains including avian HEV (Haqshenas *et al.*, 2002).

The accessory protein ORF3

There are currently no homologues to the ORF3 in the sequence databases. The protein is located at nucleotide positions 5131-5475nt of the HEV genome. The small 114aa protein contains two N-terminal hydrophobic (D1 and D2) and

two C-terminal proline-rich regions (P1 and P2), (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). Multiple functions have been proposed for this phosphoprotein including interaction with host cell proteins associated with immune evasion, cell survival promotion (Kar-Roy *et al.*, 2004), acute phase response modulation (Chandra *et al.*, 2010; Chandra *et al.*, 2008; Moin *et al.*, 2007) and immunosuppression (Surjit *et al.*, 2006; Tyagi *et al.*, 2004). This protein appears not to be essential for infection and replication (Emerson *et al.*, 2006), but its presence is needed for the virion release from cells (Nagashima *et al.*, 2011). The phosphorylated form of ORF3 (S71 residue) was shown to interact with the non-glycosylated form of the capsid protein (Tyagi *et al.*, 2002). This post-translational interaction suggested a regulatory role of ORF3 during virion assembly. Substantial sequence diversity of ORF3 has been observed between genotypes and even within genotypes, but also within more divergent HEV strains found in wild animals e.g. moose HEV (Studies I).

Viral particle structure

The capsid protein expressed in mammalian cells was reported as an 74kDa unglycosylated and an 88kDa glycosylated forms (Jameel *et al.*, 1996) and it is still controversial which form/s build the virion. From 3D structure studies of the HEV capsid it is observed that the main structure of the virion shell uses two identical capsid proteins (homodimers) as a base for the construction of the virion shell. The existence of two different forms of the HEV virus like particles (VLPs) have been shown T=1 and T=3 (Figure 2), consisting of 60 and 180 capsid monomers, respectively.



Figure 2.Structural representation of T=1 (left), 3HAG (Guu et al., 2009) and T=3 (Right), 3IYO (Xing et al., 2010), adapted from the Protein database (PDB), <u>http://www.rcsb.org/pdb/home/home.do</u>, (accessed 2015-07-15).

These monomers have been shown to form three distinct domains assigned shell (S), middle (M) and a protruding (P) domains (Xing *et al.*, 2010; Yamashita *et al.*, 2009; Li *et al.*, 2005b). The T3 structure is suggested to be the more likely for packaging the HEV virion (Cao & Meng, 2012; Xing *et al.*, 2010). The structure of the wild type virion has not been resolved and therefore still remain unknown (Mori & Matsuura, 2011). The possible existence of two types of HEV virions have been suggested, one nonenveloped viron found in fecal samples and one enveloped-like virion found in serum. The latter is associated with ORF3 and lipids with unknown structure (Yamada *et al.*, 2009a; Takahashi *et al.*, 2008). These two suggested virion types indicate that more studies should be performed.

1.2.2 Viral life cycle overview

The life cycle of HEV is largely unknown due to the lack of efficient culture systems and small animal models (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). This has hampered the understanding of the HEV pathogenesis and antiviral drug development. HEV most likely enters the body orally and the primary site for viral replication is believed to be the liver, with the hepatocytes being the most likely cell type to be infected (Ahmad *et al.*, 2011). Current knowledge suggest that the structural HEV capsid protein binds to cellular receptor/s to start viral entry and initiate replication (Figure 3A). The specific cellular receptor for HEV is still unknown, but through ORF2 binding studies; the ORF2 C-terminal region was suggested to bind to heat shock cognate protein 70 (HSC70), (Parent *et al.*, 2009), a member of the heat shock proteins acting as chaperons. Heparan sulfate proteoglycans (HSPG) has also been suggested as viral receptor on the cell surface (Kalia et al., 2009). A receptor-dependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis (Figure 3B) has been demonstrated to be involved in the HEV particle entry (Kapur et al., 2012).



Figure 3. A schematic HEV replication from entry to egress from the host cell. A-C) Binding of HEV virion to putative host receptors. D) Release of HEV genome enabling translation of ORF1 protein, which most likely uses the available positive sense HEV genome as template for negative sense synthesis E). This is in turn a template for the production of new positive sense HEV genomic RNA, including a smaller subgenomic genome, which ORF2 or ORF3 are translated from, see G). H) Particle assemble initiates with the binding of ORF2 to the genomic RNA and interaction with ORF3. (I-J) The virions are transported to the plasma membrane for the release of the membrane-associated HEV particles. K) The virion will lose the membranes when passed through the digestive system, ready for infecting a new host. This is reproduced from (Kenney & Meng, 2015), with permission from the publisher Taylor & Francis.

Once inside the cell, the capsid is thought to interact with heat shock protein 90 (HSP90) and glucose-regulated protein 78 (Grp78) for the intracellular transport and uncoating (Yu *et al.*, 2011; Zheng *et al.*, 2010), (Figure 3C). Like cellular caped mRNA, the cap structure in the 5'UTR terminal of the HEV genome recruits 40S ribosomal subunit to start cap-dependent translation of

NS-polyprotein ORF1 (Figure 3D). It is thought that the viral RdRp of the ORF1 associates with the host ER through a predicted transmembrane domain corresponding to residues 4449-5109 to begin replication of the viral genome (Rehman *et al.*, 2008). The replication process most likely involves synthesis of negative-sense RNA (Figure 3E) which has been detected in tissues from HEV infected animals (Varma *et al.*, 2010; Nanda *et al.*, 1994). This most likely occurs when the RdRp binds to the secondary structure of the viral 3' UTR genome, which initiates the synthesis of negative sense RNA genome. This template is then used for the synthesis of full genome and the 2.2kb SgRNA (Figure 1 and Figure 3F), (Cao & Meng, 2012).

This enables the translation of more ORF1 proteins, and capsid protein from ORF2 and the small ORF3 protein translation from the bicistronic subgenomic RNA (Figure 3G), or the HEV genome is encapsidated with help from ORF2 (Ahmad et al., 2011; Graff et al., 2006), (Figure 3H). Assembly and release of the HEV virions are still poorly characterized. However, it has been shown that the ORF2 protein can bind the viral RNA through a 76-nt region at the 5' end of the HEV genome and most likely package it through the assembly of progeny virions (Surjit et al., 2004), see Figure 3H. The Nterminal end of ORF2 also contain a signal sequence, which translocates the ORF2 protein to the endoplasmatic reticulum (ER), where it is glycosylated at three conserved asparagine sites (137, 310 and 562), (Zafrullah et al., 1999), see Figure 3I. The ORF3 protein is thought to be involved in a later step through an amino acid motif PSAP, associated with protein interactions, important for the release (Figure 3I-J) of the membrane-associated HEV particles from infected cells (Nagashima et al., 2011). It has been shown that this virion form that circulates in blood has stealth properties masking HEV from antibodies targeting virions without membrane, which also can be seen with hepatitis A virus (HAV), (Feng & Lemon, 2014). The potential membrane surrounding the released virions is most likely cleaved/removed in the gut (Figure 3K) when the virus is shed with feces (Okamoto, 2013).

1.2.3 Continous discovery of new HEVs require an updated HEV classification

Recently, several HEV related strains have been detected in addition to gt1-4 (Figure 4 and Figure 5). A common property of these HEV-related strains are the highly divergent genomes as compared to gt1-4, despite the characteristic genomic organisation with three HEV ORFs. Their genetic classification, and cross species and zoonotic potential need to be further investigated.





With the continuous discovery of new HEVs, several proposed classification strategies have been presented (Johne et al., 2014a; Meng, 2013; Smith et al., 2013a). However, a consensus HEV classification was very recently proposed from the members of the ICTV *Hepeviridae* Study Group, and the criteria was based on phylogeny and host range (Smith *et al.*, 2014). It is proposed that all HEVs are placed into two genera instead of one: *Orthohepevirus* with four species (A-D) and *Piscihepevirus* with a single species *Piscihepevirus A* (Figure 5).



Figure 5 Phylogenetic tree of selected full HEV genomes and their classification according to Smith et al., (2014). The moose HEV is currently unassigned HEV variant and is described in this thesis.

Species like *Orthohepevirus* A and *Orthohepevirus* C are proposed to contain genotypes, seven and two respectively. The members of *Orthohepevirus* A consist of genotypes 1-7 (Smith *et al.*, 2014). The species where these genotypes can be found are human (gt1-4), swine (gt3-4), wild boars (gt3-6), rabbit (gt3), deer (gt3-4), mongoose (gt3), camel (gt7), and rat and ferret, (Figure 5). The zoonotic potential is still unknown for the more divergent gt5-7. *Orthohepevirus* B contain viruses found in chickens and was the first highly divergent genome detected. Since then it has been associated with the avian disease hepatitis-spenomegaly syndrome (HSS) in USA (Haqshenas *et al.*,

2001) or big liver and spleen disease (BLSV) in Australia, (Payne *et al.*, 1999) which can have an important economic impact for the affected breeder. About 80% nucleotide sequence identity was found between HSS and BLSV HEV strains, showing that they are variants of the same virus (Guo *et al.*, 2006; Huang *et al.*, 2004). *Orthohepevirus* C has two members found in rat (HEV-C1) and ferret (HEV-C2), and *Orthohepevirus* D contain bat virus (Figure 5). Partial sequences from other possible members of the family was recently identified in mink (Krog *et al.*, 2013) with similarity to HEV in ferret, fox and rat (Thiry *et al.*, 2015). The HEV identified in moose is still unclassified. Studies I-II of this thesis discuss the classification issues, describe the investigation of the HEV prevalence in Swedish moose, and discuss the zoonotic perspective of moose HEV, which is still unclear. *Hepeviridae* is a dynamic and expanding family of vertebrate viruses and a flexible consensus classification is therefore needed.

1.2.4 HEV subtype classification and genotypes 1-4

Although not officially recognized by ICTV, the most widely used gt1-4 subtyping classification suggest a total of 24 subtypes (1a-e, 2a-b, 3a-j, and 4a-g), (Lu *et al.*, 2006). This was based on 49 complete genomes and different subgenomic sequences, and individual subgrouping was assigned to nucleotide differences of 12-18% for e.g. gt3 and gt4. But recent studies, have found inconsistencies mainly concerning the reliability of the subtype separation and the inability to support newly detected and highly divergent HEV variants found in animals (Oliveira-Filho *et al.*, 2013; Smith *et al.*, 2013a). Despite these limitations, classification under genotype level is still very useful and important for both clinical and epidemiological studies e.g. tracing currently circulating strains in the population (Widén *et al.*, 2010; Norder *et al.*, 2009), including from studies II and III.

Genotype 1 and 2 (gt1-2)

Genotype 1 (gt1) dominates in Asia and Africa, genotype 2 (gt2) includes strains from Mexico and Africa, and both of these genotypes have only been found in humans (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a). Both genotypes are responsible for large outbreaks and epidemics in developing countries or overcrowded areas such as in refugee camps with poor sanitary conditions and drinking water contaminated with fecal matter (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a).

Genotype 3 (gt3)

Swine HEV assigned as genotype 3 (gt3) was first discovered in the USA, 1997. Further studies showed that this agent was highly prevalent in swine and

raised public health concerns for zoonotic infections (Meng et al., 1997). It turned out later that gt3 was not a coincidental discovery, and that it was widely prevalent in the world, especially associated with swine and wild boar. This genotype is also responsible for most autochthonous HEV infections in Europe, USA, and Japan (Kamar et al., 2012a). Gt3 has been detected in many animal species reflecting its cross-species infection ability. Evidence of zoonotic transmission like highly similar gt3 genomic sequences from the patient and left overs of food products made from swine and deer, have been demonstrated (Li et al., 2005a; Tei et al., 2003). From a phylogenetic perspective, gt3 is divided into two main groups assigned as 3.I and 3.II (Widén et al., 2010; Norder et al., 2009). Ten subtypes (3a-j) are further proposed (Lu et al., 2006) and are distributed within 3.I or 3.II group. It appears that gt3c, gt3e and gt3f are the most frequent subtypes both in humans and porcine in European countries (Widén et al., 2010; Legrand-Abravanel et al., 2009; Norder et al., 2009). Previous studies have shown the subtype gt3f appears to dominate in Sweden (Widén et al., 2010; Norder et al., 2009). Currently, only one complete genome of a Swedish swine gt3f has been published (Xia et al., 2008), but study III expand this list with six near complete gt3f genomes from porcine HEV, characterised from a zoonotic, recombinant and virulence perspective. Swedish deer species, including the largest deer, the moose have never been investigated for HEV infection before and the zoonotic risk from consumption of deer indicated by other studies motivated the work presented in papers I-II and IV.

Rabbit HEV a distant member of gt3

In 2009, a novel HEV was found in rabbits (Zhao *et al.*, 2009) and since then it has been discussed whether the rabbit HEV belong to gt3 or not. With 85% sequence identity with each other and ~73-79% identity with gt1-4, raised question whether if it should be placed in its own genotype or as a distantly related gt3 member. However, it is becoming more acceptable to place the rabbit HEV in the gt3, since it according to the phylogenetic studies, forms a distant third gt3 subgroup (Smith *et al.*, 2014).

Genotype 4 (gt4)

Genotype 4 (gt4) was discovered in 1999 from patients in China. The first whole genome was sequenced in the year 2000. This genotype is mostly prevalent in Asia, where it has been recovered from both in pigs and humans with high genetic similarity indicating zoonotic transmission (Liu et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2000; Wang et al., 1999). However, gt4 have also been found in

wild boar (Sato et al., 2011) and some cases associated with zoonosis (Kim et al., 2011).

The dominance of gt1 infections in China appears to have shifted over the last 25 years, where gt4 has overtaken the gt1 in number of isolated strains (Liu *et al.*, 2012). This may result from the fact that sanitary conditions have improved and food-borne replaced water-borne transmission generating a genotype switch. However, it is important to remember that the actual gt4 status before 1999 was not investigated because molecular studies was focused on large epidemics and not on sporadic cases caused by gt4 (Liu *et al.*, 2012). Gt4 has recently also been observed in Europe (France, Belgium and Denmark), both in humans and swine, raising the question if gt4 was introduced to European domestic swine through imported swine meat from Asia and suggest that gt4 is already established in Europe (Bouamra *et al.*, 2014; Colson *et al.*, 2012). Like for gt3, other animal species besides swine have been observed to be gt4-infected, like sheep and yak (Wu *et al.*, 2015; Midgley *et al.*, 2014; Xu *et al.*, 2014; Wang & Ma, 2010), but these results need to be confirmed by other laboratories as well.

1.3 Clinical outcome

This section is divided into several sub sections, starting with the introduction of the clinical manifestations of HEV in humans and animals. The pathogenesis of HEV and other clinical manifestations of HEV infection is only partially understood.

1.3.1 Clinical manifestation in humans

Whether infected through larger epidemics or autochthonous sporadic transmission, clinical symptoms can occur, which is important for the diagnostic identification of HEV. The clinical hepatitis E infection in humans is often near undistinguishable from hepatitis A virus (HAV) infection. It may cause self-limiting acute infection (AH), asymptomatic infection with non-existent and mild symptoms, or fulminant hepatitis (FH). The most typical clinical signs are: elevated transaminases, jaundice, abdominal pain, headache, fever, nausea/vomiting, anorexia, pruritus and hepatomegaly (enlarged liver), (Aggarwal, 2011). The incubation period from the exposure of HEV to development of clinical signs of infection ranges from two weeks to two months (Purcell & Emerson, 2008). It is believed that the liver is the main target organ, but how HEV reaches the liver is unknown and other extrahepatic sites where HEV replication occurs is still being investigated. But once it has reached the liver, the virus replicates in the cytoplasm of hepatocytes,

passed in the bile and then being shed in feces. Both viremia and fecal shedding are detected before the onset of disease. This is mainly indicated with elevated alanine aminotransferase (ALT), with peak levels during the acute phase, thereafter the ALT levels will gradually return to normal levels. The humoral response makes its presence in parallel with elevated ALT in form of increased anti-HEV IgM followed IgG, which may remain circulating in the body up to 14 years (Emerson & Purcell, 2003). A general summarized overview of the course of HEV infection is shown in Figure 6.



Figure 6. An overview of the HEV infection through time, showing the virus presence at different locations and serological response. This is reproduced (Dalton *et al.*, 2008a) with permission by Elsavier.

Although most HEV infection are self-limiting, there is still mortality rates up to 0,5-4% during outbreaks (Aggarwal, 2011). however, the mortality rate is increased when it comes to certain patients groups such as pregnant women and patients with other liver diseases (Aggarwal, 2011). The comparable few reported human clinical HEV cases is contradictory to the in general high HEV seroprevalence 5-53% observed in many countries (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a; Mansuy *et al.*, 2011; Guo *et al.*, 2010; Olsen *et al.*, 2006).

This is especially true for developed countries with good sanitary standard, where the high seroprevalence corresponds only to a small fraction of the total reported HEV infections, and this may be due to low infectious dose causing subclinical HEV infections (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a).

Pregnancy and HEV infection

Both epidemic and sporadic forms of hepatitis E, especially in hyperendemic areas with gt1-2, are characteristically associated with an increased mortality rate up to 25% in the third trimester in infected pregnant women (Kamar et al., 2012a). This appears not be common for gt3-4 although there has been some documentation with acute hepatitis (Anty et al., 2012), but not with mortality as outcome. The actual mechanism of the high mortality of HEV infection during pregnancy is still unclear and is constantly under debate. The pregnancy status itself is characterized with maternal immune tolerance toward the fetus, so it can survive but still being able to fight threatening infections. One theory of the pathogenesis associated with HEV is that the hormonal changes in the pregnant woman shift immune response profile during the trimester period from Th1 to Th2 profile (Navaneethan et al., 2008; Pal et al., 2005). Higher viral loads were also observed in pregnant women compared to women with no pregnancy (Borkakoti et al., 2013). Other FH cases caused by gt1 in India, have been shown infected with strains with amino acid mutations, suggesting the existence of different virulent HEV strains (Mishra et al., 2013). The genetic composition of the host may also be involved in disease outcome. HEV can also be transmitted vertically, from mother-to-foetus and may cause high mortality in young infant for unknown reasons. This is exemplified from a report from India, where 15 of 19 infants born from HEV infected mothers, and six of the 19 infants died whereas 9 managed the infection (Khuroo & Kamili, 2009).

Chronic hepatitis E and HEV infection with pre-existing liver disease

A growing number of studies highlight that HEV can cause chronic infection in immunosuppressed patients, who can rapidly develop fibrosis and cirrhosis and subsequent liver failure if not treated (Fujiwara *et al.*, 2014). Chronic HEV infection has therefore often been observed in organ transplant recipients (e.g. liver, heart and kidney), (Fujiwara *et al.*, 2014) and in HIV positive individuals (Hajji *et al.*, 2013; Dalton *et al.*, 2009). Common with these studies is that it has been reported from developed countries in Europe and USA and all infecting strains have been gt3 (Fujiwara *et al.*, 2014). Several approaches are available to treat chronic infection successfully; as dose reductions of immunosuppressive therapy, treatment with the antiviral drug ribavirin and administrated pegylated interferon alpha (Kamar *et al.*, 2011b; Haagsma *et al.*, 2010; Mallet *et al.*, 2010). Individuals with pre-existing liver disease, may also

develop higher frequency of clinical manifestations and liver damage when HEV infected (Radha Krishna *et al.*, 2009; Ramachandran *et al.*, 2004; Hamid *et al.*, 2002).

Extra-hepatic manifestations

During the HEV infection, extra-hepatic manifestations could occur which may case diagnostic difficulties for the clinician. It is therefore important to highlight these manifestations because HEV is most probably an underdiagnosed pathogen.

A recent review identified 25 studies of HEV infections associated with neurological problems (Cheung et al., 2012). The most frequent were Guillain-Barré syndrome and brachial neuritis. Another study found that 5.5% of patients with locally acquired HEV infection developed neurogical symptoms (Kamar et al., 2011a). One renal transplant patient with chronic HEV infection was diagnosed with complication associated with both the central and peripheral nervous system (Kamar et al., 2010). A gt3 was isolated from the cerebrospinal fluid and its genomic sequence was different from the gt3 variants in the serum. Other less frequent extra-hepatic manifestations are renal complications, thrombocytopenia and pancreatitis (Kamar et al., 2012b; Aggarwal, 2011).

1.3.2 Clinical outcome in animals

The pathogenesis of HEV has been studied only in swine. Domestic swine worldwide are commonly infected by HEV, with gt3 and/or gt4, and are most frequently detected in piglets 2-4 months of age, whereas younger or older are less frequently infected (Widén et al., 2010; Meng et al., 1997). This is due to the protection caused by the maternal immunity in very young piglets (de Deus et al., 2008a; Meng et al., 1997), while older swine have already established HEV immunity (Williams et al., 2001; Yoo et al., 2001; Hsieh et al., 1999). It is still unclear how the virus enters the swine and reach the liver, which is suspected to be the primary replication site (Williams et al., 2001; Meng et al., 1997). Swine appear not to show any signs of clinical illness during the HEV infection, however mild liver lesions have been reported (Halbur et al., 2001; Meng et al., 1997). In one experimentally HEV infected swine, the negative HEV RNA strand as an indicator of HEV replication was detected in extrahepatic tissues such as: tonsils, lymph nodes, spleen, stomach, kidneys, lungs, both small and large intestine and salivary glands up to 20-27 days postinfection (pi) (Williams et al., 2001). Similar extra-hepatic sites for HEV replication have also been reported in other studies (de Deus et al., 2008a; Choi & Chae, 2003). During experimental HEV infection, viral RNA has been detected in feces earlier than in the bile in about tenfold higher quantities. This finding suggested pre-amplification of HEV taking place first in the gastrointestinal tract followed by spread to liver and then followed by viremia (Meng *et al.*, 1998a; Meng *et al.*, 1998b). The viremia phase may last for about 2 weeks, but the virus can be detected in feces for additional 3-50 days pi and seroconversion occurs 2-3 weeks pi (Lee *et al.*, 2009; Halbur *et al.*, 2001; Williams *et al.*, 2001). Wild boars are also frequently infected with HEV and are consider as an additional HEV reservoir, see study IV, (Widén *et al.*, 2010). Like domestic swine, infection of wild boar also appear to have an asymptomatic outcome (Schlosser *et al.*, 2014).

The only HEV type to cause more severe symptoms in animals is avian HEV associated with hepatitis-spenomegaly syndrome (HSS) and big liver spleen disease (BLS) (Billam et al., 2005). The disease in chickens is characterized by enlarged liver and spleen with histological changes in form of hepatic necrosis and haemorrhages leading to increased mortality among egg laying chickens and broilers, and 20% reduction of egg production (Sun et al., 2004). This may cause substantial economic loss. Except for avian HEV, no other serious hepatitis E related disease in animals have been reported. The clinical outcome of HEV infection in moose is discussed in study II.

1.4 Epidemiology

1.4.1 General epidemiology

WHO estimates that there are globally around 20 million people infected annually with HEV resulting in approximately 56,600 deaths, however the numbers are most likely to be much higher. HEV have from the past to present haunted the human population with large outbreaks. About 70 outbreaks from the year 1955 have been documented (Perez-Gracia et al., 2014), and the largest and most recent outbreaks can be found in Table 1.

The HEV infection pattern can roughly can be divided into three geographically degrees of HEV endemicities: hyperendemic, endemic and not endemic/lack of data, (Figure 7). The geographical distribution of HEV genotypes is complex and constantly changing (Figure 7). Gt1-2 only infects humans and causes both infections and large waterborne outbreaks, mostly occurring in developing countries located in tropical and subtropical areas, assigned as hyperendemic HEV regions (Ruggeri et al., 2013). Large HEV outbreaks have also occurred in the past and gt1-2 are the most likely genotypes behind these events, Table 1.



Figure 7. The worldwide HEV infection distribution illustrating A) the locations of the three endemic grade of the infection in different colours. B) from a genotype perspective. The colours for each country represent the most frequent HEV genotypes from human and animals (frequently from swine). The image was adapted from (Ruggeri *et al.*, 2013) with permission from Professor Fabio Ostanello.

Gt3-4 not only infects human but also a wide range of animals that therefore could possible act as virus reservoirs for human infection. These genotypes are frequently behind autochthonous sporadic HEV cases in developed countries in America, Europe, Oceania and Asia (Ruggeri *et al.*, 2013). Gt4 is common to Asia, but now appears to be spreading in Europe (Midgley *et al.*, 2014; Jeblaoui *et al.*, 2013; Colson *et al.*, 2012).

| CONTINENT | YEAR | COUNTRY | CASES | REFERENCE |
|-----------|-----------|---------------|---------|---|
| Africa | | | | |
| | 1988–1989 | Somalia | 11,413 | (Bile et al., 1994) |
| | 2007-2008 | Uganda | >10,535 | (Teshale <i>et al.</i> , 2010a) |
| | | | | <u>2010a)</u> |
| | 2012 | Kenya | 223 | <u>(UNHCR, 2012a)</u> |
| | 2013 | Sudan | 3991 | (UNHCR, 2012b) |
| | 2014-15 | Ethiopia | 1117 | (Browne <i>et al.</i> , 2015) |
| Asia | | | | |
| | 1955 | India | 29300 | <u>(Arankalle <i>et al.</i>,</u> 1994) |
| | 1973–1974 | Nepal | 10,000 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1976–1977 | Myanmar/Burma | 20,000 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1978–1979 | India | 20,000 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1979–1980 | India | 6000 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1981–1982 | Nepal | 4337 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1981–1982 | India | 15000 | (Khuroo, 1991) |
| | 1985 | Turkmenistan | 16,175 | <u>Albetkova et al.,</u> 2007 |
| | 1986-1988 | China | 120,000 | <u>(Zhuang <i>et al</i></u> <u>1991)</u> |
| | 1987 | Nepal | 7405 | (Shrestha, 2006) |
| | 1990 | India | >3000 | <u>(Arankalle et al.,</u> <u>1994)</u> |
| | 2004 | Indonesia | 49 | <u>(World Health,</u> 2005) |
| | 2012 | India | >4000 | (News, 2012) |

Table 1. List of some of the largest and most recent outbreaks of hepatitis E and number of cases in each outbreak.

It should be noted that the HEV prevalence varies between and within countries and may reflect the population studied, the time when the study was performed and the sensitivity of the assay used for the study. The actual HEV seroprevalence reported from many studies may differ.

1.4.2 Epidemiology of Human HEV infection

Hyperendemic regions- with high disease prevalence

In the hyperendemic regions, the disease is caused by gt1-2, usually associated with contaminated waterborne outbreaks transmitted via the classical fecal-oral route that may affect large a part of the population simultaneously, and are often reoccurring. In some regions the outbreaks are seasonal because of monsoon or flooding events e.g. Nepal (Shrestha, 2006). From a subtype perspective, subtype gt1a, gt1b and gt1c are prevalent in Asia, while gt1d and gt1e are localised in Africa (Lu et al., 2006). Large gt1-2 outbreaks are signified with mortality rate up to 25% in the third trimester of pregnant women (Kamar et al., 2012a). An age depended HEV seroprevalence in developing countries shows that most children under the age of 10 years have a low seroprevalence opposite to hepatitis A, where children over 10 years frequently have antibodies against this virus (Emerson & Purcell, 2003; Arankalle *et al.*, 1995). The seroprevalence increases dramatically (up to 40%) between the ages of 15-30 years old (Kamar et al., 2014; Emerson & Purcell, 2003). Unlike several other infections with fecal-oral transmission, person-toperson transmission of HEV is considered uncommon (Aggarwal & Jameel, 2011). Sporadic cases caused by gt1-2 observed in travellers/guest worker returning from hyperendemic regions are well documented in the literature (Norder et al., 2009).

Regions with low HEV disease endemicity

Numerous studies have demonstrated autochthonous hepatitis E detected in patients who had never travelled to foreign countries in Europe, North America, New Zeeland and Japan (Drobeniuc et al., 2013; Dalton et al., 2008b; Dalton et al., 2007a; Dalton et al., 2007b; Mansuv et al., 2004; Mizuo et al., 2002) and study IV. This has changed the view regarding HEV as a disease limited to developing countries or to travellers returning from such areas. Several studies have reported high HEV seroprevalence (5-53%) (Kamar et al., 2012a: Mansuv et al., 2011: Guo et al., 2010: Olsen et al., 2006). HEV RNA has been identified in one out of 4,500 German and one out of almost 8,000 Swedish healthy blood donors (Baylis et al., 2012). It seems that wide spread HEV infections are occurring silently as subclinical infections, while clinical disease associated with HEV only constitute the top of an iceberg (Kamar et al., 2012a; Emerson & Purcell, 2003). There can also be a wide geographic variation in seroprevalence and incidence within a country e.g. the seroprevalence is about four times higher in southern France compared to northern France (Boutrouille et al., 2007). Similar north-south pattern was also

seen in the UK, with seroprevalence of 16% in southwest England while only 4.6% in Edinburgh and 12% in the rest of England (Cleland et al., 2013; Beale et al., 2011; Dalton et al., 2008b). The cause for this seroprevalence variation is unclear and may reflect the use of different assays or different regional habits. In contrast with developing countries, autochthonous hepatitis E is associated with the zoonotic gt3-4 and the transmission route for many HEV cases is unknown. The mortality rate seen in gt1-2 is higher than with gt3-4 for pregnant women, although there have been documented cases with acute hepatitis caused by gt3 (Anty et al., 2012). Another dissimilarity is that elderly males (mean age of ~60 years; male/female ratio, >3:1) are overrepresented among clinical hepatitis E cases (Drobeniuc et al., 2013; Dalton et al., 2008b; Dalton et al., 2007a; Mansuy et al., 2004). The reason for this finding remain largely unsolved, but professional and/or life style and gender-related physiological factors may contribute. So what causes the general high seroprevalence in the population? The high prevalence indicate that other sources of infection than food may play a role.

1.4.3 Epidemiology of animal HEV infection

As stated by WHO, about 75% of the new diseases that has affected humans over the past ten years have been caused by pathogens originating from animals or from products of animal origin (WHO, 2014). The HIV, SARS and now MERS, all with animal origin are good examples of threats to the public health. From a one health perspective, the continuous screening and characterization of viruses with epidemic potential and detection of new viruses should therefore be prioritized and early detection may contribute to stop new outbreaks in an early stage. The discovery of HEV in animals have significantly broaden our concept of the host range and diversity of HEV. The detection of HEV antibodies in several animal species (Thiry *et al.*, 2015; Pavio *et al.*, 2010) indicate that new HEV like viruses still remain to be discovered. The zoonotic potential of many of the recently discovered novel animal HEVs still remains unknown and their prevalence is under investigation.

Domestic swine, wild boar and rabbit

The gt3-4 have been found to be highly prevalent in swine and wild boar worldwide. Factors affecting the prevalence rates may be geographical region, sample type, living pattern, age of the animals and the use of different assay brands.

HEV subtypes gt3a and 3b dominates in the US and Japan and is clearly distinguished from 3f, 3c and 3e which mainly circulates in Europe in both

humans and swine (Izopet et al., 2012; Luciano et al., 2012; Bouquet et al., 2011; Renou et al., 2011; Widén et al., 2010; Legrand-Abravanel et al., 2009; Norder et al., 2009; Lu et al., 2006). However, a molecular tracing study based on numerous full-length of gt3 from acute hepatitis E patients, swine and wild boar suggested that subtype gt3e was introduced from Europe to Japan through importation of swine in the 1960s (Nakano et al., 2013). The same study also proposed that a movement of subtype 3e from swine to wild boar had occurred in Japan. Close geographically specific genetic relatedness among gt3 and gt4 HEV strains from humans and swine have been observed in Europe and Japan (Forgach et al., 2010; Widén et al., 2010; Fogeda et al., 2009; Norder et al., 2009; Reuter et al., 2009; Dalton et al., 2007b; Yazaki et al., 2003; Schlauder et al., 1998). An interesting study from Sweden on HEV strains recovered from piglets in twelve farms, wild boars from nine counties and infected humans showed that piglets in Swedish farms were infected with strains distinct for each farm (Widén et al., 2010). Most HEV strains from Swedish swine and wild boars belong to subtype 3f, which is the most common subtype circulating in France, the Netherlands and Spain (Kaba et al., 2009; Legrand-Abravanel et al., 2009; Peralta et al., 2009; Rutjes et al., 2009; van der Poel et al., 2001); All Swedish HEV strains seemed to form clades in the phylogenetically tree according to geographical origin, country- and even county-specific and allowed for the identification of the geographical origin of HEV strains (Widén et al., 2010).

Beside swine, wild boar also act as HEV reservoir. The subspecies Sus scrofa is prevalent in Europe, while the two phylogenetically different subspecies Sus scrofa leucomyxtas and Sus scrofa riukiuanus are prevalent in Japan (Watanobe et al., 1999). The HEV prevalence in wild boar have been evaluated in several European countries and Japan, with seroprevalence ranging from 8 to 43% and HEV RNA prevalence between 2 and 68%, see study IV, (Widén et al., 2010), Germany (Schielke et al., 2009), France (Carpentier et al., 2012), Spain (Boadella et al., 2012; de Deus et al., 2008b), the Netherlands and Italy (Martelli et al., 2008), but also in Japan (Li et al., 2005a; Masuda et al., 2005; Nishizawa et al., 2005; Sonoda et al., 2004; Takahashi et al., 2004a; Tamada et al., 2004; Matsuda et al., 2003) and Australia (Chandler et al., 1999). In contrast to HEV infection usually occurring in 2-4 months old piglets with short asymptomatic self-limiting course (Widén et al., 2010; Meng et al., 1997), HEV positive wild boars were shown to be infected in several age classes from 4 months up to 2 years old or even older, study IV, (de Deus et al., 2008b; Nishizawa et al., 2005; Sonoda et al., 2004). The difference in HEV prevalence profile in relation to age may be that wild boar live in smaller family groups in larger territories and not as
swine with a large population confined to a limited area facilitating HEV transmission. Additional explanation indicates that the HEV infection in the animals may become chronic or they may be re-infected, if they have not developed protecting immunity, maybe due to co-infection with other agents. Lack of anti-HEV responses and prolonged HEV persistence were detected in some wild boar experimental infected with HEV (Schlosser et al., 2014). Most of the conducted HEV prevalence studies have observed that infected wild boars appeared to be healthy, as has been shown for infected domestic swine (Schlosser et al., 2014; Meng et al., 1998a; Meng et al., 1997). The high HEV prevalence and subclinical nature of HEV in the animals are worrying because of the possible risk of transmission either through direct contact with wild boar or by consumption of undercooked meat or organs. Evidence for such zoonotic pathway have been reported on several occasions, especially from Japan (Li et al., 2005a; Masuda et al., 2005; Takahashi et al., 2004a; Tamada et al., 2004; Matsuda et al., 2003). Recent studies from Japan also found unrecognized novel HEV genotypes in wild boars, suggested as gt5 and gt6 (Sato et al., 2011; Takahashi et al., 2011). Their zoonotic ability still remains unclear and further studies are needed.

Moongoose, rabbit and Deer

Molecular and serological evidence of HEV infection in the family of *Cervidae* (deer) has been reported for several deer species like Sika deer (*Cervus nippon*), Red deer (*Cervus elaphus*) and Roe deer (*Capreolus capreolus*) (Di Bartolo *et al.*, 2015; Choi *et al.*, 2013; Boadella *et al.*, 2010; Forgach *et al.*, 2010; Rutjes *et al.*, 2010; Reuter *et al.*, 2009; Tomiyama *et al.*, 2009; Matsuura *et al.*, 2007; Takahashi *et al.*, 2004a). The HEV seroprevalence can be estimated to 2-30% and HEV RNA prevalence around 30%. Both gt3 and gt4 have been reported, however the HEV strain detected in moose is not a gt1-4 HEV variant and it is further investigated in studies I-II & IV. The high HEV prevalence in the *Cervidae* family suggest an additional important HEV reservoir linked to consumption of deer meat or dear related products, and transmissions to humans have also been documented (Choi *et al.*, 2013; Takahashi *et al.*, 2003).

The prevalence of HEV infected moongoose in Japan is estimated to 8-21% and a full genome of this strain demonstrated that it belong to gt3, related to a swine HEV strain (Li *et al.*, 2006; Nakamura *et al.*, 2006). Cross-species transmission to other animals or humans has not been documented, but it is highly suspected that mongoose HEV is zoonotic due to its genetic similarity to other gt3 strains.

The HEV strains found in rabbit are considered distantly related to gt3 (Smith *et al.*, 2014) and appear to be prevalent in farmed rabbits with seroprevalence of 7-57% and HEV RNA is found in 7-16% (Cossaboom *et al.*, 2011; Geng *et al.*, 2011; Zhao *et al.*, 2009). A study from France has shown sequences closely related to rabbit HEV in humans, which suggests rabbits as a possible viral reservoir for human infections as well (Izopet *et al.*, 2012).

Fox, Rats, Ferret, mink, fish and bats

Rats and bats are known to carry several pathogens, which can be transmitted to humans, but although HEV was detected in these animals, they exhibited a highly divergent genome sequence compared to gt1-4. Antibodies to HEV have been detected with seroprevalence up to 80% among wild rats, like black rat (Rattus rattus), cotton rat (Sigmodon hispidus) and Norwegian rat (Rattus norwegicus), (Hirano et al., 2003; Arankalle et al., 2001; Favorov et al., 2000; Kabrane-Lazizi et al., 1999a). However, none of the studies recovered the viral genome and it was not until 2010 that the cause of seropositivity was detected using nested broad spectrum RT-PCR. A highly divergent HEV with 50-60% similarity to avian and human HEV strains respectively, was recovered from fecal samples of wild Norwegian rats from Germany and later a full genome was achieved (Johne et al., 2010a; Johne et al., 2010b). Subsequently, several rat HEV strains have been isolated from wild rats from other regions of Germany, but also from France, USA, China, Indonesia, Denmark and Vietnam (Mulyanto et al., 2014; Widen et al., 2014; Li et al., 2013a; Li et al., 2013b; Wolf et al., 2013; Johne et al., 2012). This divergent Rat HEV is suggested to be classified in the species Orthohepevirus C (Smith et al., 2014). HEV sequences related to Rat HEV was detected in Asian musk shrews which also shared the environment with wild rats in China (Guan et al., 2013). A recent study used several rat liver tissues and detected a gt3 like HEV (Lack et al., 2012). The same year, HEV was also detected in feces in 9.3% in pet ferrets that appeared to be clinically healthy. The genome was related to rat HEV (Raj et al., 2012). Recently in 2013, partial genome sequence of HEV variant genetically related to ferret was found in four farmed mink from Denmark (Krog et al., 2013). The same year, additional genomic HEV related fragments related to the Orthohepevirus C species were found in feces of two foxes, but this finding may have been due to consumption of rodents (Bodewes et al., 2013).

A virus infecting and causing disease in trout was identified in 1988 and named cutthroat trout virus, CTV (Hedrick et al., 1991). About twenty years later, the whole genome was sequenced and its genomic organization was found similar to HEV (Batts et al., 2011). Due to the high sequence diversity compared to other current HEVs it was suggested as a sole member in the genus Pischihepevirus in the Hepeviridae family (Smith et al., 2014).

A bat HEV study was performed in 2012 on 3,869 bat stool and serum samples from 85 bat species across five continents. HEV was detected in three bat families (Hipposideridae, Vespertilionidae and Phyllostimidae) (Drexler et al., 2012). The same study also screened for bat HEV in 90,000 pooled human sera from blood donors/patient sera from Cameroon and Germany with negative result indicating that there is still no evidence for bat HEV transmission to humans.

Other recently identified HEVs

The HEV seroprevalence in sheep from eight Chinese counties was 29% (Wu et al., 2010). A subsequent study for the identification of HEV like virus in sheep revealed a HEV seroprevalence of 35% and partial sequencing of ORF2 revealed a HEV RNA prevalence of 5.3%. The sequencing of the strains identified a gt4 variant (Wu et al., 2015). The HEV seroprevalence of 58% in butchers was also studied and was suggested that sheep may be a source for HEV transmissions in humans. Several studies have demonstrated HEV prevalence in cattle (6.3%), (Zhang et al., 2008). However, only one study from China has genetic information of the infecting strains, of which a 189nt ORF2 fragment was sequenced from eight cow feces samples, and shown to belong to the gt4 group (Hu & Ma, 2010). Additional studies have to confirm the presence of viruses in these animals. A recent study recovered and sequenced full genome HEV sequences closely related to gt4 from yak in China (Xu et al., 2014). A HEV-related virus was recovered in droppings from three dromedary camels in Dubai. These isolates were more than 20% divergent from other HEV types on the nucleotide level (Woo et al., 2014). They are most similar to viruses in the genus Orthohepivirus A, and assigned as gt7 (Smith et al., 2014). Sequencing partial HEV sequences revealed a HEV like virus in chimpanzee from a zoo in China (Zhou et al., 2014). Another novel HEV related virus was identified through partial sequencing using high throughput sequencing (HTS) on sewage samples from Nepal. This virus was shown to be highly divergent that it was suggested to be classified in a new genus (Ng et al., 2012). But several of these studies need to be confirmed by others and full genome is required for appropriate HEV classification.

Other potential animal HEV reservoirs

HEV antibodies have been detected in both cats and dogs (McElroy *et al.*, 2015; Liang *et al.*, 2014), but still no HEV RNA has been isolated. Despite the suggested presence of anti-HEV, it has been difficult to detect and sequence

HEV-related virus RNA from these species. The serological results may be due to false positivity in the assays. This may also be due to low virus concentration in the sample or to high genome sequence divergence requiring an updated PCR assay, and which is discussed in studies I-II.

1.5 Diagnosis and detection of HEV

1.5.1 Detection of HEV RNA - a marker for active HEV infection

The diagnosis of ongoing HEV infection can be obtained either by anti-HEV IgM detection or by direct detection of HEV. The latter can be done through molecular techniques that detect viral nucleic acid (HEV RNA) or through electron microscopy (EM) for finding of viral particles which provided the first evidence for the existence of HEV (Bradley *et al.*, 1987). EM is unsuitable for clinical routine diagnostics because of the requirement of expensive equipment, low sensitivity, maintenance and skilled personnel. The preferred detection of HEV is therefore detection of viral RNA in feces and/or serum and if possible from liver samples. The viral RNA is present in the blood and/or feces for some weeks. The commonly used methods for detecting viral RNA is gel based- or quantitative real-time based- reverse transcription-polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR)

Conventional gel based RT-PCR

For avoiding confusion with gel based RT-PCR, the term quantitative real-time RT-PCR is just abbreviated as qPCR throughout the thesis. The conventional gel based RT-PCR allows determination of genotype through sequencing, but there is increased risk for contamination due to several separate sample handling steps. The RT-PCR are used in this thesis for HEV typing by sequencing and amplification of larger HEV genomic fragments for sequencing near complete HEV genomes (Studies I-IV).

Quantitative real-time RT-PCR (qPCR)

The qPCR approach is now widely used, because it enables the detection and quantification of the viral nucleic acid, with high sensitivity and specificity for a reasonable cost, and is well suited for routine work. The qPCR requires no electrophoresis thereby avoiding contamination of the laboratory. However, the electrophoresis approach can sometimes not be avoided and is especially useful for confirming unclear positive qPCR results and for strain typing through sequencing.

This thesis used two Taqman based qPCR HEV protocols, which are targeting the ORF1 terminal end or the ORF2/ORF3 overlapping region of gt1-

4 (Gyarmati et al., 2007; Jothikumar et al., 2006). Both Tagman protocols have proven to be robust when compared with other qPCR protocols (Vasickova et al., 2012) and are therefore used for HEV screening followed with HEV typing by RT-PCR. The Taqman chemistry consist of a primer set that direct the sequence targeting and a dual labelled probe with a fluorophore and a quencher at each terminal primer end. The probe binding to target sequence, followed by activity of DNA polymerase (with 3' exonuclease activity) will release the fluorophore and quencher through the elongation step of the PCR cycle (Kubista et al., 2006). The recording of light signals released by the fluorophore are interpreted with a machine and its software plots the fluorescence against the number of cycle on a logarithmic scale. The number of cycles where the fluorescence surpass a certain threshold level, which is set above background, and is designated the threshold cycle (C_t) . This can be done automatically by the software or manually. In theory, the amount of amplicons doubles in every cycle leading to an exponential increase of fluorescence. However, in reality the efficiency of the amplification also depends on primers, templates and presence of potential inhibitors. This can be evaluated in parallel during the original experiment with serial dilution of DNA template as a positive control sample in separate tubes. A standard curve of the change in the C_t with each dilution can be plotted and its slope of linear regression is then used for determining the qPCR efficiency.

1.5.2 Serological detection of anti-HEV markers for past/recent HEV infection

Past infections leaves traces in form of antibodies, at least for some time. The antibody IgM is suggested as first indicator of recent or ongoing infection, and IgA can also be detected during acute HEV infection (Chau et al., 1993). However, not all strains/genotypes induce IgA antibodies and therefore more data are needed to clarify the diagnostic significance of these antibodies. The serological appearance of IgM and IgA is soon succeeded by IgG production which remain and may be detectable for up to 14 years (Emerson & Purcell, 2003; Bryan et al., 1994; Khuroo et al., 1993; Dawson et al., 1992). The detection of anti-HEV antibodies using Enzyme-linked immune absorbent assay (ELISA) is a useful and very frequently used standard method for estimating the HEV prevalence. HEV specific antibodies remain detectable over more extended period of time compared to viral RNA. This enables diagnosis over a longer detection window. Despite the existence of gt1-4 and that gt3-4 infections in both humans and animals, only one serotype has been described until now. Thus, the same antigen of any gt1-4 can be used for detecting previous gt1-4 infections (Emerson & Purcell, 2003). All three HEV ORFs have been shown to have antigenic properties (Khudyakov Yu et al.,

1994; Purdy *et al.*, 1992). ORF2 has been shown to be more immunogenic, probably because this structural protein contain a variety of antigenic domains exposed to the immune system (Tsarev *et al.*, 1993). This antigen is used in most serological assays.

The detection of anti-HEV in humans or animals usually requires specific designed assays for each host. However, an approach that allows for the host-independent detection is the double-antigen sandwich ELISA, which is useful for epidemiological investigations and this ELISA is used in study II and study IV. The antigen (ag) for e.g. HEV attached to solid area is used to capture specific antibodies from serum. The detection of the antibody is attained with the same antigen labelled with e.g. horseradish peroxidase (HRP) which is added and bound to the second variable domain of the bound antibody. When unbound labelled antigen has been removed, chromogen with hydrolysing agents are added and hydrolysed by the bound Ag-HRP of the antigen-antibody-antigen sandwich complex, resulting in colour change (Figure 8).



Figure 8. The general principle of the host independent the double-antigen sandwich ELISA. Abbreviation: ag: antigen, ab: antibody, HRP: Horse radish peroxidase. Pre-coated ag capture target ab from serum and detection of the ab is done with the same ag coupled with HRP which in present with chromogen and hydrolysing agents will result in colour change that can be detected.

The amount of the colour intensity can be measured and is proportional to the amount of antibody captured in the sample and from the included positive control with standardized antigen. A useful feature of this assay is the lack of discrimination between classes of antibody, thus detecting total anti-HEV. An assay based on this was developed for detection of anti-HEV in humans and animal samples (Hu *et al.*, 2008). It should be noted that there are currently no guidelines from WHO and no established standards when designing an assay for detecting anti-HEV antibodies. A wide selection of assays are commercially available as well as in house assays. The absence of guidelines

of HEV assays requires cautious interpretation and comparisons of seroprevalence data, because of different sensitivity and specificity for each assay used in the laboratories. As an example, a recent study demonstrated high variation from three commercial assays when analysing sera from 200 apparently healthy healthcare workers and found 4.5%, 18% and 29.5% of the samples positive for anti-HEV IgG (Wenzel *et al.*, 2013). Thus, continuously improved serological assays leading to a standardization are needed for providing more reliable and comparative serological data. For now, samples that are positive in anti-HEV assay may need supplemental test detecting HEV RNA to better estimate HEV prevalence.

1.5.3 Cell culture and other animal model systems

In general, the use of cell cultures for rapid detection of viruses for diagnostic purposes is limited as newer and faster methods of detection (quantitative real time PCR) has replaced cell cultures, however cell culture is very sensitive and is still the preferred methods for test of infectivity of a given sample, but also inoculation into susceptible laboratory animals can be used for such studies (Leland & Ginocchio, 2007). However, the absence of an efficient cell culture and small animal model for HEV have hampered the research on HEV. Additionally, the infectivity of HEV samples positive in qPCR e.g. food has not been easily demonstrated. Common approaches to the determination of the infectivity in swine or small animals have been used as infection models. However, this is not an optimal detection method for several reasons because of costs for labour and maintaining the animals as well as for ethical reasons.

Cell culture models

Replication of HEV in cell cultures is very challenging and difficult. This is reflected by the fact that only a small number research groups have access to cell culturing system that support growth of adapted strains of HEV. A cell line that is permissive to all strains is still not available. Some factors that are suspected for contributing to the troublesome HEV cell culturing are:

a) the HEV positive samples normally have low viral loads. Higher virus titers increase the possibility of infecting cells and replication.

b) additional unidentified receptors or other host factors required for optimal HEV replication may be missing in the 2D cell culture environment, which is available within the 3D-environment of the infected host.

c) the HEV disintegrates when stored despite sample storage at low temperature, therefore if the cell culture is not performed soon after the collection of the sample, replication is less probable to occur (Huang *et al.*, 1999).

It is only in recent years that researchers have tried to culture different HEV strains *in vitro* on cell lines of human and animal origin (Okamoto, 2013). The first successful isolation of a human HEV strain was done on the human lung cancer cell line A549 (adenocarcinom human alveolar basal epithelial cells) (Huang *et al.*, 1999). The first efficient HEV cell culturing system was the hepatocarcinoma cell line PLC/PRF/5 using a fecal samples containing gt3 with 10⁷ virus copies/ml from a Japanese patient with chronic renal failure (Tanaka *et al.*, 2007). The same study also demonstrated the potential of the A549 cell line and observed that viral appearance and titer in the cell culture was largely dependent the initial original titer of the tested virus inoculum. Both PLC/PRF/5 and A549 cell lines have since then been used in several studies demonstrating repeated passages of replication of gt1, gt3-4 of both human and animal origin including strains from deer, wild boar and swine (Takahashi *et al.*, 2012; Takahashi *et al.*, 2010; Tanaka *et al.*, 2009).

Instead of culturing a monolayer of PLC/PRF/5, a 3D cell culturing system with this cell line supported by microspheres also demonstrated successful HEV replication (Berto *et al.*, 2013b). This culturing system would possible give a more natural tissue-like dispersal of receptors on the cells, thus mimicking the *in vivo* environment. HEV replication was demonstrated on this 3D culture system with samples from contaminated French pork liver sausages (Berto *et al.*, 2013a). A recent study has further demonstrated HEV replication in the human liver cell line HepaRG and the porcine embryonic PICM-19, but the titers of the progeny virions were lower compared to PLC/PRF/5 and A549 (Rogee *et al.*, 2013). However, there are some issues that have to be taken into consideration when using the latter cell lines: The PLC/PRF/5 cell line has the hepatitis B virus genes incorporated in the cell genome which can unexpectedly affect the HEV infection; the A549 is not a hepatic derived cell line and therefore may not represent the replication in the liver (Rogee *et al.*, 2013).

A special gt3 strain named Kernow-C3, isolated from a HIV patient with persistent HEV infection (Dalton *et al.*, 2009) was shown to infect 10 cell lines from different species, as human, chicken, pig and deer (Shukla *et al.*, 2011). This shows the potential cross-species infection capacity of HEV. In addition to PLC/PRF/5 and A549, the human cell line HepG2/C3A was shown to support the most efficient propagation of HEV compared to other cell lines. The detection of virions associated with lipids and ORF3 from cell culture supernatant and serum have been reported (Shukla *et al.*, 2011; Takahashi *et al.*, 2010) (Shukla *et al.*, 2011), but their role and occurrence in natural infection have to be further studied.

The rabbit HEV, a distant gt3 related HEV, has been shown to replicate efficiently in both A549 and PRF/PLC/5 cell lines, suggesting a potential zoonotic risk of rabbit HEV (Jirintai *et al.*, 2012). Another recent study showed interesting results when liver homogenates containing rat HEV, which was inoculated into human hepatocarcinoma cell lines, PLC/PRF/5, Huh7 and HepG2 cells, but no replication occurred in the A549 cell line. The rat HEV replicated in human PLC/PRF/5, HuH-7 and HepG2 cell lines, and the cells released progeny virion particles with lipid-associated membranes (Jirintai *et al.*, 2014). This HEV infection across species barriers demonstrate that the zoonotic properties of the novel animal HEVs found in e.g. rat, moose (Study I, II and IV), ferret etc. cannot be ignored and should be further investigated. The contribute to the diagnosis of HEV infections and may offer ways of evaluating antiviral treatments.

Animal model systems

None-human primates (Chimpanzee and macaques) have been used as experimental models for all gt1-4. Other animal e.g. pigs, rabbit and rat could to certain extent be used for infection studies for gt-3-4 (Purcell & Emerson, 2001). However, animal models have limitations in reproducing clinical aspects of human hepatitis, with minimal elevation in serum levels of liver enzymes and moderate present pathological liver lesions (Meng *et al.*, 1997). Although HEV is believed to be fecal-oral transmitted in humans, most experimental infections with none-human primates have used intravenous route of HEV inoculation because a much higher dose is required for infection through the oral route (Arankalle *et al.*, 1994).

The swine model systems have been used to give a better understanding on the relationship of HEV genes, replication and cross-species/zoonotic abilities. The model supported replication of the first infectious clone of gt3 and helped in the identification of the authentic initiation start codon site for HEV ORF3 (Huang *et al.*, 2007; Huang *et al.*, 2005). Moreover, studies of gt3 mutants in the HVR of ORF1 have shown that this variable region was non-essential for the infection and may play a role for the virus attenuation (Pudupakam *et al.*, 2009). The main drawback of this model is that it does not reproduce a hepatic disease with obvious clinical signs which makes it less suitable for pathogenicity studies.

Other potential animals as HEV model system are chicken, rats and rabbits. As model for HEV infection in humans, avian HEV appears to be limited in host range, however they offer a unique hepatic disease model (HSS/BLS) that can be used to study some aspects of human hepatitis E disease. As with HEV

infection in swine, experimental infection in rabbits has a subclinical course (Ma *et al.*, 2010). However, two recent studies may indicate new ways for using rabbit to better understand HEV pathogenesis in humans. The first study used specific pathogen free (SPF) rabbits, which led to the development of chronic HEV infection (>6 months) and associated liver fibrosis with a rabbit HEV strain and extrahepatic HEV replication e.g. in brain was also observed (Han *et al.*, 2014). Interestingly, the chronic disease pathology was not seen when rabbits were infected with gt4. The pathogenesis of HEV in SPF rabbits is unclear, but may contribute to a better understanding of chronic HEV infection seen in e.g. immunosuppressed patients. The second study used rabbit as model system to increase our understanding of HEV pathogenesis during pregnancy. This study provided experimental result of adverse effects and poor outcome of HEV infection during pregnancy, including high maternal mortality, infertility and miscarriage. Vertical transmission associated with HEV replication in the placenta was also suggested (Xia *et al.*, 2015).

Thus, the expanding host range of HEV offers possibilities to identify potential new animal HEV strains that could lead to better development of animal model/s for HEV. Genetic identification and characterization of novel animal HEV strains are therefore desired together with an efficient *in vitro* cell culture. The possibility to propagate multiple strains of HEV will significantly contribute to improved cost-effective treatments and vaccine against HEV.

1.6 Routes of transmission

Several transmission pathways have been reported: mainly through contaminated water and food, but vertical transmission and person-to person transmission can also occur (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a) Possible transmission routes are illustrated in Figure 9.



Figure 9. Possible and confirmed HEV transmission routes from reservoirs to humans. This is reproduced (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a) with permission by Elsavier.

1.6.1 Waterborne

The water borne HEV epidemics are caused by gt1 and gt2 and most likely by fecal contamination of drinking water supplies (Kamar *et al.*, 2012a). Several HEV epidemics are known to have occurred during in recent times and the risk for epidemics increases with natural disasters e.g. flooding, earth quakes and overcrowding in refugee camps (Table 1). The outbreaks are characterized by high morbidity and mortality among pregnant women and young children (Teshale *et al.*, 2010b).

1.6.2 Foodborne zoonosis

The identification of the source of HEV infections caused by gt3-4 infections are not always straightforward because of the long incubation period from the moment of infection to the appearance of clinical symptoms. During this period, the food has usually been thrown away. However, several studies demonstrate that HEV may be present in the food chain (Berto *et al.*, 2012; Di Bartolo *et al.*, 2011; Leblanc *et al.*, 2010). Many studies have confirmed that HEV may be prevalent in meat/livers bought from the grocery store in different countries e.g. Netherlands and Southern Germany with a HEV RNA prevalence of 4% with 0.8% in India and 2% in Japan respectively (Wenzel *et*

al., 2011; Kulkarni & Arankalle, 2008; Bouwknegt et al., 2007; Yazaki et al., 2003). In addition, there are studies that have documented zoonotic incidents associated with consumption of HEV infected food, where the retrieved HEV strain from the patients was identical or near identical with the strain recovered from the consumed food. Some examples of zoonotic transmission are reported from Europe and Japan. In southern France three out of five family members who consumed Figatelli, a liver sausage that is traditionally eaten raw, got hepatitis E (Colson et al., 2010). Virus isolated from the Figatelli has also been shown to be infectious in 3D culture systems (Berto et al., 2013a). A Japanese study collected a series of HEV infection among people who consumed uncooked dear meat and testing of both left over deer meat and patient, resulted in identical HEV sequences. Family members who consumed none or little of the meat remained uninfected (Tei et al., 2003). Another study from Japan reported two men, who independently from each other were admitted to hospital with severe hepatitis. The investigation showed later that the men were acquaintance and had consumed uncooked wild boar liver (Matsuda et al., 2003). Consequently, consumers of pork products are exposed for potential HEV infections.

In addition to consumption of infected pork products, the use of human or animal waste contaminated water for irrigation, may pose a risk for HEV transmission. The crop irrigation may also further distribute HEV contaminated water; into rivers, coastal waters and shellfish, which may cause disease in consumers (Crossan *et al.*, 2012; Kamar *et al.*, 2012a). However, data on possible association of HEV with vegetables and fruits are very limited. HEV RNA have been found on strawberries with high partial sequence similarity with another HEV strain detected on a swine farm in Quebec, but its infectious capacity has not been evaluated (Brassard *et al.*, 2012). An outbreak involving passengers in a cruise ship returning from a journey in 2008 resulted in jaundice in four patients and out of 789 tested persons, 25% were seropositive, consisting of 4% IgM and 21% IgG seroconversion indicating recent/past HEV infections (Said *et al.*, 2009). The genotype detected in the patients was gt3 similar to strains circulating in Europe suggesting a shared source of infection and consumption of seafood was considered a risk factor.

1.6.3 Other routes

HEV RNA and antibodies against HEV have been detected in healthy individuals and blood donors (Cleland *et al.*, 2013; Baylis *et al.*, 2012). HEV transmission by blood transfusion have been documented. (Matsubayashi *et al.*, 2008; Colson *et al.*, 2007; Boxall *et al.*, 2006). It is estimated that the majority (75%) of donated blood was given to immunosuppressed patients in the UK

(Bihl & Negro, 2009) and chronic HEV infection have been found in this patient group. Studies have shown an increase in the risk for extensive liver damage if chronic infection is left untreated, which could result in the need for liver transplantation (see chapter 1.3.1 regarding Chronic HEV infection). At the moment there is no obligatory screening of HEV markers in blood/organ donors. This may be changed in the future.

Vertical transmission from mother to infant have been reported (Khuroo & Kamili, 2009). Several professions have also been associated with higher HEV infection risks, e.g. veterinarians, slaughter house staff, forestry workers etc., (Yugo & Meng, 2013; Carpentier *et al.*, 2012; Dremsek *et al.*, 2012). Markers of HEV have also been detected in pets like dogs and cats, and rabbit (Caruso *et al.*, 2015; McElroy *et al.*, 2015; Liang *et al.*, 2014), suggesting pets as a potential source for human HEV infections. Observation of a human HEV strain that is genetic closely related to rabbit HEV strains and its ability to replicate in human cell lines and cause cross species infections in pigs reinforce the potential of HEV transmission from rabbits to humans (Cossaboom *et al.*, 2012; Izopet *et al.*, 2012; Jirintai *et al.*, 2012).

1.7 Adaptation and evolution of HEV

1.7.1 General overview

The genetic differences between HEV genotypes 1-2 and 3-4 may depend on different transmission pattern reflecting the host specificity. Several novel HEV types not related to gt1-7 have recently been discovered, including the moose HEV from studies I-II & IV. However, their cross-species abilities and their contribution to the general HEV evolution still remain unclear.

Gt1 has previously been the dominating HEV type in China, however, there are signs that there is a decrease of Gt1 infections and an increase of gt4 instead. The cause for this is unclear, but may reflect a changing lifestyle and improved water sanitation, which may favour HEV strains with zoonotic properties (Liu *et al.*, 2012). Another perspective is that HEV may have taken advantage of the predator and prey relationship, which may be reflected by the hepatitis variants found in ferret, mink and fox, which have closest genetic relationship with rat HEV (Thiry *et al.*, 2015). These hypothesis are some of the challenges for future HEV research to confirm.

1.7.2 Genomic variability of genotypes 1-4 and quasispecies

Although differences exist between the genotypes 1 to 4, the genomic variability still remains low, especially on the amino acid level. When 75 HEV isolates of gt1-4 with full/near complete genomes were compared, the inter-

genotype difference was only 6.5-11.7% amino acid difference of ORF2. This high degree of conservation correlates to the reduced antigenic diversity and to the single serotype of HEV (Okamoto, 2007). Despite this limitation, a significant sequence diversity on the nucleotide level has been observed from different regions of the world, not to mention the high sequence diversity observed in recent novel animal HEVs. One of the factors for creating such diversity may be high error rate of the viral RdRp with absence of proofreading properties. The mutation frequency of a wide different RNA viruses ranges from 10⁻⁴ to 10⁻⁵ substitutions per base per round of copying (Domingo, 1996). The HEV mutation rate was estimated to $1.40-1.72 \times 10^{-3}$ base substitution per site per year based on closely related isolates from Japan sampled 7.5 year apart (Takahashi et al., 2004b). The high error rate of viral RdRp contributes to an increased diversity of the replication virus strains within the infected host. In fact, this results in a mixture of closely related variants termed quasispecies for each virus strain (Grandadam et al., 2004). The quasispecies effect may contribute for the evasion from the immune system, and only some strains in the swarm of viruses, may have the ability to efficiently infect host cells. This could explain why high viral load is needed in cell culture and animal models, because only a fraction of the swarm is infectious. This may also contribute to the observed extrahepatic replication sites in swine and wild boar (Schlosser et al., 2014; Choi & Chae, 2003; Williams et al., 2001). For humans, this may possible manifest as neurological, hematologic and autoimmune syndromes as has been observed during hepatitis E virus infection (Aggarwal, 2011).

1.7.3 HEV recombinants emerging from uptake of additional nucleic acid fragments

Several reports have shown that HEV recombination can occur by exchanging part of the genome or by additional fragments into the PPR, which is part of the HVR. The recombination could be the result of co-infection of different strains/genotypes (Smith *et al.*, 2013b; Moal *et al.*, 2012; Takahashi *et al.*, 2002). The uptake of fragments have been detected in gt3 isolated from chronic infected patients. The fragments could originate from the same infecting strain or from different stain due to co-infection of the host with several strains (Johne *et al.*, 2014b; Lhomme *et al.*, 2014a; Nguyen *et al.*, 2011). Examples of acquirement of genetic material from the host have also been described. Segments of human genes were identified in the PPR of HEV RNA taken from a cell culture system (partial S17 ribosomal genes), (Shukla *et al.*, 2012; Shukla *et al.*, 2011). The mechanism behind the insertion is still unclear. The fragment insertion into the PPR is suggested to have a host

adaptation effect, but it may also have a virulence property. Similar inserts have been observed in strains isolated from swine and patients indicating previously possible zoonotic events (Study III). The usefulness of the PPR as phylogenetic marker for tracing and comparing strains have been shown, which is demonstrated in study III.

1.7.4 HEV origin hypothesis

Did HEV appear first in animals or in humans? The answer to this question is still unknown. If the ancestors of gt1-4 is hypothesised to have been transmitted from humans to animals, then animals would act as viral reservoirs for maintenance of infection and reinfection HEV of mammals including humans. However, many of the animal species have an older evolutionary history than the human species, this could be interpreted that HEV have an animal origin instead. The roots of sequences from gt1-4 and rat HEV were estimated and suggested to have animal origin (Purdy & Khudyakov, 2010). Hosts of *Orthohepervirus* C have been detected in *Carnivora, Rodentia* and *Soricomorpha*, while members of *Orthohepervirus* A have recovered from *Artiodatyla, Carnivora, Lagomorpha* and primates. Such diversification of hosts indicate absence of co-evolution with its hosts, and suggest that HEV is an opportunistic pathogen (Smith *et al.*, 2014). The future discovery of other HEV related viruses may not give the whole picture of the HEV origin, but at least progress the understanding of *Hepeviridae* evolution.

1.8 HEV Prevention and control

1.8.1 Virus survival and inactivation

Information regarding the survival of HEV under various conditions in food and the environment as well as the effect of elimination procedures e.g. heating are important to better estimate the risk associated with the pathogen. However, in the case of HEV, there is currently no validated cell culture system. To study HEV inactivation, the majority of current studies rely on qPCR. Others have used *in vivo* testing to determine infectivity after the inactivation treatment, but these methods are not standardized and relative expensive (Cook & van der Poel, 2015). The few studies performed indicate that HEV remain infectious at temperatures used for cooking. The results showed that HEV could survive refrigeration (4°C), freezing (-20°C), (Cook & van der Poel, 2015), and heating to 71°C for at least 5 minutes and that liver tissue may have a protective effect on the virus (Barnaud *et al.*, 2012).

There are a signifant gaps in our knowledge regarding the survival of HEV in food and in the environment as well as the effects of elimination procedures

used in the food chain. The necessary trials are dependent on the development of sensitive, cost effective and reproducible cell culture system, which will allow identification of HEV infectivity to be readily performed. This would further improve our understanding of HEV transmissions routes, develop control and prevention strategies of HEV contamination and transmission.

Here are some points, partially adapted from Cock and Van der Poel (2015), that could contribute to the progress knowledge of survival and inactivation of HEV:

- A robust cell culture for HEV is needed and else the recommended studies below cannot be easily done.
- Additional studies are required to determine the heat effects on HEV, in free suspension and in food products, especially in swine meat.
- The survival on surfaces should be determined, especially in in the food production facilities. The data generated should give a better knowledge and better understanding of the risk for cross-contamination in the food chain.
- The effects of disinfectants on HEV needs to be fully investigated. This is useful for selecting the most appropriate disinfectant for cleaning swine pens to reduce or eliminate risk for HEV transmission to swine and farmers.
- Freeze-thawing may have a negative effect on HEV and this should be investigated as well.
- Experimental inactivation studies comparing HEV with other microorganisms such as hepatitis A virus (HAV) and the highly resistant bacteriophages as PhiX174 should be performed to evaluate inactivation in absence of an efficient cell culture system.

1.8.2 HEV therapeutics and vaccine

The key strategy for preventing HEV infection (gt1-2) in developing countries is improving the sanitary infrastructure and vaccination with the newly HEV vaccine. However, vaccination would probably not be possible due to the cost.

Therapeutics

At the current stage, there is no established diagnostics and therapeutics for treatment of HEV. Antiviral treatment for patients with acute hepatitis E is not considered, only for patients developing fulminant hepatitis E (Izopet *et al.*, 2015). The identification of chronic HEV infections in immunosuppressed patients has led to different procedures to treat their infections, because if the infection is left untreated it may led to progressive liver damage (Fujiwara et

al., 2014). The first step is to reduce the immunosuppressive therapy, leading to clearance of one third of the patients (Kamar *et al.*, 2011b). If the approach remains unsuccessful, then interferon and ribavirin treatment can be used (Izopet *et al.*, 2015). Ribavirin is now the reference treatment for HEV infections (Izopet *et al.*, 2015), but the mechanism on how it inhibits HEV replication is still unclear and requires investigation. More research of treating serious clinical outcome with HEV infection in pregnant women is also needed.

Vaccine

Vaccines can be efficient medical means to prevent viral infections. There are currently two vaccines based on the HEV gt1 and developed with recombinant technology, the rHEV (expressed in baculovirus) and the HEV239 vaccine expressed in E. coli that successfully passed phase II/III trials. The rHEV vaccine was developed GlaxoSmithKline and consists of a 56kDa recombinant protein from ORF2. The vaccine was 95.5% effective with three doses, when evaluating the safety and immunogenicity in a phase II trial on Nepalese Army volunteer in the Kathmandu Valley (Shrestha et al., 2007). Despite the success and potential of this vaccine, it is still not known if it will be marketed. The vaccine HEV239 is based on 26kDa protein translated in E. coli from ORF2 which produces a 23nm VLP. It has gone through phase III trial and was conducted on 112,604 Chinese persons of which about 48,000 persons were administrated tree doses of the vaccine. The negative control group of similar size was administrated hepatitis B virus vaccine. The vaccine was 94-100% effective in preventing symptomatic cases of hepatitis E (Zhu et al., 2010). During the trials, pregnant women were also vaccinated and had no adverse effects of the vaccination (Wu et al., 2012). Unfortunately, vaccination would not be possible for the people who needs it, especially in the most poorest part of the world due to the economic reasons (Zhang et al., 2013).

2 Aims of the thesis

The aims of this thesis were to provide understanding of the biology of HEV, its prevalence in different animal species, in the environment and the molecular epidemiology of hepatitis E virus (HEV). This will be useful to increase our understanding on how transmission across the species barrier occur, and if virulence can be predicted. The aim was also to increase our understanding of important risk factors for transmission of HEV from animals to humans in Sweden and elsewhere.

The specific aims were:

- to identify and characterize the genome of a new virus in moose and proving its relationship to the *Hepeviridae* family (Study I-II & IV).
- to investigate the prevalence of HEV in moose in Sweden and its importance as HEV reservoir (Study II and IV).
- ➤ to investigate HEV markers in the wild life of Sweden for the identification of additional HEV reservoirs. (Study IV)
- to characterize and compare sequenced HEV strains from animals and humans regarding zoonotic transmissions by molecular and phylogenetic means. (Study I-IV)
- to use a single HEV amplicon approach to amplify porcine HEV genomes and investigate their properties from a potential recombination, zoonotic and virulence perspective (Study III).

3 Material and methods

This section summarizes the material and methods (M&M) used in the four studies of the thesis. Common basic sample storage and nucleic acid isolation approaches for all studies are summarized in section 3.1, followed by specific M&M for studies I-IV (3.2-3.5).

3.1 General Material and methods approaches

3.1.1 Sample types and storage

Samples from swine were mostly in form of droppings and collected from several Swedish farms. In collaboration with certified hunters, samples from wild boar and different members of the deer family e.g. moose, were collected. From some animals, liver, bile, and kidney were also obtained. Multiple samples from the same individual were sometimes received. All samples were stored in -70°C for long time storage and -20°C respectively 4°C degrees for short time storage.

3.1.2 RNA isolation and cDNA synthesis

Total RNA isolation from organs were performed according to the manufacturers' instructions by homogenization in 2ml grinding tubes (Eppendorf) containing 2 mm zirconia beads (BioSpec Products) and 600 μ l buffer RLT from an RNeasy Mini kit (Qiagen). RNA in serum and feces was extracted with QIAamp Viral RNA mini kit (Qiagen, Germany) according to the manufacturers' instructions. Alternatively, nucleic acid extraction was done in the EasyMag instrument (Biomerieux, Marcy l'Etoile, France) according to the manufacturers' instructions. The concentration and quality of RNA was determined by NanoDrop (NanoDrop Technologies). The 20 μ l cDNA synthesis mix consisted of 1 μ l Oligo dT₍₂₀₎ (Invitrogen) or 1 μ l GeneRACER Oligo dT₍₂₄₎ (Invitrogen), used for priming cDNA synthesis with 3 μ l RNA, 1 μ l

(40 U) of RNaseOUT (Invitrogen) and 1µl (200 U) of Superscript III, RNase H⁻ reverse transcriptase (Invitrogen). One microliter (end concentration 5%) polymerase GC melt from an Advantage GC 2 polymerase mix kit (Clontech) was also added to facilitate amplification of high GC-content regions and reduce secondary structure formation in the HEV genome (Xia et al., 2008). The cDNA reaction was kept at 50°C for 60 min, followed by 15min incubation at 70°C. The reaction was finalized with 2U of E. coli RNase H (Invitrogen) for 20min at 37°C.

3.2 Past and active HEV detection assays, gel-based PCRs and Sanger sequencing

3.2.1 ELISA for detecting past HEV infections

For detection of total HEV-specific antibodies representing past HEV infections (studies II and IV), sera were tested by double antigen sandwich ELISA (HEV Ab EIA, Axiom Diagnostics, Worms, Germany), performed according to the manufacturer's instructions and the optical density (OD) was measured at 450nm. This assay was selected since it commonly used in European surveys, because it as good specificity and sensitivity and it is host animal independent for detection of total HEV antibodies

3.2.2 Quantitative PCR for detecting active HEV infections

Detection of HEV RNA representing active HEV infection was performed with a wide spectrum gt1-4 quantitative PCR (qPCR) assay (studies I, III and IV) with the following protocol: Three microliters of extracted and purified RNA were analysed using an Ag-Path-ID one-step RT-PCR kit (Applied Biosystems), with a total volume of 12.5µl containing 250nM JVHEV forward respective reverse primers and 100nM Cy5 based probe targeting the overlapping ORF2/3 region (Jothikumar et al., 2006) and 0.4×enzyme mix, or with primers targeting a sequence downstream of the ORF2 region with 500nM forward and 250nM reverse primers, 250nM, 260nM FAM based probe (Gyarmati et al., 2007) and 1×enzyme mix. Both methods have been shown to be more sensitive in comparison with other HEV detection methods (Vasickova et al., 2012) and using both methods increase the detection of clinical HEV positive samples. Although the qPCR assays was able to detect a more divergent moose HEV variant, probably with cross reactions, a modified one step TaqMan qPCR assay was constructed. It also targeted the ORF2/3 overlapping region using the One step RT-PCR kit (Qiagen) (study II). The 12.5µl PCR-mix contained 3µl of purified RNA, 600 nM each of primers HEV F8, HEV R8, and FAM-based probe P8, 1X PCR buffer, and 1X enzyme mix.

A 50µl PCR mix was used in study IV due to nucleic acid extraction in the EasyMag instrument. All qPCR samples were analyzed on a Rotor-Gene 3000 instrument (Corbett Research, UK) with the following settings: 50°C for 30 min, 94°C for 15 min, cycled 55 times between 94°C 15s and 60°C 60s. Fluorescence was monitored during the annealing step of each cycle. The diluted plasmid containing the full HEV genome of gt3 SWX07-E1 (Xia *et al.*, 2008) or with a plasmid containing a cloned 2.1kb moose HEV fragment (Lin *et al.*, 2013) were used as a control and for the generation of standard curves.

3.2.3 Gel-based PCR, terminal amplification and Sanger sequencing

To acquire additional viral genomic sequence information, short fragment and long fragment PCR were performed:

a) a commonly used PCR targeting the RdRp (Zhai *et al.*, 2006) was set up (Study I, III and IV): a total PCR mix of 30 µl with 6µl of synthesized HEV positive cDNA template, 1.2U Platinum *Taq* polymerase (Invitrogen), 1×PCR RXN buffer, 1mM MgCl₂, 0.2µM of each ESP and EAP primer, 5% DMSO and 0.2mM dNTP. The cycling parameters were 95 °C 3 min, cycled 40 times 94 °C 1min, 55 °C 1min, 72°C 1min and finishing with 72°C for 10min.

b) the previous PCR protocol was modified for improved amplification of partial moose HEV RdRp (Study II): In the first PCR, the total reaction volume was 15µl containing 1X buffer, 0.2µM dNTP, 1mM MgCl₂, 0.6U of platinum Taq polymerase, 1µl cDNA/PCR template and three pooled modified forward primers (Pool 1: ISP-4232A, ISP-4232B and ISP-4232E) and two pooled modified reverse primers (Pool 2: EAP-4576E and EAP-4576F) with a total concentration of 0.2µM for each pool. The semi-nested PCR contained the same reagents as the first PCR except that the reverse primer was replaced with three modified pooled primers (Pool 3: IAP-4561E, IAP-4561F and IAP-4561M). In study IV, the semi-nested PCR was performed in 50µl reaction mix with 5µl cDNA, 31.9µl of RNase-free H2O (Sigma), 1xTaq buffer (Applied Biosystems), 2.25mM MgCl₂ (Applied Biosystems), 0.2mM dNTP (Roche), 0.3mM of each primer, and 1U of Taq polymerase (Roche). Primers ISP4232-Pool0-H and EAP4576- Pool0-H were used for the first round PCR. Five µl of the first round product were used as template in the second amplification round with primers ISP4232-Pool 0-H and IAP4561-Pool 0-G. PCR reactions started with 94°C for 3min, followed by cycling for 40 times between 94°C for 40s, 56°C for 30s and 72°C for 65s and finally 72°C for 10min. A double nested-PCR with the same primers as in the second PCR was used for two purified PCR products with low amplicon concentration.

c) with phusion PCR, longer amplicons could be amplified (studies I and III). The PCR mix contained 1μ l cDNA as template with 0.15 μ l Phusion Hot

Start High-Fidelity DNA polymerase (Thermo Scientific, Finnzyme) with provided 1×GC buffer, 0.3µl 0.2mM dNTP, 0.5µM of forward primer, 0.5µM reverse primer and 0.45 µl DMSO (final 3%) were also added in a total PCR volume of 15µl. The PCR program had the following profile: 98°C for 2min, then cycled 40 times 98°C 20s, T_m: 65 or 70°C 30s, 72°C 2-3min depending of amplicon size, and terminated with 72°C for 10min. Sometimes a Seminested/nested PCR is needed for increasing the fragment concentration from the first PCR and specific downstream primers from both 5' and 3' were used instead. Depending of the aim of the PCR assay, different positive controls were used: Full genome of gt3 cloned within a vector (SWX07-E1), (Xia et al., 2008). Clinical HEV positive from feces/liver samples e.g. gt3f strains Spanish SW8a24 from liver and SW46_8-Dalarna from swine feces were also used as positive HEV controls. Depending on the amplicon size, PCR products were verified in 0.8-2.0% agaros gel with GelRED (Biotium). Amplicons were purified with QIAquick PCR Purification Kit (Qiagen, Germany) or Wizard SV gel and PCR clean-up system (Promega) or PureLink Quick gel extraction kit (Invitrogen). The phusion PCR generated amplicons lacking the 3'terminal end overhangs required for TOPO XL cloning (Invitrogen). Therefore, poly(A) overhangs were synthesized before the cloning procedure in a 10µl reaction mix with final concentration of 0.2mM dATP, 1XPCR RXN buffer, 2.4mM MgCl₂, 0.5U platinium Taq polymerase (Invitrogen) and 8.22µl of purified PCR product. The reaction was incubated in 72°C for 15 min and put on ice and cloning procedure was performed according to the manufacturer's instructions.

An approach called rapid amplification of cDNA ends (RACE) opens the possibilities to amplify the HEV terminal ends. Only the 3'UTR terminal end was amplified using a RACE kit (Invitrogen), and resulted in a 1.3kb overlapping PCR product according to PCR program profile 98°C 2min, 98°C 10s, 65°C 30s, 72°C 2min and 72°C 10min. Sanger sequencing reactions were carried out with a Big Dye Terminator Cycle Sequencing Ready reaction kit version 3.1 (Applied Biosystems) with program profile 95°C 15s, 50°C 10s, 60°C 4min cycling 25 times. The sequencing primers for moose HEV are found in Studies I-II and for porcine gt3 HEV in study III and for other HEV found in wild animals (Study IV).

3.3 Sequence-, phylogenetic-, and statistical analysis

3.3.1 General sequence analysis tools

Different tools were used for sequencing analysis: Assembling and analysis of overlapping sequence regions into a consensus sequence was done with

Seqman within the DNAstar program package version 8 or 10. Detection of known and other possible open reading frame/s (ORF/s) were done in the NCBI BLAST (http://blast.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/Blast.cgi) and ORF finder (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/gorf/gorf.html). Verified sequenced consensus HEV sequences (Study I-IV) were deposited to the the NCBI Genbank (http://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/genbank/) with assigned unique database Genbank numbers. Some studies were used as supportive guidance for identifying ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3 domain/motif regions in the moose HEV genome (Ahmad et al., 2011; Xing et al., 2010; Koonin et al., 1992), (Study I-III). HEV ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3 codon based multiple sequence alignment (MSA) of selected HEV regions/HEV genomes and phylogenetic analysis were performed with MEGA5 (Tamura et al., 2011) or CLC Genomic Workbench 7 (CGW7). Nucleotide (nt) and amino acid (aa) sequence identity comparisons were done in CGW7. Region specific or more unspecific primers with nucleotide ambiguities were designed from MSA of several HEV genomes/genomic regions. Primers were ordered from Thermo Scientific Webshop (http://www.thermohybaid.de/). The MSAs often act as the backbone for other post-analysis and should be constructed with high consideration e.g. through codons.

3.3.2 Phylogenetic relationship analysis of HEV

The phylogenetic tree analysis is a useful method to better understand the phylogenetic relationship between newly sequenced genomic materials (Study I-IV). In terms of virus perspective, it is possible to apply the phylogenetic analysis e.g. molecular typing and tracing, detecting possible recombinations, geographical clustering, evolution and classification, especially on unclassified novel HEV variants to shed more light on the increasingly complex *Hepeviridae* family. The phylogenetic trees were codon based MSAs of various regions of different sizes e.g. on regions commonly used for typing in RdRp (Zhai *et al.*, 2006) and ORF1 concatenated in frame with ORF2 representing the full HEV genome. Maximum likelihood (ML) or neighbour joining (NJ) or unweight pair-group method using arithmetic averages (UPGMA) based approaches with 1,000 bootstrap were used for generating the trees in MEGA5 or CGW7 or PHYLIP package version 3.65.

An alternative method for investigating genetic HEV relationship especially for new unclassified divergent HEVs was through calculating the amino acid (aa) p-distances (Smith *et al.*, 2013a). The p-distance is the proportion of amino acid sites at which the two sequences to be compared are different. It is obtained by dividing the number of amino acid differences by the total number of sites compared. The p-distance separating the HEV genotypes was suggested with a p-distance value of at least 0.06 (Smith *et al.*, 2013a). A p-distance/aa sequence divergent percentage matrix was generated with MEGA5 using an in frame concatenated ORF-ORF2 MSA of different HEVs including the moose HEV (Study I).

3.3.3 Possible recombination and identification of the moose HEV ORF2-3 start codons

Genetic material exchange through recombination is a common phenomenon within all organisms and viruses, and act as a factor for driving evolution. However, the detection of such events are not straight forward, but tools like the bootscan within the Simplot 3.5.1 tool (<u>http://sray.med.som.jhmi.edu/SCRoftware/simplot/</u>) can be used for detecting possible recombination events (Study III). The bootscan employed a 200bp window, 20 step with a ML based F84 as distance model with 1,000 replicates.

The junction region (JR) with partial overlapping region covering the ORF1-end and the true ORF2 and ORF3 start codons were not easy to determine in the moose HEV. Therefore, a similar approach as in (Huang *et al.*, 2007) was performed to detect the possible "true ORF2 and ORF3 start codons". A MSA of the gt1-4 JR containing putative cis-reactive element and putative start codons for ORF2-3 were analysed. The supportive secondary structure analysis with Mfold (<u>http://mfold.rna.albany.edu/?q=mfold</u>) for the JR of gt3 and the moose HEV were performed for supporting the MSA JR analysis (Study I).

3.3.4 Statistical analysis

To estimate apparent prevalence confidence intervals (Cis), one sample Z-test for proportions was used. A χ^2 -test for equality of two proportions was used in study II for analysis of significant difference (p<0.05) within age classes, sex and Swedish counties. The Fisher's exact test was used in study IV. The statistical analysis were performed in R, version 3.0.2.

3.4 High throughput sequencing (HTS)

New and unknown viruses always pose a challenge to be detected, amplified and sequenced with traditional methods due to high sequence divergence in their genomes, or with low sample concentration. Therefore a high throughput sequencing (HTS) was performed for obtaining complete or near complete moose HEV genome with the Illumina MiSeq platform sequencing (Study II) as follows:

Synthesized dsDNA triplicates of the liver sample positive for moose HEV RNA (Study I) were diluted and prepared with Qubit dsDNA HS assay kit (Life technologies, USA) according to manufacturer's protocol and the concentration was measured with Qubit 2.0 Fluorometer (Life technologies, USA). A 1ng sample $(0.2ng/\mu l)$ was index library tagged with index 5 and 7 (I5 and I7) primers and fragmented at the same time (tagmented) through a 5cycle PCR amplification using the Illumina Nextera XT kit, according to Illumina MiSec protocol. The samples were loaded on a chip and analyzed on a Bioanalyzer (Agilent Genomics, Germany) for DNA concentration, size, and size distribution. The DNA samples were diluted, pooled and a total input of 1 ng DNA was loaded into a cartridge containing Technologies MiSeq v2 Reagent 300 cycle kit, according to MiSec protocol. The assembled contigs from reads generated through de novo assembly with default settings in the CLC Genomics Workbench 6.0 were BLAST-searched for HEV and all putative HEV contigs were subsequently assembled into several larger consensus sequences. All remaining non-related HEV consensus sequences were removed. The 5kb algSWE2013 (KF951328.1) sequence (Study I) was compared with the MiSeq assembled HEV sequence, and the putative 5'-UTR terminal start position was identified through a MSA of Gt1 (AY230202), Gt3 (EU360977) and Gt4 (HQ634346) genomes as templates. The Gt2 excluded, because the complete 5'-UTR sequence was absent. Identification of putative HEV domains was done according to (Koonin et al., 1992) and the "NCBI ORF Finder" was used for exploring new possible ORFs (Study II).

4 Result and discussion

4.1 Detection, amplification, characterization and prevalence of hepatitis E virus found in Swedish moose

4.1.1 Unclear HEV status in moose and collection of wild life samples

Previous studies have shown that deer can be infected with HEV, cases with both gt3 and gt4 have been identified, and evidence for zoonotic transmission have also been documented (Choi et al., 2013; Tamada et al., 2004; Tei et al., 2003). This is an emerging public health concern. The largest deer, the moose (Alces alces), which is regularly hunted for consumption in Scandinavia has not previously been investigated for HEV. This prompted us to screen markers of HEV in moose to see if this species also could act as a HEV reservoir for potential human transmissions. This could possible increase our understanding on why the HEV seroprevalence is unusual high (~9%) in the general population in Sweden (Olsen et al., 2006). This is not reflected in the reported clinical cases, because only up to 22 hepatitis E cases are reported yearly in Sweden, indicating that most HEV infections are asymptomatic, or not diagnosed. The proportion of zoonotic HEV transmission compared to the total numbers of HEV infections is still unknown. To get samples from wild animals is not a simple task, although the National Veterinary Institute (SVA) receive such samples on a regular basis, for screening for other pathogens. However the sample numbers were still not enough for serious studies. Therefore the Swedish hunters were asked to help with sending in samples of wild boar, moose and deer to both SVA and the Sahlgrenska Hospital.

4.1.2 New HEV like virus found in a moose

In Study I, two gt1-4 qPCR assays targeting the overlapping region of ORF2-3 (Jothikumar *et al.*, 2006) and ORF2 (Gyarmati *et al.*, 2007), gave positive signal for HEV RNA in one out of six moose liver samples with C_r -values of

34 and 35 respectively. A kidney sample from the same individual was also found HEV positive with similar Ct-values. A partial HEV RdRp fragment frequently used for typing (Zhai et al., 2006) was obtained and sequenced, which showed surprisingly divergent HEV like sequence. With assistance of three overlapping PCR assays, a 5.1 kb partial moose HEV genome starting from the proline hinge region (PPR) of ORF1 covering both ORF2 and 3 to the 3' terminal end with the poly-A tail was acquired and sequenced. Additional upstream PCR fragment amplifications towards the 5' end of the genome were unsuccessful, probably due to extensive sequence diversity. The sequence identity was 37-63% compared with existing HEVs and phylogenetic analysis showed that moose HEV formed its own separate branch between gt1-4 including gt5-6. It separated from the other divergent animal HEVs like those found e.g. in rat, ferret, bat and fish. The ORF2 and ORF3 start codons were difficult to identify in the moose HEV genome. A secondary structure analysis with Mfold for the junction region (Huang et al., 2007) was therefore applied, which suggested that the ORF2 and ORF3 start codons were located in the stem forming the putative second loop structure of the junction region, when compared with gt3.

These observation and the existence of three ORFs characteristic for HEV, clearly supported the classification within the *Hepeviridae* family. However, further subsequent classification was unclear due to absence of classification support in the current gt1-4 HEV grouping. At this time no new consensus HEV has been presented in the literature. Therefore, an alternative method for investigating genetic relationships with highly divergent HEVs was demonstrated with help of aa p-distances (Smith et al., 2013a). This approach was tested on the moose HEV and suggested it as a new species in the *Hepevirus* genus. Several nucleotide substitutions, some resulting in unique amino acid substitutions were detected in the 3'UTR, several motifs were also observed across the sequenced partial ORF1, ORF2 and ORF3. These mutations and the different secondary structures in the junction region may contribute to host specificity and possible virulence factors. An update of the current PCR assays was also required for optimal detection and amplification of moose HEV, due to its high divergence from other HEV types.

4.1.3 HEV prevalence in Swedish moose

To rule out that this novel HEV identified in the moose was not a single event, the prevalence of this virus was investigated in moose from an age group, gender and geographical (Swedish province) perspective (Study II). The HEV RNA prevalence was determined by an updated Taqman based qPCR (marker for active infection) with increased sensitivity from Ct=34-35, (Gyarmati *et al.*,

2007; Jothikumar *et al.*, 2006) to Ct=25 when tested on the same moose HEV positive sample from study I. This high titre of HEV RNA explains why the HEV positive moose sample in study I could be amplified with less optimal primers. No standard HEV serology method exists, especially not for moose HEV. Therefore, a host independent double sandwich ELISA assay to identify markers of past infection was used. The assays were tested on sera and 51 fecal samples from 231 Swedish moose shared with another study for investigating Anaplasma phagocytophilum infection in moose (Malmsten et al., 2013). Like with wild boar that is commonly infected with HEV (Widén et al., 2010; de Deus *et al.*, 2008b), moose was also found frequently infected as indicated with markers of active and past infection found in 67 (29%) animals. While 34 (15%) were positive for HEV RNA, 43 (19%) were seropositive for anti-HEV antibodies, and 10 (4%) had both markers. The detection of HEV RNA in serum and/or feces or both in some moose most likely mirrors stages in the infection cycle. As with swine (Yugo & Meng, 2013), the fecal-oral route is suggested as the main HEV transmission route between moose, because HEV RNA was detected in feces of some animals, but other routes cannot be overlocked.

The only significant difference in prevalence of infection was found in the HEV seroprevalence of the 2-4.5 year old age group compared to 0-1.5 year age group (p<0.05), indicating that HEV immunity increase with age. A trend was detected with the largest proportion of active HEV infection presenting in the 0-1.5 year old age group, which was also found with the tick-borne pathogen *Anaplasma* (Malmsten et al., 2013). The decline of passive immunity may explain why this age group is infected with the pathogens for the first time. *Anaplasma* is known to have immunosuppressive properties and frequently infect moose (Malmsten et al., 2013; Rikihisa, 2011), which may make the moose more prone for HEV infections and prolong the infection time period. This has been observed in swine experimentally co-infected with porcine reproductive and respiratory syndrome virus and in immunosuppressed humans (Salines et al., 2015; Aggarwal, 2011). A hypothesis is that ticks may act as a vector for potential HEV transmissions, but more studies are required for confirming that statement.

Near complete moose HEV genome sequencing

A near complete moose HEV genome was high throughput sequenced (HTS). The moose HEV genome appears to be a middle sized HEV genome of around 7kb with 35-60% nucleotide sequence identity to other HEVs. Three main ORFs characteristic of HEV were also identified, but also additional putative ORFs were detected, distinguished from the potential new ORFs found in 5'-

terminal end in rat and ferret (Raj *et al.*, 2012; Johne *et al.*, 2010a). However, the existence of these potentially new HEV ORF's have to be confirmed in future work.

Phylogenetic and relationship classification

The partial RdRp sequence of the thirteen moose HEV sequences and in frame ORF1 concatenated with ORF2 representing complete moose HEV genome, demonstrated a separate monophyletic clade formation with a common ancestor to gt1-6. Closer inspection of the 13 sequenced partial HEV RdRp sequences showed a high similarity to each other resulting in lack of:

a) apparent distinct geographical clustering, contrary to what was observed with HEV strains isolated from rat and Swedish swine/wild boars in previous studies (Johne et al., 2012; Widén et al., 2010; Norder et al., 2009).

b) extensive polyphyletic divergent strains, as previously observed for other animal HEVs like rat HEV and avian HEV (Mulyanto et al., 2014; Bányai et al., 2012; Bilic et al., 2009). These observations may be due to that the virus has recently been introduced into the moose population. The unsuccessful sequencing of all 34 qPCR HEV positive samples could be due to a degradation of the HEV genome during RNA extraction procedure and several freeze-thawing cycles of the RNA; or low virus concentration in the samples (the average C_t -value of 34.5); or lower sensitivity of the conventional PCR assay compared to qPCR. Unsuccessful sequencing of HEV RNA positive samples was described in other studies as well. It may reflect a higher sequence diversity than expected (Kukielka *et al.*, 2015) or a combination of all above mentioned factors.

A gt1-4 qPCR assay was also applied for screening the moose samples for the genotypes with known zoonotic properties, but with negative results. Thus, the question if moose is susceptible to gt3-4 infection or if other deer species are infected with moose HEV still remains unclear. The phylogenetic relationship of moose HEV to the other HEV types showed the highest sequence identity (~60%) with gt1-6, suggesting moose HEV being a new member of the recently proposed species *Orthohepevirus* A (Smith *et al.*, 2014). This classification can be confirmed with identification of new animal HEV like viruses. But, the close genetic similarity to strains with zoonotic properties makes the moose HEV significant and its potential zoonotic properties can therefore not be ignored, because moose is regularly hunted and consumed in whole Scandinavia and other parts of Europe.

4.2 Genomic characterization of potential recombination, zoonotic and virulence elements in porcine HEV genomes

4.2.1 Genomic characterization of the frequently found subtype 3f

For the moment only one complete genome of a Swedish swine HEV of subtype gt3f is available, SWX07-E01 (Xia et al., 2008). Previous studies have shown that this subtype is frequently found in clinical human cases and in swine/wild boar in several European countries e.g. Sweden, France and Spain. The reason is unclear why specifically 3f is commonly spread, but may be related to improved adaptability and virulence properties. Typing of HEV is usually done by partial sequencing. Although sequencing of the complete HEV genome would give a broader and more correct phylogenetic relationship with other HEVs, it is not always feasible because it requires time consuming overlapping PCRs. In study III, a single amplicon PCR approach was applied using cDNA synthesised from RNA extracted from either sera or feces from swine and wild boar. This resulted in amplification of near complete porcine HEV genomes of ~7kb. All three ORFs characteristic for HEV were identified in all six near complete porcine hepatitis E virus genomes that were of subtype 3f. One of the strains, 8a24, was from a Spanish slaughterhouse, the others were of Swedish origin, two from wild boar and three from domestic swine in different Swedish pig farms. All Swedish strains were similar to each other and to the existing Swedish strain SWX07-E1 with 89-92% sequence identity throughout their genomes, and with lower genomic identity (86-87%) to the Spanish HEV strain 8a24. This Spanish HEV strain also had a larger genome (7.3 vs 7.2 kb) than the Swedish strains.

The increase of size of the Spanish HEV genome was identified in the PPR, which was shown to have a duplication, upstream PPR (uPPR) and downstream PPR (dPPR). Due to the nature of a duplication, it is difficult determine which of the uPPR or dPPR was the original fragment. The sequence similarity and the phylogenetic clade formation implied that a past co-infection of different HEV strains could have occurred, possible within a Spanish swine. Thus, the high similarity of the Spanish swine 8a24 strain with a French human HEV strains indicated that possible past zoonotic transmissions cannot be overlooked. The PPR region has a high genetic variability especially in the zoonotic gt3 and is suggested to have a role in HEV adaption to a new host/organ tropism, in modulating the host immune response and in virulence of the strain, possibly by opening new protein-protein interaction sites (Lhomme *et al.*, 2014a; Lhomme *et al.*, 2014b; Purdy *et al.*, 2012).

4.2.2 Phylogenetic relationship and potential HEV recombinations

The separate Swedish branch of HEV strains belonging to subgroup 3.II, within the subtype 3f shown by analysis of partial HEV sequences (Widén et al., 2010), was verified the phylogenetic relationship of the near complete HEV genomes. The 8a24 strain was found forming a cluster with French/Spanish 3f strains from both human and swine. The geographical clustering based on partial genomic sequences isolated from swine, wild boars and to some part from patients (Widén et al., 2010; Norder et al., 2009) was not found when complete genomes were phylogenetically analyzed. This indicates that sequence divergence along the near complete genomes may have been caused by other factors than just introduction of mutations by the viral RdRp. Recombination was therefore analyzed by the bootstrap program of the porcine HEV strains, which suggested a potential exchange of genetic information. This may have occurred between Swedish swine and wild boar HEV strains, between swine from different herds in the same province, and between the Spanish pig strain 8a24 and French human strains. Possible inter/intra genotype recombinations have been described between swine and human HEV strains, especially for gt3-4 (Chen et al., 2012; Wang et al., 2010; Fan, 2009; van Cuyck et al., 2005). Recombination events may be the result of either co-infection or superinfection of the same host with multiple strains as has been shown an immunocompetent hepatitis E virus infected individual and in a patient with acute hepatitis E (Smith et al., 2013b; Takahashi et al., 2002).

Today's global swine trading may be one of several factors facilitating the geographical spread of HEV strains and their interaction with each other, which may lead to a dilution of the geographic clustering pattern in the complete HEV genomes observed here both from a local and international perspective. Suspected recombination events involving different host species need to be more studied, as they may have implications for the evolution of HEV, especially it's potential to emerge and adapt to new host, which may change/reflect its virulence.

4.2.3 Zoonotic and virulence elements

Specific markers of virulence in HEV is still not known. The immunological reactions are important for the outcome in acute/fulminant cases and high mortality rate in pregnant women (see chapter 1.3.1). Induction of more aggressive immune response may be related to some certain HEV strains with particular mutations across the genome (Bu *et al.*, 2013; Mishra *et al.*, 2013; Fu *et al.*, 2011; Inoue *et al.*, 2009; Takahashi *et al.*, 2009). The subtype 3f is frequently found in swine herds and humans in Europe (Widén *et al.*, 2010; Legrand-Abravanel *et al.*, 2009; Norder *et al.*, 2009) for unclear reason. One

possible explanation could be increased virulence properties. The presence of potential zoonotic and virulence elements throughout the amplified gt3 porcine HEV genomes were therefore investigated in the sequenced strains. Although all porcine 3f strains partially share mutations associated with virulence elements from patients with acute and fulminant hepatitis E (study II), they are still suggested as low virulence strains, with the SWX07-E1 strain being most virulent among the studied strains. If segment inserts in the PPR are marker for virulence, the order of virulence of the studies strains would probably change and put the SW8a24-Spain as the highest virulent strain. Even if most Swedish porcine HEV genotype 3f strains appear to have a low virulence profile, their significance for future public health should not be disregarded. The zoonotic ability of these strains has shown a remarkable dynamic adaptation for crossspecies transmission and persistence in immune suppressed patients, perhaps due to fragment insertion/s in PPR, as exemplified with the SW8a24-Spain strain. The PPR and its possible insert may therefore be useful as a phylogenetic tracing-, virulent marker and perhaps also as a medical target for developing drugs binding to this region.

4.3 Wildlife as potential HEV reservoir

The HEV seroprevalence in several developed countries is high and most sources of infection need to be identified. Wildlife has long been suspected to be a source for viral infections. Studies have shown that several species of deer, including moose (studies I-II, IV) and wild boar can be infected with HEV (Widén *et al.*, 2010). In fact, zoonotic cases have been reported on individuals having consumed wild game meat of both deer and wild boar (Choi *et al.*, 2013; Tamada *et al.*, 2004; Tei *et al.*, 2003). Swedes often go into the forest to pick berries and mushrooms, and it is also customary to consume wild game. With these fact in hand, the study IV was therefore performed to investigate if the Swedish wild life may constitute one route of HEV transmission to humans.

4.3.1 Prevalence of HEV markers in wild life

HEV markers were found in about 53 (22%) of the 245 animals from a total of 466 samples consisting of serum and fecal samples. The HEV seroprevalence among the animals was estimated between 5-14%. No anti-HEV was detected from the fallow deer samples, most likely due to low numbers of samples. Although indication of regional difference and spread of specific HEV strains were observed previously (Widén *et al.*, 2010), it could not be detected in study IV. Regional differences in HEV prevalence, between 5% and 88%,

related to animal density, have been shown for wild boar in Poland, Germany and Italy (Larska et al., 2015; Martinelli et al., 2015; Montagnaro et al., 2015; Adlhoch et al., 2009; Martelli et al., 2008). The uneven sampling from both different species and provinces may have contributed to the absence of regional HEV differences in this study IV.

Wild boar

The overall HEV prevalence (marker of both active and past HEV infection) is estimated to 19% (study IV). No significant difference in age between the younger and older animals with anti-HEV, although a trend was towards higher anti-HEV prevalence in older wild boars than in younger animals 5% vs 13%, compared to the total anti-HEV prevalence of 8%. There was no significant difference between HEV RNA detection and age of the animals. However significant HEV RNA difference was found, since moose showed more often active HEV infection than wild boar. It is known that wild boar are frequently infected by other pathogens and some have immunosuppressing properties as experimental tested or observed in swine (Salines et al., 2015; Schlosser et al., 2014), which may result in partial HEV immunity. This could lead to multiple HEV infections during their lifetime, which is reflected in the absent of age differences of both active and past HEV infections. Although the HEV RNA prevalence apparently remain constant of 8-9% during almost 10 years when compared to wild boar samples collect during 2005-2007 (Widén et al., 2010) to 2015 (study IV). However, study IV also investigated HEV RNA prevalence in wild boar fecal and serum samples, which adjusted the total HEV RNA prevalence to 13%. This clearly shows the underestimation of active HEV infection and the need for both fecal and serum samples, which has been suggested in study II. Nevertheless, the HEV prevalence and similar frequency of animals with active and past HEV markers in serum and feces have also been observed in other European countries as well (Martinelli et al., 2015; Rutjes et al., 2010; de Deus et al., 2008b). It can therefore be concluded that this animal species is a possible natural reservoir for HEV in the environment in many countries.

Different deer species (moose, red deer, fallow deer and roe deer)

Additional near 30 moose of a total of 67 animals resulted in with HEVseroprevalence of 14%, RNA prevalence of 27%, and total HEV prevalence of 37%. This confirmed our previous finding that HEV is as prevalent in moose as in wild boar (study II). There was no significant difference of HEV RNA and anti-HEV between ages of the animal, although a trend was detected towards increased anti-HEV with age. In study II this trend resulted in significant difference, which may be due to larger sample size. HEV was excreted in feces slightly more often by younger than older animals, but was found in blood at equal frequency regardless of age of the animal. The prevalence of HEV markers was equal between moose, younger and older than one year. As with study II, the zoonotic gt3 could not be found in moose, and larger sample size may be required for its detection.

Although having only 39 samples from three other deer species excluding moose, HEV seroprevalence could be detected in 3 (7%) of the animals. However, no HEV seroprevalence was detected for the five fallow deer, most likely due to a small number of samples. A weak qPCR reactivity was detected from two red deer and one fallow deer. Difficulties with HEV detection in deer samples have been shown to be common in other studies in Europe (Larska et al., 2015; Serracca et al., 2015). On some occasions, gt3 strains have been identified in some of the qPCR HEV positive samples from red deer originated from Spain and Italy, and this genotype also infects swine and wild boar in these countries (Di Bartolo et al., 2015; Kukielka et al., 2015). Usually, most of the HEV qPCR positive samples cannot be sequenced, which could be due to low virus concentration or to a divergent HEV like strain, which probably require another assay for its detection and characterization. The moose HEV from studies I and II, and wild boar gt5-6 (Sato *et al.*, 2011; Takahashi *et al.*, 2011) are example divergent animal HEVs.

Nonetheless, the detection of HEV markers in the deer family indicated that these animals may be potential sources for HEV transmission, also in Sweden.

4.3.2 Wild life HEV transmission routes to humans

Both wild boar and deer share habitats and have been shown to transmit gt3 and gt4 through consumption of undercooked or raw food products taken from infected animals both in Japan and Korea, (Tamada *et al.*, 2004; Tei *et al.*, 2003). If European roe deer and/or wild boars also are infected with genotype 4 strains, it may explain the few sporadic genotype 4 human cases in Europeans without any travel history before their hepatitis E infection (Colson *et al.*, 2015; Bouamra *et al.*, 2014; Midgley *et al.*, 2014; Choi *et al.*, 2013).

Autochthonous Swedish human HEV cases

Out of 14 Swedish autochthonous HEV cases investigated in study IV, at least three persons were infected with HEV strains similar or identical to strains infecting wild boar. Since some of the infected persons are vegetarians or have not consumed meat before falling ill in hepatitis E, an alternative route than consumption of infected wild game or swine meat must exist. One pathway may be through irrigation of vegetables or berries with contaminated water as has been shown for strawberries (Maunula *et al.*, 2013). Since most of the surveyed infected animals excreted HEV in feces (study IV) and a previous study reported that urine as well as feces may contain HEV RNA (Bouwknegt *et al.*, 2009). An alternative transmission may occur through contaminated berries and mushrooms.

The overall results suggest that certain Swedish wild animals are frequently infected with HEV and may be a significant source for human HEV transmissions, either by direct contact or through consumption of game meat, to which attention should be given by the future public health in Sweden.

5 Concluding remarks

- High prevalence of HEV markers (~22%) in Swedish wild life suggest wild boar and deer family as viral reservoirs and may result in human HEV transmission.
- An absence of HEV prevalence differences between young and old animals in wild life indicate that the animals may have partial HEV immunity. Possible caused by co-infection with other pathogens, and thereby be susceptible to re-infection with HEV.
- Human transmission routes of HEV may be through undercooked or raw meat/products from wild life and domestic swine. An alternative HEV pathway may be through consumption of berries and mushrooms, contaminated with urine or droppings from HEV infected wild animals.
- Surveying for markers of ongoing or past HEV infection (HEV RNA/anti-HEV antibody serology) in the human and animal population gives important information on circulating strains. Such analysis may indicate on animal-virus relationship which may relate to zoonotic transmissions and may be used for reducing/prevention of virus transmission. However, extensive collaboration over the different professional fields is required, resulting in one health perspective.
- Surveying markers of HEV in both human and animals may lead to the discovery of new divergent HEV like viruses, like the discovery of moose HEV. Screening for HEV in fecal and/or serum samples is feasible, and are easier accessible compared to obtain liver and bile
samples. If several sample types from the same individual could be obtained, the estimation of the HEV prevalence will be more accurate.

- The moose is just as commonly infected with HEV as Swedish wild boars. The moose HEV has closest similarity to members of the newly species of *Orthohepevirus* A, encompassing HEV gt1-7. This genetic relationship to the zoonotic gt3-4 indicates that moose HEV cannot be ignored as having zoonotic potential.
- High throughput sequencing opens the possibility to sequence samples containing highly divergent HEV variants, which would be very useful in combination with traditional approaches to identify and characterize new viruses.
- The cross-species properties of moose HEV to infect humans and other deer species are still unclear. It is also not known if moose can become infected with HEV gt3.
- Current results based on partial HEV moose genomes suggest that the moose HEV strains are all genetic closely related, without geographical clustering or other regional differences, indicating either that the virus has recently been introduced into moose, or that there are other constraints against diversification of this virus. There may also be limitations of the used assay for determining more divergent strains.
- Phylogenetic analysis based on partial genome sequence is still useful for epidemiological studies for comparing circulating strains in animals and humans and for tracing source of infection.
- The single HEV amplicon PCR approach opens the possibilities to amplify and clone near complete HEV genome for characterization of the genome from a phylogenetic perspective as well as for studying recombination events and possible evolution of quasispecies.
- Complete genome sequencing enabled detection of possible recombination events between Swedish swine/swine herds/wild boars, and that there may have been zoonotic transmission of HEV strains between Spain and France.

- Investigation of possible virulence markers in porcine HEV of this study suggested low virulence of the subtype 3f strains. But the very high adaptability of the gt3 strains can quickly lead to a more virulent strain in a short time, which was observed in immunocompromised patients.
- The nucleic acid insertion in the HEV ORF1 PPR may have given the virus adaptation properties to the host and potential virulence. This PPR with and without insertion has a potential to be used for tracing the spread of a strain by phylogenetic analysis and for identification of virulence marker.

.

6 Future perspectives

- Highly robust, cost-efficient and simple cell culture accepting all HEV strains are desired to better understand the general lifecycle and crossspecies properties of HEV. This is also needed for developing improved therapeutic HEV agents and vaccine.
- Screening for moose HEV with assay targeting this HEV variant should be performed with other deer species and on human samples for investigating the possible spread of moose HEV infections.
- More complete moose HEV genomes are needed to better understand the genomic variations of this HEV variant.
- More HEV screening of wild life samples is required to confirm if gt3 is present in Swedish deer or other wild life species, besides wild boar and domestic swine.
- Host range adaption of HEV from a predator-prey HEV relationship still needs to be investigated.
- The continuous identification and characterization of new HEV variants are needed to better understand the origin and evolution of HEV. This would also give more knowledge about how HEV would be classified in the future.
- Inactivation of HEV in food and food products is still poorly understood, and further work and surveillance are needed to prevent the spread of HEV through the food chain.

References

- Adlhoch, C., Wolf, A., Meisel, H., Kaiser, M., Ellerbrok, H. & Pauli, G. (2009). High HEV presence in four different wild boar populations in East and West Germany. *Vet Microbiol*, 139(3-4), ss. 270-8.
- Aggarwal, R. (2011). Clinical presentation of hepatitis E. Virus Res, 161(1), ss. 15-22.
- Aggarwal, R. & Jameel, S. (2011). Hepatitis e. Hepatology, 54(6), ss. 2218-26.
- Agrawal, S., Gupta, D. & Panda, S.K. (2001). The 3' end of hepatitis E virus (HEV) genome binds specifically to the viral RNA-dependent RNA polymerase (RdRp). *Virology*, 282(1), ss. 87-101.
- Ahmad, I., Holla, R.P. & Jameel, S. (2011). Molecular virology of hepatitis E virus. *Virus Res*, 161(1), ss. 47-58.
- Ansari, I.H., Nanda, S.K., Durgapal, H., Agrawal, S., Mohanty, S.K., Gupta, D., Jameel, S. & Panda, S.K. (2000). Cloning, sequencing, and expression of the hepatitis E virus (HEV) nonstructural open reading frame 1 (ORF1). J Med Virol, 60(3), ss. 275-83.
- Anty, R., Ollier, L., Peron, J.M., Nicand, E., Cannavo, I., Bongain, A., Giordanengo, V. & Tran, A. (2012). First case report of an acute genotype 3 hepatitis E infected pregnant woman living in South-Eastern France. J Clin Virol, 54(1), ss. 76-8.
- Arankalle, V.A., Chadha, M.S., Tsarev, S.A., Emerson, S.U., Risbud, A.R., Banerjee, K. & Purcell, R.H. (1994). Seroepidemiology of water-borne hepatitis in India and evidence for a third enterically-transmitted hepatitis agent. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 91(8), ss. 3428-32.
- Arankalle, V.A., Joshi, M.V., Kulkarni, A.M., Gandhe, S.S., Chobe, L.P., Rautmare, S.S., Mishra, A.C. & Padbidri, V.S. (2001). Prevalence of antihepatitis E virus antibodies in different Indian animal species. J Viral Hepat, 8(3), ss. 223-7.
- Arankalle, V.A., Tsarev, S.A., Chadha, M.S., Alling, D.W., Emerson, S.U., Banerjee, K. & Purcell, R.H. (1995). Age-specific prevalence of antibodies to hepatitis A and E viruses in Pune, India, 1982 and 1992. J Infect Dis, 171(2), ss. 447-50.
- Balayan, M.S., Andjaparidze, A.G., Savinskaya, S.S., Ketiladze, E.S., Braginsky, D.M., Savinov, A.P. & Poleschuk, V.F. (1983). Evidence for a virus in

non-A, non-B hepatitis transmitted via the fecal-oral route. *Intervirology*, 20(1), ss. 23-31.

- Bányai, K., Tóth, A.G., Ivanics, E., Glávits, R., Szentpáli-Gavaller, K. & Dán, A. (2012). Putative novel genotype of avian hepatitis E virus, Hungary, 2010. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1365-8.
- Barnaud, E., Rogee, S., Garry, P., Rose, N. & Pavio, N. (2012). Thermal inactivation of infectious hepatitis E virus in experimentally contaminated food. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78(15), ss. 5153-9.
- Batts, W., Yun, S., Hedrick, R. & Winton, J. (2011). A novel member of the family Hepeviridae from cutthroat trout (Oncorhynchus clarkii). *Virus Res*, 158(1-2), ss. 116-23.
- Baylis, S.A., Gartner, T., Nick, S., Ovemyr, J. & Blumel, J. (2012). Occurrence of hepatitis E virus RNA in plasma donations from Sweden, Germany and the United States. *Vox Sang*, 103(1), ss. 89-90.
- Beale, M.A., Tettmar, K., Szypulska, R., Tedder, R.S. & Ijaz, S. (2011). Is there evidence of recent hepatitis E virus infection in English and North Welsh blood donors? *Vox Sang*, 100(3), ss. 340-2.
- Berto, A., Grierson, S., Hakze-van der Honing, R., Martelli, F., Johne, R., Reetz, J., Ulrich, R.G., Pavio, N., Van der Poel, W.H. & Banks, M. (2013a). Hepatitis E virus in pork liver sausage, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(2), ss. 264-6.
- Berto, A., Martelli, F., Grierson, S. & Banks, M. (2012). Hepatitis E virus in pork food chain, United Kingdom, 2009-2010. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1358-60.
- Berto, A., Van der Poel, W.H., Hakze-van der Honing, R., Martelli, F., La Ragione, R.M., Inglese, N., Collins, J., Grierson, S., Johne, R., Reetz, J., Dastjerdi, A. & Banks, M. (2013b). Replication of hepatitis E virus in three-dimensional cell culture. *J Virol Methods*, 187(2), ss. 327-32.
- Bihl, F. & Negro, F. (2009). Chronic hepatitis E in the immunosuppressed: a new source of trouble? *J Hepatol*, 50(2), ss. 435-7.
- Bile, K., Isse, A., Mohamud, O., Allebeck, P., Nilsson, L., Norder, H., Mushahwar, I.K. & Magnius, L.O. (1994). Contrasting roles of rivers and wells as sources of drinking water on attack and fatality rates in a hepatitis E epidemic in Somalia. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 51(4), ss. 466-74.
- Bilic, I., Jaskulska, B., Basic, A., Morrow, C.J. & Hess, M. (2009). Sequence analysis and comparison of avian hepatitis E viruses from Australia and Europe indicate the existence of different genotypes. *The Journal of* general virology, 90(Pt 4), ss. 863-73.
- Billam, P., Huang, F.F., Sun, Z.F., Pierson, F.W., Duncan, R.B., Elvinger, F., Guenette, D.K., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2005). Systematic pathogenesis and replication of avian hepatitis E virus in specific-pathogen-free adult chickens. J Virol, 79(6), ss. 3429-37.
- Boadella, M., Casas, M., Martin, M., Vicente, J., Segales, J., de la Fuente, J. & Gortazar, C. (2010). Increasing contact with hepatitis E virus in red deer, Spain. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16(12), ss. 1994-6.

- Boadella, M., Ruiz-Fons, J.F., Vicente, J., Martin, M., Segales, J. & Gortazar, C. (2012). Seroprevalence evolution of selected pathogens in Iberian wild boar. *Transbound Emerg Dis*, 59(5), ss. 395-404.
- Bodewes, R., van der Giessen, J., Haagmans, B.L., Osterhaus, A.D. & Smits, S.L. (2013). Identification of multiple novel viruses, including a parvovirus and a hepevirus, in feces of red foxes. *J Virol*, 87(13), ss. 7758-64.
- Borkakoti, J., Hazam, R.K., Mohammad, A., Kumar, A. & Kar, P. (2013). Does high viral load of hepatitis E virus influence the severity and prognosis of acute liver failure during pregnancy? *J Med Virol*, 85(4), ss. 620-6.
- Bouamra, Y., Gerolami, R., Arzouni, J.P., Grimaud, J.C., Lafforgue, P., Nelli, M., Tivoli, N., Ferretti, A., Motte, A. & Colson, P. (2014). Emergence of autochthonous infections with hepatitis E virus of genotype 4 in Europe. *Intervirology*, 57(1), ss. 43-8.
- Bouquet, J., Tesse, S., Lunazzi, A., Eloit, M., Rose, N., Nicand, E. & Pavio, N. (2011). Close similarity between sequences of hepatitis E virus recovered from humans and swine, France, 2008-2009. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17(11), ss. 2018-25.
- Boutrouille, A., Bakkali-Kassimi, L., Cruciere, C. & Pavio, N. (2007). Prevalence of anti-hepatitis E virus antibodies in French blood donors. *J Clin Microbiol*, 45(6), ss. 2009-10.
- Bouwknegt, M., Lodder-Verschoor, F., van der Poel, W.H., Rutjes, S.A. & de Roda Husman, A.M. (2007). Hepatitis E virus RNA in commercial porcine livers in The Netherlands. *J Food Prot*, 70(12), ss. 2889-95.
- Bouwknegt, M., Rutjes, S.A., Reusken, C.B., Stockhofe-Zurwieden, N., Frankena, K., de Jong, M.C., de Roda Husman, A.M. & Poel, W.H. (2009). The course of hepatitis E virus infection in pigs after contact-infection and intravenous inoculation. *BMC Vet Res*, 5, s. 7.
- Boxall, E., Herborn, A., Kochethu, G., Pratt, G., Adams, D., Ijaz, S. & Teo, C.G. (2006). Transfusion-transmitted hepatitis E in a 'nonhyperendemic' country. *Transfus Med*, 16(2), ss. 79-83.
- Bradley, D.W., Krawczynski, K., Cook, E.H., Jr., McCaustland, K.A., Humphrey, C.D., Spelbring, J.E., Myint, H. & Maynard, J.E. (1987). Enterically transmitted non-A, non-B hepatitis: serial passage of disease in cynomolgus macaques and tamarins and recovery of disease-associated 27- to 34-nm viruslike particles. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 84(17), ss. 6277-81.
- Brassard, J., Gagne, M.J., Genereux, M. & Cote, C. (2012). Detection of human food-borne and zoonotic viruses on irrigated, field-grown strawberries. *Appl Environ Microbiol*, 78(10), ss. 3763-6.
- Browne, L.B., Menkir, Z., Kahi, V., Maina, G., Asnakew, S., Tubman, M., Elyas, H.Z., Nigatu, A., Dak, D., Maung, U.A., Nakao, J.H., Bilukha, O., Shahpar, C., Centers for Disease, C. & Prevention (2015). Notes from the field: hepatitis E outbreak among refugees from South Sudan - Gambella, Ethiopia, April 2014-January 2015. *MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep*, 64(19), s. 537.
- Bryan, J.P., Tsarev, S.A., Iqbal, M., Ticehurst, J., Emerson, S., Ahmed, A., Duncan, J., Rafiqui, A.R., Malik, I.A., Purcell, R.H. & et al. (1994).

Epidemic hepatitis E in Pakistan: patterns of serologic response and evidence that antibody to hepatitis E virus protects against disease. J Infect Dis, 170(3), ss. 517-21.

- Bu, Q., Wang, X., Wang, L., Liu, P., Geng, J., Wang, M., Han, J., Zhu, Y. & Zhuang, H. (2013). Hepatitis E virus genotype 4 isolated from a patient with liver failure: full-length sequence analysis showing potential determinants of virus pathogenesis. *Arch Virol*, 158(1), ss. 165-72.
- Cao, D., Huang, Y.W. & Meng, X.J. (2010). The nucleotides on the stem-loop RNA structure in the junction region of the hepatitis E virus genome are critical for virus replication. *J Virol*, 84(24), ss. 13040-4.
- Cao, D. & Meng, X.J. (2012). Molecular biology and replication of hepatitis E virus. *Emerg Microbes Infect*, 1(8), s. e17.
- Carpentier, A., Chaussade, H., Rigaud, E., Rodriguez, J., Berthault, C., Boue, F., Tognon, M., Touze, A., Garcia-Bonnet, N., Choutet, P. & Coursaget, P. (2012). High hepatitis E virus seroprevalence in forestry workers and in wild boars in France. *J Clin Microbiol*, 50(9), ss. 2888-93.
- Caruso, C., Modesto, P., Prato, R., Scaglione, F.E., De Marco, L., Bollo, E., Acutis, P.L., Masoero, L. & Peletto, S. (2015). Hepatitis E Virus: First Description in a Pet House Rabbit. A New Transmission Route for Human? *Transbound Emerg Dis*, 62(3), ss. 229-32.
- Chandler, J.D., Riddell, M.A., Li, F., Love, R.J. & Anderson, D.A. (1999). Serological evidence for swine hepatitis E virus infection in Australian pig herds. *Vet Microbiol*, 68(1-2), ss. 95-105.
- Chandra, V., Kalia, M., Hajela, K. & Jameel, S. (2010). The ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus delays degradation of activated growth factor receptors by interacting with CIN85 and blocking formation of the Cbl-CIN85 complex. J Virol, 84(8), ss. 3857-67.
- Chandra, V., Kar-Roy, A., Kumari, S., Mayor, S. & Jameel, S. (2008). The hepatitis E virus ORF3 protein modulates epidermal growth factor receptor trafficking, STAT3 translocation, and the acute-phase response. J Virol, 82(14), ss. 7100-10.
- Chau, K.H., Dawson, G.J., Bile, K.M., Magnius, L.O., Sjogren, M.H. & Mushahwar, I.K. (1993). Detection of IgA class antibody to hepatitis E virus in serum samples from patients with hepatitis E virus infection. J Med Virol, 40(4), ss. 334-8.
- Chen, G.B. & Meng, J.H. (2004). Identification of 5' capped structure and 3' terminal sequence of hepatitis E virus isolated from Morocco. World J Gastroenterol, 10(14), ss. 2045-9.
- Chen, X., Zhang, Q., He, C., Zhang, L., Li, J., Zhang, W., Cao, W., Lv, Y.G., Liu, Z., Zhang, J.X. & Shao, Z.J. (2012). Recombination and natural selection in hepatitis E virus genotypes. *J Med Virol*, 84(9), ss. 1396-407.
- Cheung, M.C., Maguire, J., Carey, I., Wendon, J. & Agarwal, K. (2012). Review of the neurological manifestations of hepatitis E infection. *Ann Hepatol*, 11(5), ss. 618-22.
- Chobe, L.P., Chadha, M.S., Banerjee, K. & Arankalle, V.A. (1997). Detection of HEV RNA in faeces, by RT-PCR during the epidemics of hepatitis E in India (1976-1995). *J Viral Hepat*, 4(2), ss. 129-33.

- Choi, C. & Chae, C. (2003). Localization of swine hepatitis E virus in liver and extrahepatic tissues from naturally infected pigs by in situ hybridization. *Journal of hepatology*, 38(6), ss. 827-32.
- Choi, J.Y., Lee, J.M., Jo, Y.W., Min, H.J., Kim, H.J., Jung, W.T., Lee, O.J., Yun, H. & Yoon, Y.S. (2013). Genotype-4 hepatitis E in a human after ingesting roe deer meat in South Korea. *Clinical and molecular hepatology*, 19(3), ss. 309-14.
- Cleland, A., Smith, L., Crossan, C., Blatchford, O., Dalton, H.R., Scobie, L. & Petrik, J. (2013). Hepatitis E virus in Scottish blood donors. *Vox Sang*, 105(4), ss. 283-9.
- Colson, P., Borentain, P., Queyriaux, B., Kaba, M., Moal, V., Gallian, P., Heyries, L., Raoult, D. & Gerolami, R. (2010). Pig Liver Sausage as a Source of Hepatitis E Virus Transmission to Humans. J Infect Dis, 202(6), ss. 825-34.
- Colson, P., Brunet, P., Lano, G. & Moal, V. (2015). Hepatitis E virus genotype 4 in Southeastern France: still around. *Liver Int*.
- Colson, P., Coze, C., Gallian, P., Henry, M., De Micco, P. & Tamalet, C. (2007). Transfusion-associated hepatitis E, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 13(4), ss. 648-9.
- Colson, P., Romanet, P., Moal, V., Borentain, P., Purgus, R., Benezech, A., Motte, A. & Gerolami, R. (2012). Autochthonous infections with hepatitis E virus genotype 4, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1361-4.
- Cook, N. & van der Poel, W.H. (2015). Survival and Elimination of Hepatitis E Virus: A Review. *Food Environ Virol*, 7(3), ss. 189-94.
- Cossaboom, C.M., Cordoba, L., Dryman, B.A. & Meng, X.J. (2011). Hepatitis E virus in rabbits, Virginia, USA. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17(11), ss. 2047-9.
- Cossaboom, C.M., Cordoba, L., Sanford, B.J., Pineyro, P., Kenney, S.P., Dryman, B.A., Wang, Y. & Meng, X.J. (2012). Cross-species infection of pigs with a novel rabbit, but not rat, strain of hepatitis E virus isolated in the United States. *The Journal of general virology*, 93(Pt 8), ss. 1687-95.
- Crossan, C., Baker, P.J., Craft, J., Takeuchi, Y., Dalton, H.R. & Scobie, L. (2012). Hepatitis E virus genotype 3 in shellfish, United Kingdom. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(12), ss. 2085-7.
- Dalton, H.R., Bendall, R., Ijaz, S. & Banks, M. (2008a). Hepatitis E: an emerging infection in developed countries. *Lancet Infect Dis*, 8(11), ss. 698-709.
- Dalton, H.R., Bendall, R.P., Keane, F.E., Tedder, R.S. & Ijaz, S. (2009). Persistent carriage of hepatitis E virus in patients with HIV infection. *N Engl J Med*, 361(10), ss. 1025-7.
- Dalton, H.R., Fellows, H.J., Gane, E.J., Wong, P., Gerred, S., Schroeder, B., Croxson, M.C. & Garkavenko, O. (2007a). Hepatitis E in new zealand. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 22(8), ss. 1236-40.
- Dalton, H.R., Stableforth, W., Thurairajah, P., Hazeldine, S., Remnarace, R., Usama, W., Farrington, L., Hamad, N., Sieberhagen, C., Ellis, V., Mitchell, J., Hussaini, S.H., Banks, M., Ijaz, S. & Bendall, R.P. (2008b). Autochthonous hepatitis E in Southwest England: natural history, complications and seasonal variation, and hepatitis E virus IgG

seroprevalence in blood donors, the elderly and patients with chronic liver disease. *Eur J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 20(8), ss. 784-90.

- Dalton, H.R., Thurairajah, P.H., Fellows, H.J., Hussaini, H.S., Mitchell, J., Bendall, R., Banks, M., Ijaz, S., Teo, C.G. & Levine, D.F. (2007b). Autochthonous hepatitis E in southwest England. *J Viral Hepat*, 14(5), ss. 304-9.
- Dawson, G.J., Mushahwar, I.K., Chau, K.H. & Gitnick, G.L. (1992). Detection of long-lasting antibody to hepatitis E virus in a US traveller to Pakistan. *Lancet*, 340(8816), ss. 426-7.
- de Deus, N., Casas, M., Peralta, B., Nofrarias, M., Pina, S., Martin, M. & Segales, J. (2008a). Hepatitis E virus infection dynamics and organic distribution in naturally infected pigs in a farrow-to-finish farm. *Vet Microbiol*, 132(1-2), ss. 19-28.
- de Deus, N., Peralta, B., Pina, S., Allepuz, A., Mateu, E., Vidal, D., Ruiz-Fons, F., Martin, M., Gortazar, C. & Segales, J. (2008b). Epidemiological study of hepatitis E virus infection in European wild boars (Sus scrofa) in Spain. *Vet Microbiol*, 129(1-2), ss. 163-70.
- Di Bartolo, I., Ponterio, E., Angeloni, G., Morandi, F., Ostanello, F., Nicoloso, S. & Ruggeri, F.M. (2015). Presence of Hepatitis E Virus in a RED Deer (Cervus elaphus) Population in Central Italy. *Transbound Emerg Dis*.
- Di Bartolo, I., Ponterio, E., Castellini, L., Ostanello, F. & Ruggeri, F.M. (2011). Viral and antibody HEV prevalence in swine at slaughterhouse in Italy. *Vet Microbiol*, 149(3-4), ss. 330-8.
- Domingo, E. (1996). Biological significance of viral quasispecies. *Viral Hep Rev*, 2, ss. 247-261.
- Dremsek, P., Wenzel, J.J., Johne, R., Ziller, M., Hofmann, J., Groschup, M.H., Werdermann, S., Mohn, U., Dorn, S., Motz, M., Mertens, M., Jilg, W. & Ulrich, R.G. (2012). Seroprevalence study in forestry workers from eastern Germany using novel genotype 3- and rat hepatitis E virusspecific immunoglobulin G ELISAs. *Medical microbiology and immunology*, 201(2), ss. 189-200.
- Drexler, J.F., Seelen, A., Corman, V.M., Fumie Tateno, A., Cottontail, V., Melim Zerbinati, R., Gloza-Rausch, F., Klose, S.M., Adu-Sarkodie, Y., Oppong, S.K., Kalko, E.K., Osterman, A., Rasche, A., Adam, A., Muller, M.A., Ulrich, R.G., Leroy, E.M., Lukashev, A.N. & Drosten, C. (2012). Bats worldwide carry hepatitis E virus-related viruses that form a putative novel genus within the family Hepeviridae. J Virol, 86(17), ss. 9134-47.
- Drobeniuc, J., Greene-Montfort, T., Le, N.T., Mixson-Hayden, T.R., Ganova-Raeva, L., Dong, C., Novak, R.T., Sharapov, U.M., Tohme, R.A., Teshale, E., Kamili, S. & Teo, C.G. (2013). Laboratory-based surveillance for hepatitis E virus infection, United States, 2005-2012. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(2), ss. 218-22; quiz 353.
- Egloff, M.P., Malet, H., Putics, A., Heinonen, M., Dutartre, H., Frangeul, A., Gruez, A., Campanacci, V., Cambillau, C., Ziebuhr, J., Ahola, T. & Canard, B. (2006). Structural and functional basis for ADP-ribose and poly(ADP-ribose) binding by viral macro domains. *J Virol*, 80(17), ss. 8493-502.

- Emerson, S.U., Nguyen, H., Torian, U. & Purcell, R.H. (2006). ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus is not required for replication, virion assembly, or infection of hepatoma cells in vitro. J Virol, 80(21), ss. 10457-64.
- Emerson, S.U. & Purcell, R.H. (2003). Hepatitis E virus. *Rev Med Virol*, 13(3), ss. 145-54.
- Emerson, S.U., Zhang, M., Meng, X.J., Nguyen, H., St Claire, M., Govindarajan, S., Huang, Y.K. & Purcell, R.H. (2001). Recombinant hepatitis E virus genomes infectious for primates: importance of capping and discovery of a cis-reactive element. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 98(26), ss. 15270-5.
- Fan, J. (2009). Open reading frame structure analysis as a novel genotyping tool for hepatitis E virus and the subsequent discovery of an inter-genotype recombinant. *The Journal of general virology*, 90(Pt 6), ss. 1353-8.
- Favorov, M.O., Kosoy, M.Y., Tsarev, S.A., Childs, J.E. & Margolis, H.S. (2000). Prevalence of antibody to hepatitis E virus among rodents in the United States. *J Infect Dis*, 181(2), ss. 449-55.
- Feng, Z. & Lemon, S.M. (2014). Peek-a-boo: membrane hijacking and the pathogenesis of viral hepatitis. *Trends Microbiol*, 22(2), ss. 59-64.
- Fogeda, M., Avellon, A., Cilla, C.G. & Echevarria, J.M. (2009). Imported and autochthonous hepatitis E virus strains in Spain. J Med Virol, 81(10), ss. 1743-9.
- Forgach, P., Nowotny, N., Erdelyi, K., Boncz, A., Zentai, J., Szucs, G., Reuter, G. & Bakonyi, T. (2010). Detection of hepatitis E virus in samples of animal origin collected in Hungary. *Vet Microbiol*, 143(2-4), ss. 106-16.
- Fu, H., Wang, L., Zhu, Y., Geng, J., Li, L., Wang, X., Bu, Q. & Zhuang, H. (2011). Analysing complete genome sequence of swine hepatitis E virus (HEV), strain CHN-XJ-SW13 isolated from Xinjiang, China: Putative host range, and disease severity determinants in HEV. *Infect Genet Evol*.
- Fujiwara, S., Yokokawa, Y., Morino, K., Hayasaka, K., Kawabata, M. & Shimizu, T. (2014). Chronic hepatitis E: a review of the literature. *J Viral Hepat*, 21(2), ss. 78-89.
- Geng, J., Wang, L., Wang, X., Fu, H., Bu, Q., Zhu, Y. & Zhuang, H. (2011). Study on prevalence and genotype of hepatitis E virus isolated from Rex Rabbits in Beijing, China. *J Viral Hepat*, 18(9), ss. 661-7.
- Graff, J., Nguyen, H., Kasorndorkbua, C., Halbur, P.G., St Claire, M., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (2005). In vitro and in vivo mutational analysis of the 3'-terminal regions of hepatitis e virus genomes and replicons. *J Virol*, 79(2), ss. 1017-26.
- Graff, J., Torian, U., Nguyen, H. & Emerson, S.U. (2006). A bicistronic subgenomic mRNA encodes both the ORF2 and ORF3 proteins of hepatitis E virus. *J Virol*, 80(12), ss. 5919-26.
- Graff, J., Zhou, Y.H., Torian, U., Nguyen, H., St Claire, M., Yu, C., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (2008). Mutations within potential glycosylation sites in the capsid protein of hepatitis E virus prevent the formation of infectious virus particles. *J Virol*, 82(3), ss. 1185-94.
- Grandadam, M., Tebbal, S., Caron, M., Siriwardana, M., Larouze, B., Koeck, J.L., Buisson, Y., Enouf, V. & Nicand, E. (2004). Evidence for hepatitis E

virus quasispecies. *The Journal of general virology*, 85(Pt 11), ss. 3189-94.

- Guan, D., Li, W., Su, J., Fang, L., Takeda, N., Wakita, T., Li, T.C. & Ke, C. (2013). Asian musk shrew as a reservoir of rat hepatitis E virus, China. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(8), ss. 1341-3.
- Guo, H., Zhou, E.M., Sun, Z.F., Meng, X.J. & Halbur, P.G. (2006). Identification of B-cell epitopes in the capsid protein of avian hepatitis E virus (avian HEV) that are common to human and swine HEVs or unique to avian HEV. *The Journal of general virology*, 87(Pt 1), ss. 217-23.
- Guo, Q.S., Yan, Q., Xiong, J.H., Ge, S.X., Shih, J.W., Ng, M.H., Zhang, J. & Xia, N.S. (2010). Prevalence of hepatitis E virus in Chinese blood donors. J Clin Microbiol, 48(1), ss. 317-8.
- Gyarmati, P., Mohammed, N., Norder, H., Blomberg, J., Belák, S. & Widén, F. (2007). Universal detection of hepatitis E virus by two real-time PCR assays: TaqMan and Primer-Probe Energy Transfer. *J Virol Methods*, 146(1-2), ss. 226-35.
- Haagsma, E.B., Riezebos-Brilman, A., van den Berg, A.P., Porte, R.J. & Niesters, H.G. (2010). Treatment of chronic hepatitis E in liver transplant recipients with pegylated interferon alpha-2b. *Liver Transpl*, 16(4), ss. 474-7.
- Hajji, H., Gerolami, R., Solas, C., Moreau, J. & Colson, P. (2013). Chronic hepatitis E resolution in a human immunodeficiency virus (HIV)-infected patient treated with ribavirin. *Int J Antimicrob Agents*, 41(6), ss. 595-7.
- Halbur, P.G., Kasorndorkbua, C., Gilbert, C., Guenette, D., Potters, M.B., Purcell, R.H., Emerson, S.U., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2001). Comparative pathogenesis of infection of pigs with hepatitis E viruses recovered from a pig and a human. *J Clin Microbiol*, 39(3), ss. 918-23.
- Hamid, S.S., Atiq, M., Shehzad, F., Yasmeen, A., Nissa, T., Salam, A., Siddiqui, A. & Jafri, W. (2002). Hepatitis E virus superinfection in patients with chronic liver disease. *Hepatology*, 36(2), ss. 474-8.
- Han, J., Lei, Y., Liu, L., Liu, P., Xia, J., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Wang, L., Wang, L. & Zhuang, H. (2014). SPF rabbits infected with rabbit hepatitis E virus isolate experimentally showing the chronicity of hepatitis. *PLoS One*, 9(6), s. e99861.
- Han, W., Li, X. & Fu, X. (2011). The macro domain protein family: structure, functions, and their potential therapeutic implications. *Mutat Res*, 727(3), ss. 86-103.
- Haqshenas, G., Huang, F.F., Fenaux, M., Guenette, D.K., Pierson, F.W., Larsen, C.T., Shivaprasad, H.L., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2002). The putative capsid protein of the newly identified avian hepatitis E virus shares antigenic epitopes with that of swine and human hepatitis E viruses and chicken big liver and spleen disease virus. *The Journal of general virology*, 83(Pt 9), ss. 2201-9.
- Haqshenas, G., Shivaprasad, H.L., Woolcock, P.R., Read, D.H. & Meng, X.J. (2001). Genetic identification and characterization of a novel virus related to human hepatitis E virus from chickens with hepatitis-splenomegaly syndrome in the United States. *The Journal of general virology*, 82(Pt 10), ss. 2449-62.

- Hedrick, R.P., Yun, S. & WWingfield, W.H. (1991). A small RNA virus identified from salmonid fishes in california *Fish Aquat.*, 48, ss. 99-104.
- Hirano, M., Ding, X., Li, T.C., Takeda, N., Kawabata, H., Koizumi, N., Kadosaka, T., Goto, I., Masuzawa, T., Nakamura, M., Taira, K., Kuroki, T., Tanikawa, T., Watanabe, H. & Abe, K. (2003). Evidence for widespread infection of hepatitis E virus among wild rats in Japan. *Hepatol Res*, 27(1), ss. 1-5.
- Hsieh, S.Y., Meng, X.J., Wu, Y.H., Liu, S.T., Tam, A.W., Lin, D.Y. & Liaw, Y.F. (1999). Identity of a novel swine hepatitis E virus in Taiwan forming a monophyletic group with Taiwan isolates of human hepatitis E virus. J Clin Microbiol, 37(12), ss. 3828-34.
- Hu, G.D. & Ma, X. (2010). [Detection and sequences analysis of bovine hepatitis E virus RNA in Xinjiang Autonomous Region]. *Bing Du Xue Bao*, 26(1), ss. 27-32.
- Hu, W.P., Lu, Y., Precioso, N.A., Chen, H.Y., Howard, T., Anderson, D. & Guan, M. (2008). Double-antigen enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay for detection of hepatitis E virus-specific antibodies in human or swine sera. *Clin Vaccine Immunol*, 15(8), ss. 1151-7.
- Huang, C.C., Nguyen, D., Fernandez, J., Yun, K.Y., Fry, K.E., Bradley, D.W., Tam, A.W. & Reyes, G.R. (1992). Molecular cloning and sequencing of the Mexico isolate of hepatitis E virus (HEV). *Virology*, 191(2), ss. 550-8.
- Huang, F.F., Sun, Z.F., Emerson, S.U., Purcell, R.H., Shivaprasad, H.L., Pierson, F.W., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2004). Determination and analysis of the complete genomic sequence of avian hepatitis E virus (avian HEV) and attempts to infect rhesus monkeys with avian HEV. *The Journal of* general virology, 85(Pt 6), ss. 1609-18.
- Huang, R., Li, D., Wei, S., Li, Q., Yuan, X., Geng, L., Li, X. & Liu, M. (1999). Cell culture of sporadic hepatitis E virus in China. *Clinical and diagnostic laboratory immunology*, 6(5), ss. 729-33.
- Huang, Y.W., Haqshenas, G., Kasorndorkbua, C., Halbur, P.G., Emerson, S.U. & Meng, X.J. (2005). Capped RNA transcripts of full-length cDNA clones of swine hepatitis E virus are replication competent when transfected into Huh7 cells and infectious when intrahepatically inoculated into pigs. J Virol, 79(3), ss. 1552-8.
- Huang, Y.W., Opriessnig, T., Halbur, P.G. & Meng, X.J. (2007). Initiation at the third in-frame AUG codon of open reading frame 3 of the hepatitis E virus is essential for viral infectivity in vivo. *J Virol*, 81(6), ss. 3018-26.
- Ichiyama, K., Yamada, K., Tanaka, T., Nagashima, S., Jirintai, Takahashi, M. & Okamoto, H. (2009). Determination of the 5'-terminal sequence of subgenomic RNA of hepatitis E virus strains in cultured cells. *Arch Virol*, 154(12), ss. 1945-51.
- Inoue, J., Takahashi, M., Mizuo, H., Suzuki, K., Aikawa, T., Shimosegawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2009). Nucleotide substitutions of hepatitis E virus genomes associated with fulminant hepatitis and disease severity. *Tohoku J Exp Med*, 218(4), ss. 279-84.
- Izopet, J., Dubois, M., Bertagnoli, S., Lhomme, S., Marchandeau, S., Boucher, S., Kamar, N., Abravanel, F. & Guerin, J.L. (2012). Hepatitis E virus strains

in rabbits and evidence of a closely related strain in humans, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1274-81.

- Izopet, J., Lhomme, S., Abravanel, F., Roque, A.M. & Kamar, N. (2015). [Hepatitis E virus]. *Presse Med*, 44(3), ss. 328-32.
- Jameel, S., Zafrullah, M., Ozdener, M.H. & Panda, S.K. (1996). Expression in animal cells and characterization of the hepatitis E virus structural proteins. J Virol, 70(1), ss. 207-16.
- Jeblaoui, A., Haim-Boukobza, S., Marchadier, E., Mokhtari, C. & Roque-Afonso, A.M. (2013). Genotype 4 hepatitis e virus in france: an autochthonous infection with a more severe presentation. *Clin Infect Dis*, 57(4), ss. e122-6.
- Jirintai, S., Jinshan, Tanggis, Manglai, D., Mulyanto, Takahashi, M., Nagashima, S., Kobayashi, T., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2012). Molecular analysis of hepatitis E virus from farm rabbits in Inner Mongolia, China and its successful propagation in A549 and PLC/PRF/5 cells. *Virus Res*, 170(1-2), ss. 126-37.
- Jirintai, S., Tanggis, Mulyanto, Suparyatmo, J.B., Takahashi, M., Kobayashi, T., Nagashima, S., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2014). Rat hepatitis E virus derived from wild rats (Rattus rattus) propagates efficiently in human hepatoma cell lines. *Virus Res*, 185, ss. 92-102.
- Johne, R., Dremsek, P., Kindler, E., Schielke, A., Plenge-Bonig, A., Gregersen, H., Wessels, U., Schmidt, K., Rietschel, W., Groschup, M.H., Guenther, S., Heckel, G. & Ulrich, R.G. (2012). Rat hepatitis E virus: Geographical clustering within Germany and serological detection in wild Norway rats (Rattus norvegicus). *Infect Genet Evol*, 12(5), ss. 947-56.
- Johne, R., Dremsek, P., Reetz, J., Heckel, G., Hess, M. & Ulrich, R.G. (2014a). Hepeviridae: an expanding family of vertebrate viruses. *Infect Genet Evol*, 27, ss. 212-29.
- Johne, R., Heckel, G., Plenge-Bonig, A., Kindler, E., Maresch, C., Reetz, J., Schielke, A. & Ulrich, R.G. (2010a). Novel hepatitis E virus genotype in Norway rats, Germany. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16(9), ss. 1452-5.
- Johne, R., Plenge-Bonig, A., Hess, M., Ulrich, R.G., Reetz, J. & Schielke, A. (2010b). Detection of a novel hepatitis E-like virus in faeces of wild rats using a nested broad-spectrum RT-PCR. *The Journal of general virology*, 91(Pt 3), ss. 750-8.
- Johne, R., Reetz, J., Ulrich, R.G., Machnowska, P., Sachsenroder, J., Nickel, P. & Hofmann, J. (2014b). An ORF1-rearranged hepatitis E virus derived from a chronically infected patient efficiently replicates in cell culture. J Viral Hepat, 21(6), ss. 447-56.
- Jothikumar, N., Cromeans, T.L., Robertson, B.H., Meng, X.J. & Hill, V.R. (2006). A broadly reactive one-step real-time RT-PCR assay for rapid and sensitive detection of hepatitis E virus. *J Virol Methods*, 131(1), ss. 65-71.
- Kaba, M., Davoust, B., Marie, J.L., Barthet, M., Henry, M., Tamalet, C., Raoult, D. & Colson, P. (2009). Frequent transmission of hepatitis E virus among piglets in farms in Southern France. *J Med Virol*, 81(10), ss. 1750-9.
- Kabrane-Lazizi, Y., Fine, J.B., Elm, J., Glass, G.E., Higa, H., Diwan, A., Gibbs, C.J., Jr., Meng, X.J., Emerson, S.U. & Purcell, R.H. (1999a). Evidence for

widespread infection of wild rats with hepatitis E virus in the United States. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 61(2), ss. 331-5.

- Kabrane-Lazizi, Y., Meng, X.J., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (1999b). Evidence that the genomic RNA of hepatitis E virus is capped. *J Virol*, 73(10), ss. 8848-50.
- Kalia, M., Chandra, V., Rahman, S.A., Sehgal, D. & Jameel, S. (2009). Heparan sulfate proteoglycans are required for cellular binding of the hepatitis E virus ORF2 capsid protein and for viral infection. J Virol, 83(24), ss. 12714-24.
- Kamar, N., Bendall, R., Legrand-Abravanel, F., Xia, N.S., Ijaz, S., Izopet, J. & Dalton, H.R. (2012a). Hepatitis E. *Lancet*.
- Kamar, N., Bendall, R.P., Peron, J.M., Cintas, P., Prudhomme, L., Mansuy, J.M., Rostaing, L., Keane, F., Ijaz, S., Izopet, J. & Dalton, H.R. (2011a). Hepatitis E virus and neurologic disorders. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17(2), ss. 173-9.
- Kamar, N., Dalton, H.R., Abravanel, F. & Izopet, J. (2014). Hepatitis E virus infection. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 27(1), ss. 116-38.
- Kamar, N., Garrouste, C., Haagsma, E.B., Garrigue, V., Pischke, S., Chauvet, C., Dumortier, J., Cannesson, A., Cassuto-Viguier, E., Thervet, E., Conti, F., Lebray, P., Dalton, H.R., Santella, R., Kanaan, N., Essig, M., Mousson, C., Radenne, S., Roque-Afonso, A.M., Izopet, J. & Rostaing, L. (2011b). Factors associated with chronic hepatitis in patients with hepatitis E virus infection who have received solid organ transplants. *Gastroenterology*, 140(5), ss. 1481-9.
- Kamar, N., Izopet, J., Cintas, P., Garrouste, C., Uro-Coste, E., Cointault, O. & Rostaing, L. (2010). Hepatitis E virus-induced neurological symptoms in a kidney-transplant patient with chronic hepatitis. *Am J Transplant*, 10(5), ss. 1321-4.
- Kamar, N., Weclawiak, H., Guilbeau-Frugier, C., Legrand-Abravanel, F., Cointault, O., Ribes, D., Esposito, L., Cardeau-Desangles, I., Guitard, J., Sallusto, F., Muscari, F., Peron, J.M., Alric, L., Izopet, J. & Rostaing, L. (2012b). Hepatitis E virus and the kidney in solid-organ transplant patients. *Transplantation*, 93(6), ss. 617-23.
- Kapur, N., Thakral, D., Durgapal, H. & Panda, S.K. (2012). Hepatitis E virus enters liver cells through receptor-dependent clathrin-mediated endocytosis. *J Viral Hepat*, 19(6), ss. 436-48.
- Kar-Roy, A., Korkaya, H., Oberoi, R., Lal, S.K. & Jameel, S. (2004). The hepatitis E virus open reading frame 3 protein activates ERK through binding and inhibition of the MAPK phosphatase. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 279(27), ss. 28345-57.
- Karpe, Y.A. & Lole, K.S. (2011). Deubiquitination activity associated with hepatitis E virus putative papain-like cysteine protease. *The Journal of* general virology, 92(Pt 9), ss. 2088-92.
- Kenney, S.P. & Meng, X.J. (2015). Therapeutic targets for the treatment of hepatitis E virus infection. *Expert Opin Ther Targets*, ss. 1-16.

- Khudyakov Yu, E., Favorov, M.O., Jue, D.L., Hine, T.K. & Fields, H.A. (1994). Immunodominant antigenic regions in a structural protein of the hepatitis E virus. *Virology*, 198(1), ss. 390-3.
- Khuroo, M.S. (1980). Study of an epidemic of non-A, non-B hepatitis. Possibility of another human hepatitis virus distinct from post-transfusion non-A, non-B type. *The American journal of medicine*, 68(6), ss. 818-24.
- Khuroo, M.S. (1991). Hepatitis E: the enterically transmitted non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Indian J Gastroenterol*, 10(3), ss. 96-100.
- Khuroo, M.S. & Kamili, S. (2009). Clinical course and duration of viremia in vertically transmitted hepatitis E virus (HEV) infection in babies born to HEV-infected mothers. *J Viral Hepat*, 16(7), ss. 519-23.
- Khuroo, M.S., Kamili, S., Dar, M.Y., Moecklii, R. & Jameel, S. (1993). Hepatitis E and long-term antibody status. *Lancet*, 341(8856), s. 1355.
- Kim, J.H., Nelson, K.E., Panzner, U., Kasture, Y., Labrique, A.B. & Wierzba, T.F. (2014). A systematic review of the epidemiology of hepatitis E virus in Africa. *BMC Infect Dis*, 14, s. 308.
- Kim, Y.M., Jeong, S.H., Kim, J.Y., Song, J.C., Lee, J.H., Kim, J.W., Yun, H. & Kim, J.S. (2011). The first case of genotype 4 hepatitis E related to wild boar in South Korea. *J Clin Virol*, 50(3), ss. 253-6.
- Koonin, E.V., Gorbalenya, A.E., Purdy, M.A., Rozanov, M.N., Reyes, G.R. & Bradley, D.W. (1992). Computer-assisted assignment of functional domains in the nonstructural polyprotein of hepatitis E virus: delineation of an additional group of positive-strand RNA plant and animal viruses. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 89(17), ss. 8259-63.
- Krog, J.S., Breum, S.O., Jensen, T.H. & Larsen, L.E. (2013). Hepatitis E virus variant in farmed mink, Denmark. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(12), ss. 2028-30.
- Kubista, M., Andrade, J.M., Bengtsson, M., Forootan, A., Jonak, J., Lind, K., Sindelka, R., Sjoback, R., Sjogreen, B., Strombom, L., Stahlberg, A. & Zoric, N. (2006). The real-time polymerase chain reaction. *Mol Aspects Med*, 27(2-3), ss. 95-125.
- Kukielka, D., Rodriguez-Prieto, V., Vicente, J. & Sanchez-Vizcaino, J.M. (2015). Constant Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) Circulation in Wild Boar and Red Deer in Spain: An Increasing Concern Source of HEV Zoonotic Transmission. *Transbound Emerg Dis.*
- Kulkarni, M.A. & Arankalle, V.A. (2008). The detection and characterization of hepatitis E virus in pig livers from retail markets of India. J Med Virol, 80(8), ss. 1387-90.
- Lack, J.B., Volk, K. & Van Den Bussche, R.A. (2012). Hepatitis E virus genotype 3 in wild rats, United States. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1268-73.
- Larska, M., Krzysiak, M.K., Jablonski, A., Kesik, J., Bednarski, M. & Rola, J. (2015). Hepatitis E virus antibody prevalence in wildlife in Poland. *Zoonoses Public Health*, 62(2), ss. 105-10.
- Leblanc, D., Poitras, E., Gagne, M.J., Ward, P. & Houde, A. (2010). Hepatitis E virus load in swine organs and tissues at slaughterhouse determined by real-time RT-PCR. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 139(3), ss. 206-9.

- Lee, Y.H., Ha, Y., Ahn, K.K. & Chae, C. (2009). Localisation of swine hepatitis E virus in experimentally infected pigs. *Veterinary journal*, 179(3), ss. 417-21.
- Legrand-Abravanel, F., Mansuy, J.M., Dubois, M., Kamar, N., Peron, J.M., Rostaing, L. & Izopet, J. (2009). Hepatitis E virus genotype 3 diversity, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 15(1), ss. 110-4.
- Leland, D.S. & Ginocchio, C.C. (2007). Role of cell culture for virus detection in the age of technology. *Clin Microbiol Rev*, 20(1), ss. 49-78.
- Lhomme, S., Abravanel, F., Dubois, M., Sandres-Saune, K., Mansuy, J.M., Rostaing, L., Kamar, N. & Izopet, J. (2014a). Characterization of the polyproline region of the hepatitis E virus in immunocompromised patients. *J Virol*, 88(20), ss. 12017-25.
- Lhomme, S., Garrouste, C., Kamar, N., Saune, K., Abravanel, F., Mansuy, J.M., Dubois, M., Rostaing, L. & Izopet, J. (2014b). Influence of polyproline region and macro domain genetic heterogeneity on HEV persistence in immunocompromised patients. *J Infect Dis*, 209(2), ss. 300-3.
- Li, T.C., Ami, Y., Suzaki, Y., Yasuda, S.P., Yoshimatsu, K., Arikawa, J., Takeda, N. & Takaji, W. (2013a). Characterization of full genome of rat hepatitis E virus strain from Vietnam. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(1), ss. 115-8.
- Li, T.C., Chijiwa, K., Sera, N., Ishibashi, T., Etoh, Y., Shinohara, Y., Kurata, Y., Ishida, M., Sakamoto, S., Takeda, N. & Miyamura, T. (2005a). Hepatitis E virus transmission from wild boar meat. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 11(12), ss. 1958-60.
- Li, T.C., Saito, M., Ogura, G., Ishibashi, O., Miyamura, T. & Takeda, N. (2006). Serologic evidence for hepatitis E virus infection in mongoose. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 74(5), ss. 932-6.
- Li, T.C., Takeda, N., Miyamura, T., Matsuura, Y., Wang, J.C., Engvall, H., Hammar, L., Xing, L. & Cheng, R.H. (2005b). Essential elements of the capsid protein for self-assembly into empty virus-like particles of hepatitis E virus. *J Virol*, 79(20), ss. 12999-3006.
- Li, W., Guan, D., Su, J., Takeda, N., Wakita, T., Li, T.C. & Ke, C.W. (2013b). High prevalence of rat hepatitis E virus in wild rats in China. *Vet Microbiol*, 165(3-4), ss. 275-80.
- Liang, H., Chen, J., Xie, J., Sun, L., Ji, F., He, S., Zheng, Y., Liang, C., Zhang, G., Su, S. & Li, S. (2014). Hepatitis E virus serosurvey among pet dogs and cats in several developed cities in China. *PLoS One*, 9(6), s. e98068.
- Lin, J., Norder, H., Uhlhorn, H., Belak, S. & Widen, F. (2013). Novel Hepatitis E Like Virus Found in Swedish moose. *The Journal of general virology*.
- Liu, P., Li, L., Wang, L., Bu, Q., Fu, H., Han, J., Zhu, Y., Lu, F. & Zhuang, H. (2012). Phylogenetic analysis of 626 hepatitis E virus (HEV) isolates from humans and animals in China (1986-2011) showing genotype diversity and zoonotic transmission. *Infect Genet Evol.*
- Lu, L., Li, C. & Hagedorn, C.H. (2006). Phylogenetic analysis of global hepatitis E virus sequences: genetic diversity, subtypes and zoonosis. *Reviews in medical virology*, 16(1), ss. 5-36.
- Luciano, L., Martel, C., De Pina, J.J., Tesse, S., Merens, A., Roque, A.M., Guisset, M., Brardjanian, S. & Coton, T. (2012). Genotype 3f predominance in

symptomatic acute autochthonous hepatitis E: a short case series in southeastern France. *Clin Res Hepatol Gastroenterol*, 36(3), ss. e54-5.

- Ma, H., Zheng, L., Liu, Y., Zhao, C., Harrison, T.J., Ma, Y., Sun, S., Zhang, J. & Wang, Y. (2010). Experimental infection of rabbits with rabbit and genotypes 1 and 4 hepatitis E viruses. *PLoS One*, 5(2), s. e9160.
- Magden, J., Takeda, N., Li, T., Auvinen, P., Ahola, T., Miyamura, T., Merits, A. & Kaariainen, L. (2001). Virus-specific mRNA capping enzyme encoded by hepatitis E virus. *J Virol*, 75(14), ss. 6249-55.
- Mallet, V., Nicand, E., Sultanik, P., Chakvetadze, C., Tesse, S., Thervet, E., Mouthon, L., Sogni, P. & Pol, S. (2010). Brief communication: case reports of ribavirin treatment for chronic hepatitis E. Ann Intern Med, 153(2), ss. 85-9.
- Malmsten, J., Widen, D.G., Rydevik, G., Yon, L., Hutchings, M.R., Thulin, C.G., Soderquist, L., Aspan, A., Stuen, S. & Dalin, A.M. (2013). Temporal and spatial variation in Anaplasma phagocytophilum infection in Swedish moose (Alces alces). *Epidemiol Infect*, ss. 1-9.
- Mansuy, J.M., Bendall, R., Legrand-Abravanel, F., Saune, K., Miedouge, M., Ellis, V., Rech, H., Destruel, F., Kamar, N., Dalton, H.R. & Izopet, J. (2011). Hepatitis E virus antibodies in blood donors, France. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 17(12), ss. 2309-12.
- Mansuy, J.M., Peron, J.M., Abravanel, F., Poirson, H., Dubois, M., Miedouge, M., Vischi, F., Alric, L., Vinel, J.P. & Izopet, J. (2004). Hepatitis E in the south west of France in individuals who have never visited an endemic area. J Med Virol, 74(3), ss. 419-24.
- Martelli, F., Caprioli, A., Zengarini, M., Marata, A., Fiegna, C., Di Bartolo, I., Ruggeri, F.M., Delogu, M. & Ostanello, F. (2008). Detection of hepatitis E virus (HEV) in a demographic managed wild boar (Sus scrofa scrofa) population in Italy. *Vet Microbiol*, 126(1-3), ss. 74-81.
- Martinelli, N., Pavoni, E., Filogari, D., Ferrari, N., Chiari, M., Canelli, E. & Lombardi, G. (2015). Hepatitis E virus in wild boar in the central northern part of Italy. *Transbound Emerg Dis*, 62(2), ss. 217-22.
- Masuda, J., Yano, K., Tamada, Y., Takii, Y., Ito, M., Omagari, K. & Kohno, S. (2005). Acute hepatitis E of a man who consumed wild boar meat prior to the onset of illness in Nagasaki, Japan. *Hepatol Res*, 31(3), ss. 178-83.
- Matsubayashi, K., Kang, J.H., Sakata, H., Takahashi, K., Shindo, M., Kato, M., Sato, S., Kato, T., Nishimori, H., Tsuji, K., Maguchi, H., Yoshida, J., Maekubo, H., Mishiro, S. & Ikeda, H. (2008). A case of transfusion-transmitted hepatitis E caused by blood from a donor infected with hepatitis E virus via zoonotic food-borne route. *Transfusion*, 48(7), ss. 1368-75.
- Matsuda, H., Okada, K., Takahashi, K. & Mishiro, S. (2003). Severe hepatitis E virus infection after ingestion of uncooked liver from a wild boar. *J Infect Dis*, 188(6), s. 944.
- Matsuura, Y., Suzuki, M., Yoshimatsu, K., Arikawa, J., Takashima, I., Yokoyama, M., Igota, H., Yamauchi, K., Ishida, S., Fukui, D., Bando, G., Kosuge, M., Tsunemitsu, H., Koshimoto, C., Sakae, K., Chikahira, M., Ogawa, S., Miyamura, T., Takeda, N. & Li, T.C. (2007). Prevalence of antibody to

hepatitis E virus among wild sika deer, Cervus nippon, in Japan. Arch Virol, 152(7), ss. 1375-81.

- Maunula, L., Kaupke, A., Vasickova, P., Soderberg, K., Kozyra, I., Lazic, S., van der Poel, W.H., Bouwknegt, M., Rutjes, S., Willems, K.A., Moloney, R., D'Agostino, M., de Roda Husman, A.M., von Bonsdorff, C.H., Rzezutka, A., Pavlik, I., Petrovic, T. & Cook, N. (2013). Tracing enteric viruses in the European berry fruit supply chain. *Int J Food Microbiol*, 167(2), ss. 177-85.
- McElroy, A., Hiraide, R., Bexfield, N., Jalal, H., Brownlie, J., Goodfellow, I. & Caddy, S.L. (2015). Detection of Hepatitis E Virus Antibodies in Dogs in the United Kingdom. *PLoS One*, 10(6), s. e0128703.
- Meng, X.J. (2010). Hepatitis E virus: animal reservoirs and zoonotic risk. *Vet Microbiol*, 140(3-4), ss. 256-65.
- Meng, X.J. (2013). Zoonotic and foodborne transmission of hepatitis E virus. Seminars in liver disease, 33(1), ss. 41-9.
- Meng, X.J., Halbur, P.G., Haynes, J.S., Tsareva, T.S., Bruna, J.D., Royer, R.L., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (1998a). Experimental infection of pigs with the newly identified swine hepatitis E virus (swine HEV), but not with human strains of HEV. Arch Virol, 143(7), ss. 1405-15.
- Meng, X.J., Halbur, P.G., Shapiro, M.S., Govindarajan, S., Bruna, J.D., Mushahwar, I.K., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (1998b). Genetic and experimental evidence for cross-species infection by swine hepatitis E virus. J Virol, 72(12), ss. 9714-21.
- Meng, X.J., Purcell, R.H., Halbur, P.G., Lehman, J.R., Webb, D.M., Tsareva, T.S., Haynes, J.S., Thacker, B.J. & Emerson, S.U. (1997). A novel virus in swine is closely related to the human hepatitis E virus. *Proc Natl Acad Sci* USA, 94(18), ss. 9860-5.
- Midgley, S., Vestergaard, H.T., Dalgaard, C., Enggaard, L. & Fischer, T.K. (2014). Hepatitis E virus genotype 4, Denmark, 2012. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 20(1), ss. 156-7.
- Mishra, N., Walimbe, A.M. & Arankalle, V.A. (2013). Hepatitis E virus from India exhibits significant amino acid mutations in fulminant hepatic failure patients. *Virus Genes*, 46(1), ss. 47-53.
- Mizuo, H., Suzuki, K., Takikawa, Y., Sugai, Y., Tokita, H., Akahane, Y., Itoh, K., Gotanda, Y., Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2002). Polyphyletic strains of hepatitis E virus are responsible for sporadic cases of acute hepatitis in Japan. *J Clin Microbiol*, 40(9), ss. 3209-18.
- Moal, V., Gerolami, R. & Colson, P. (2012). First human case of co-infection with two different subtypes of hepatitis E virus. *Intervirology*, 55(6), ss. 484-7.
- Moin, S.M., Panteva, M. & Jameel, S. (2007). The hepatitis E virus Orf3 protein protects cells from mitochondrial depolarization and death. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 282(29), ss. 21124-33.
- Montagnaro, S., De Martinis, C., Sasso, S., Ciarcia, R., Damiano, S., Auletta, L., Iovane, V., Zottola, T. & Pagnini, U. (2015). Viral and Antibody Prevalence of Hepatitis E in European Wild Boars (Sus scrofa) and Hunters at Zoonotic Risk in the Latium Region. *J Comp Pathol*, 153(1), ss. 1-8.

- Mori, Y. & Matsuura, Y. (2011). Structure of hepatitis E viral particle. *Virus Res*, 161(1), ss. 59-64.
- Mulyanto, Suparyatmo, J.B., Andayani, I.G., Khalid, Takahashi, M., Ohnishi, H., Jirintai, S., Nagashima, S., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2014). Marked genomic heterogeneity of rat hepatitis E virus strains in Indonesia demonstrated on a full-length genome analysis. *Virus Res*, 179, ss. 102-12.
- Nagashima, S., Takahashi, M., Jirintai, Tanaka, T., Yamada, K., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2011). A PSAP motif in the ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus is necessary for virion release from infected cells (domain 1). *The Journal of general virology*, 92(Pt 2), ss. 269-78.
- Nakamura, M., Takahashi, K., Taira, K., Taira, M., Ohno, A., Sakugawa, H., Arai, M. & Mishiro, S. (2006). Hepatitis E virus infection in wild mongooses of Okinawa, Japan: Demonstration of anti-HEV antibodies and a fullgenome nucleotide sequence. *Hepatol Res*, 34(3), ss. 137-40.
- Nakano, T., Takahashi, K., Arai, M., Okano, H., Kato, H., Ayada, M., Okamoto, H. & Mishiro, S. (2013). Identification of European-type hepatitis E virus subtype 3e isolates in Japanese wild boars: molecular tracing of HEV from swine to wild boars. *Infect Genet Evol*, 18, ss. 287-98.
- Nanda, S.K., Panda, S.K., Durgapal, H. & Jameel, S. (1994). Detection of the negative strand of hepatitis E virus RNA in the livers of experimentally infected rhesus monkeys: evidence for viral replication. J Med Virol, 42(3), ss. 237-40.
- Navaneethan, U., Al Mohajer, M. & Shata, M.T. (2008). Hepatitis E and pregnancy: understanding the pathogenesis. *Liver Int*, 28(9), ss. 1190-9.
- Neuvonen, M. & Ahola, T. (2009). Differential activities of cellular and viral macro domain proteins in binding of ADP-ribose metabolites. *Journal of molecular biology*, 385(1), ss. 212-25.
- News, N.Y.D. (2012). Hepatitis E outbreak kills 18, sickens 4,000 in Indian state of Maharashtra.
- Ng, T.F., Marine, R., Wang, C., Simmonds, P., Kapusinszky, B., Bodhidatta, L., Oderinde, B.S., Wommack, K.E. & Delwart, E. (2012). High variety of known and new RNA and DNA viruses of diverse origins in untreated sewage. *J Virol*, 86(22), ss. 12161-75.
- Nguyen, H.T., Torian, U., Faulk, K., Mather, K., Engle, R.E., Thompson, E., Bonkovsky, H.L. & Emerson, S. (2011). A naturally-occurring human/hepatitis E recombinant virus predominates in serum but not in feces of a chronic hepatitis E patient and has a growth advantage in cell culture. *The Journal of general virology*.
- Nishizawa, T., Takahashi, M., Endo, K., Fujiwara, S., Sakuma, N., Kawazuma, F., Sakamoto, H., Sato, Y., Bando, M. & Okamoto, H. (2005). Analysis of the full-length genome of hepatitis E virus isolates obtained from wild boars in Japan. *The Journal of general virology*, 86(Pt 12), ss. 3321-6.
- Norder, H., Sundqvist, L., Magnusson, L., Ostergaard Breum, S., Lofdahl, M., Larsen, L.E., Hjulsager, C.K., Magnius, L., Bottiger, B.E. & Widen, F. (2009). Endemic hepatitis E in two Nordic countries. *Euro Surveill*, 14(19).

- Okamoto, H. (2007). Genetic variability and evolution of hepatitis E virus. *Virus Res*, 127(2), ss. 216-28.
- Okamoto, H. (2013). Culture systems for hepatitis E virus. *Journal of* gastroenterology, 48(2), ss. 147-58.
- Oliveira-Filho, E.F., Konig, M. & Thiel, H.J. (2013). Genetic variability of HEV isolates: inconsistencies of current classification. *Vet Microbiol*, 165(1-2), ss. 148-54.
- Olsen, B., Axelsson-Olsson, D., Thelin, A. & Weiland, O. (2006). Unexpected high prevalence of IgG-antibodies to hepatitis E virus in Swedish pig farmers and controls. *Scand J Infect Dis*, 38(1), ss. 55-8.
- Pal, R., Aggarwal, R., Naik, S.R., Das, V., Das, S. & Naik, S. (2005). Immunological alterations in pregnant women with acute hepatitis E. J Gastroenterol Hepatol, 20(7), ss. 1094-101.
- Parent, R., Qu, X., Petit, M.A. & Beretta, L. (2009). The heat shock cognate protein 70 is associated with hepatitis C virus particles and modulates virus infectivity. *Hepatology*, 49(6), ss. 1798-809.
- Parvez, M.K. (2013). Molecular characterization of hepatitis E virus ORF1 gene supports a papain-like cysteine protease (PCP)-domain activity. *Virus Res*, 178(2), ss. 553-6.
- Pavio, N., Meng, X.J. & Renou, C. (2010). Zoonotic hepatitis E: animal reservoirs and emerging risks. *Vet Res*, 41(6), s. 46.
- Payne, C.J., Ellis, T.M., Plant, S.L., Gregory, A.R. & Wilcox, G.E. (1999). Sequence data suggests big liver and spleen disease virus (BLSV) is genetically related to hepatitis E virus. *Vet Microbiol*, 68(1-2), ss. 119-25.
- Peralta, B., Mateu, E., Casas, M., de Deus, N., Martin, M. & Pina, S. (2009). Genetic characterization of the complete coding regions of genotype 3 hepatitis E virus isolated from Spanish swine herds. *Virus Res*, 139(1), ss. 111-6.
- Perez-Gracia, M.T., Suay, B. & Mateos-Lindemann, M.L. (2014). Hepatitis E: An emerging disease. *Infect Genet Evol*, 22C, ss. 40-59.
- Perttila, J., Spuul, P. & Ahola, T. (2013). Early secretory pathway localization and lack of processing for hepatitis E virus replication protein pORF1. *The Journal of general virology*, 94(Pt 4), ss. 807-16.
- Pudupakam, R.S., Huang, Y.W., Opriessnig, T., Halbur, P.G., Pierson, F.W. & Meng, X.J. (2009). Deletions of the hypervariable region (HVR) in open reading frame 1 of hepatitis E virus do not abolish virus infectivity: evidence for attenuation of HVR deletion mutants in vivo. J Virol, 83(1), ss. 384-95.
- Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (2001). Animal models of hepatitis A and E. *ILAR* J, 42(2), ss. 161-77.
- Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (2008). Hepatitis E: an emerging awareness of an old disease. *Journal of hepatology*, 48(3), ss. 494-503.
- Purdy, M., A., W., T.A., C-C, H., O., Y.P. & R., R.G. (1993). Hepatitis E virus: a non-enveloped member of the 'alpha-like' RNA virus supergroup? *Seminars in Virology*, 4(5), ss. 319–326.
- Purdy, M.A. (2012). Evolution of the hepatitis E virus polyproline region: order from disorder. J Virol, 86(18), ss. 10186-93.

- Purdy, M.A. & Khudyakov, Y.E. (2010). Evolutionary history and population dynamics of hepatitis E virus. *PLoS One*, 5(12), s. e14376.
- Purdy, M.A., Lara, J. & Khudyakov, Y.E. (2012). The hepatitis E virus polyproline region is involved in viral adaptation. *PLoS One*, 7(4), s. e35974.
- Purdy, M.A., McCaustland, K.A., Krawczynski, K., Tam, A., Beach, M.J., Tassopoulos, N.C., Reyes, G.R. & Bradley, D.W. (1992). Expression of a hepatitis E virus (HEV)-trpE fusion protein containing epitopes recognized by antibodies in sera from human cases and experimentally infected primates. Arch Virol, 123(3-4), ss. 335-49.
- Rab, M.A., Bile, M.K., Mubarik, M.M., Asghar, H., Sami, Z., Siddiqi, S., Dil, A.S., Barzgar, M.A., Chaudhry, M.A. & Burney, M.I. (1997). Waterborne hepatitis E virus epidemic in Islamabad, Pakistan: a common source outbreak traced to the malfunction of a modern water treatment plant. *Am J Trop Med Hyg*, 57(2), ss. 151-7.
- Radha Krishna, Y., Saraswat, V.A., Das, K., Himanshu, G., Yachha, S.K., Aggarwal, R. & Choudhuri, G. (2009). Clinical features and predictors of outcome in acute hepatitis A and hepatitis E virus hepatitis on cirrhosis. *Liver Int*, 29(3), ss. 392-8.
- Raj, V.S., Smits, S.L., Pas, S.D., Provacia, L.B., Moorman-Roest, H., Osterhaus, A.D. & Haagmans, B.L. (2012). Novel hepatitis E virus in ferrets, the Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 18(8), ss. 1369-70.
- Ramachandran, J., Eapen, C.E., Kang, G., Abraham, P., Hubert, D.D., Kurian, G., Hephzibah, J., Mukhopadhya, A. & Chandy, G.M. (2004). Hepatitis E superinfection produces severe decompensation in patients with chronic liver disease. *J Gastroenterol Hepatol*, 19(2), ss. 134-8.
- Rehman, S., Kapur, N., Durgapal, H. & Panda, S.K. (2008). Subcellular localization of hepatitis E virus (HEV) replicase. *Virology*, 370(1), ss. 77-92.
- Renou, C., Pariente, A., Cadranel, J.F., Nicand, E. & Pavio, N. (2011). Clinically silent forms may partly explain the rarity of acute cases of autochthonous genotype 3c hepatitis E infection in France. *J Clin Virol*, 51(2), ss. 139-41.
- Reuter, G., Fodor, D., Forgach, P., Katai, A. & Szucs, G. (2009). Characterization and zoonotic potential of endemic hepatitis E virus (HEV) strains in humans and animals in Hungary. *J Clin Virol*, 44(4), ss. 277-81.
- Reyes, G.R., Huang, C.C., Tam, A.W. & Purdy, M.A. (1993). Molecular organization and replication of hepatitis E virus (HEV). *Archives of virology. Supplementum*, 7, ss. 15-25.
- Reyes, G.R., Purdy, M.A., Kim, J.P., Luk, K.C., Young, L.M., Fry, K.E. & Bradley, D.W. (1990). Isolation of a cDNA from the virus responsible for enterically transmitted non-A, non-B hepatitis. *Science*, 247(4948), ss. 1335-9.
- Rikihisa, Y. (2011). Mechanisms of obligatory intracellular infection with Anaplasma phagocytophilum. *Clinical microbiology reviews*, 24(3), ss. 469-89.
- Rogee, S., Talbot, N., Caperna, T., Bouquet, J., Barnaud, E. & Pavio, N. (2013). New models of hepatitis E virus replication in human and porcine

hepatocyte cell lines. *The Journal of general virology*, 94(Pt 3), ss. 549-58.

- Ropp, S.L., Tam, A.W., Beames, B., Purdy, M. & Frey, T.K. (2000). Expression of the hepatitis E virus ORF1. *Arch Virol*, 145(7), ss. 1321-37.
- Ruggeri, F.M., Di Bartolo, I., Ponterio, E., Angeloni, G., Trevisani, M. & Ostanello, F. (2013). Zoonotic transmission of hepatitis E virus in industrialized countries. *New Microbiol*, 36(4), ss. 331-44.
- Rutjes, S.A., Lodder-Verschoor, F., Lodder, W.J., van der Giessen, J., Reesink, H., Bouwknegt, M. & de Roda Husman, A.M. (2010). Seroprevalence and molecular detection of hepatitis E virus in wild boar and red deer in The Netherlands. J Virol Methods, 168(1-2), ss. 197-206.
- Rutjes, S.A., Lodder, W.J., Lodder-Verschoor, F., van den Berg, H.H., Vennema, H., Duizer, E., Koopmans, M. & de Roda Husman, A.M. (2009). Sources of hepatitis E virus genotype 3 in The Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 15(3), ss. 381-7.
- Said, B., Ijaz, S., Kafatos, G., Booth, L., Thomas, H.L., Walsh, A., Ramsay, M., Morgan, D. & Hepatitis, E.I.I.T. (2009). Hepatitis E outbreak on cruise ship. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 15(11), ss. 1738-44.
- Salines, M., Barnaud, E., Andraud, M., Eono, F., Renson, P., Bourry, O., Pavio, N. & Rose, N. (2015). Hepatitis E virus chronic infection of swine coinfected with Porcine Reproductive and Respiratory Syndrome Virus. *Vet Res*, 46, s. 55.
- Sato, Y., Sato, H., Naka, K., Furuya, S., Tsukiji, H., Kitagawa, K., Sonoda, Y., Usui, T., Sakamoto, H., Yoshino, S., Shimizu, Y., Takahashi, M., Nagashima, S., Jirintai, Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2011). A nationwide survey of hepatitis E virus (HEV) infection in wild boars in Japan: identification of boar HEV strains of genotypes 3 and 4 and unrecognized genotypes. *Arch Virol*, 156(8), ss. 1345-58.
- Schielke, A., Sachs, K., Lierz, M., Appel, B., Jansen, A. & Johne, R. (2009). Detection of hepatitis E virus in wild boars of rural and urban regions in Germany and whole genome characterization of an endemic strain. *Virol J*, 6, s. 58.
- Schlauder, G.G., Dawson, G.J., Erker, J.C., Kwo, P.Y., Knigge, M.F., Smalley, D.L., Rosenblatt, J.E., Desai, S.M. & Mushahwar, I.K. (1998). The sequence and phylogenetic analysis of a novel hepatitis E virus isolated from a patient with acute hepatitis reported in the United States. *The Journal of general virology*, 79 (Pt 3), ss. 447-56.
- Schlosser, J., Eiden, M., Vina-Rodriguez, A., Fast, C., Dremsek, P., Lange, E., Ulrich, R.G. & Groschup, M.H. (2014). Natural and experimental hepatitis E virus genotype 3-infection in European wild boar is transmissible to domestic pigs. *Vet Res*, 45, s. 121.
- Sehgal, D., Thomas, S., Chakraborty, M. & Jameel, S. (2006). Expression and processing of the Hepatitis E virus ORF1 nonstructural polyprotein. *Virol J*, 3, s. 38.
- Serracca, L., Battistini, R., Rossini, I., Mignone, W., Peletto, S., Boin, C., Pistone, G., Ercolini, R. & Ercolini, C. (2015). Molecular Investigation on the

Presence of Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) in Wild Game in North-Western Italy. *Food Environ Virol*.

- Shrestha, M.P., Scott, R.M., Joshi, D.M., Mammen, M.P., Jr., Thapa, G.B., Thapa, N., Myint, K.S., Fourneau, M., Kuschner, R.A., Shrestha, S.K., David, M.P., Seriwatana, J., Vaughn, D.W., Safary, A., Endy, T.P. & Innis, B.L. (2007). Safety and efficacy of a recombinant hepatitis E vaccine. *N Engl J Med*, 356(9), ss. 895-903.
- Shrestha, S.M. (2006). Hepatitis E in Nepal. *Kathmandu Univ Med J (KUMJ)*, 4(4), ss. 530-44.
- Shukla, P., Nguyen, H.T., Faulk, K., Mather, K., Torian, U., Engle, R.E. & Emerson, S.U. (2012). Adaptation of a genotype 3 hepatitis e virus to efficient growth in cell culture depends on an inserted human gene segment acquired by recombination. J Virol, 86(10), ss. 5697-707.
- Shukla, P., Nguyen, H.T., Torian, U., Engle, R.E., Faulk, K., Dalton, H.R., Bendall, R.P., Keane, F.E., Purcell, R.H. & Emerson, S.U. (2011). Crossspecies infections of cultured cells by hepatitis E virus and discovery of an infectious virus-host recombinant. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 108(6), ss. 2438-43.
- Smith, D.B., Purdy, M.A. & Simmonds, P. (2013a). Genetic variability and the classification of hepatitis E virus. *J Virol*.
- Smith, D.B., Simmonds, P., Jameel, S., Emerson, S.U., Harrison, T.J., Meng, X.J., Okamoto, H., Van der Poel, W.H. & Purdy, M.A. (2014). Consensus Proposals for Classification of the Family Hepeviridae. *The Journal of* general virology.
- Smith, D.B., Vanek, J., Wellington, L., Johannessen, I., Ramalingam, S. & Simmonds, P. (2013b). Hepatitis E virus mixed infection in immunocompetent patient. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 19(3), ss. 468-70.
- Sonoda, H., Abe, M., Sugimoto, T., Sato, Y., Bando, M., Fukui, E., Mizuo, H., Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T. & Okamoto, H. (2004). Prevalence of hepatitis E virus (HEV) Infection in wild boars and deer and genetic identification of a genotype 3 HEV from a boar in Japan. J Clin Microbiol, 42(11), ss. 5371-4.
- Sun, Z.F., Larsen, C.T., Huang, F.F., Billam, P., Pierson, F.W., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2004). Generation and infectivity titration of an infectious stock of avian hepatitis E virus (HEV) in chickens and cross-species infection of turkeys with avian HEV. J Clin Microbiol, 42(6), ss. 2658-62.
- Suppiah, S., Zhou, Y. & Frey, T.K. (2011). Lack of processing of the expressed ORF1 gene product of hepatitis E virus. *Virol J*, 8, s. 245.
- Surjit, M., Jameel, S. & Lal, S.K. (2004). The ORF2 protein of hepatitis E virus binds the 5' region of viral RNA. *J Virol*, 78(1), ss. 320-8.
- Surjit, M., Oberoi, R., Kumar, R. & Lal, S.K. (2006). Enhanced alpha1 microglobulin secretion from Hepatitis E virus ORF3-expressing human hepatoma cells is mediated by the tumor susceptibility gene 101. J Biol Chem, 281(12), ss. 8135-42.
- Takahashi, H., Tanaka, T., Jirintai, S., Nagashima, S., Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T., Mizuo, H., Yazaki, Y. & Okamoto, H. (2012). A549 and PLC/PRF/5 cells can support the efficient propagation of swine and wild boar

hepatitis E virus (HEV) strains: demonstration of HEV infectivity of porcine liver sold as food. *Arch Virol*, 157(2), ss. 235-46.

- Takahashi, K., Kitajima, N., Abe, N. & Mishiro, S. (2004a). Complete or nearcomplete nucleotide sequences of hepatitis E virus genome recovered from a wild boar, a deer, and four patients who ate the deer. *Virology*, 330(2), ss. 501-5.
- Takahashi, K., Okamoto, H., Abe, N., Kawakami, M., Matsuda, H., Mochida, S., Sakugawa, H., Suginoshita, Y., Watanabe, S., Yamamoto, K., Miyakawa, Y. & Mishiro, S. (2009). Virulent strain of hepatitis E virus genotype 3, Japan. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 15(5), ss. 704-9.
- Takahashi, K., Toyota, J., Karino, Y., Kang, J.H., Maekubo, H., Abe, N. & Mishiro, S. (2004b). Estimation of the mutation rate of hepatitis E virus based on a set of closely related 7.5-year-apart isolates from Sapporo, Japan. *Hepatol Res*, 29(4), ss. 212-215.
- Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T., Sato, H., Sato, Y., Jirintai, D., Nagashima, S. & Okamoto, H. (2011). Analysis of the full-length genome of a hepatitis E virus isolate obtained from a wild boar in Japan that is classifiable into a novel genotype. *The Journal of general virology*.
- Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T., Yoshikawa, A., Sato, S., Isoda, N., Ido, K., Sugano, K. & Okamoto, H. (2002). Identification of two distinct genotypes of hepatitis E virus in a Japanese patient with acute hepatitis who had not travelled abroad. *The Journal of general virology*, 83(Pt 8), ss. 1931-40.
- Takahashi, M., Tanaka, T., Takahashi, H., Hoshino, Y., Nagashima, S., Jirintai, Mizuo, H., Yazaki, Y., Takagi, T., Azuma, M., Kusano, E., Isoda, N., Sugano, K. & Okamoto, H. (2010). Hepatitis E Virus (HEV) strains in serum samples can replicate efficiently in cultured cells despite the coexistence of HEV antibodies: characterization of HEV virions in blood circulation. J Clin Microbiol, 48(4), ss. 1112-25.
- Takahashi, M., Yamada, K., Hoshino, Y., Takahashi, H., Ichiyama, K., Tanaka, T. & Okamoto, H. (2008). Monoclonal antibodies raised against the ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus (HEV) can capture HEV particles in culture supernatant and serum but not those in feces. *Arch Virol*, 153(9), ss. 1703-13.
- Tam, A.W., Smith, M.M., Guerra, M.E., Huang, C.C., Bradley, D.W., Fry, K.E. & Reyes, G.R. (1991). Hepatitis E virus (HEV): molecular cloning and sequencing of the full-length viral genome. *Virology*, 185(1), ss. 120-31.
- Tamada, Y., Yano, K., Yatsuhashi, H., Inoue, O., Mawatari, F. & Ishibashi, H. (2004). Consumption of wild boar linked to cases of hepatitis E. J Hepatol, 40(5), ss. 869-70.
- Tamura, K., Peterson, D., Peterson, N., Stecher, G., Nei, M. & Kumar, S. (2011). MEGA5: molecular evolutionary genetics analysis using maximum likelihood, evolutionary distance, and maximum parsimony methods. *Molecular biology and evolution*, 28(10), ss. 2731-9.
- Tanaka, T., Takahashi, M., Kusano, E. & Okamoto, H. (2007). Development and evaluation of an efficient cell-culture system for Hepatitis E virus. *The Journal of general virology*, 88(Pt 3), ss. 903-11.

- Tanaka, T., Takahashi, M., Takahashi, H., Ichiyama, K., Hoshino, Y., Nagashima, S., Mizuo, H. & Okamoto, H. (2009). Development and characterization of a genotype 4 hepatitis E virus cell culture system using a HE-JF5/15F strain recovered from a fulminant hepatitis patient. J Clin Microbiol, 47(6), ss. 1906-10.
- Tei, S., Kitajima, N., Takahashi, K. & Mishiro, S. (2003). Zoonotic transmission of hepatitis E virus from deer to human beings. *Lancet*, 362(9381), ss. 371-3.
- Teshale, E.H., Howard, C.M., Grytdal, S.P., Handzel, T.R., Barry, V., Kamili, S., Drobeniuc, J., Okware, S., Downing, R., Tappero, J.W., Bakamutumaho, B., Teo, C.G., Ward, J.W., Holmberg, S.D. & Hu, D.J. (2010a). Hepatitis E epidemic, Uganda. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 16(1), ss. 126-9.
- Teshale, E.H., Hu, D.J. & Holmberg, S.D. (2010b). The two faces of hepatitis E virus. *Clin Infect Dis*, 51(3), ss. 328-34.
- Thiry, D., Mauroy, A., Pavio, N., Purdy, M.A., Rose, N., Thiry, E. & de Oliveira-Filho, E.F. (2015). Hepatitis E Virus and Related Viruses in Animals. *Transbound Emerg Dis*.
- Tomiyama, D., Inoue, E., Osawa, Y. & Okazaki, K. (2009). Serological evidence of infection with hepatitis E virus among wild Yezo-deer, Cervus nippon yesoensis, in Hokkaido, Japan. J Viral Hepat, 16(7), ss. 524-8.
- Tsarev, S.A., Tsareva, T.S., Emerson, S.U., Kapikian, A.Z., Ticehurst, J., London, W. & Purcell, R.H. (1993). ELISA for antibody to hepatitis E virus (HEV) based on complete open-reading frame-2 protein expressed in insect cells: identification of HEV infection in primates. J Infect Dis, 168(2), ss. 369-78.
- Tyagi, S., Korkaya, H., Zafrullah, M., Jameel, S. & Lal, S.K. (2002). The phosphorylated form of the ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus interacts with its non-glycosylated form of the major capsid protein, ORF2. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 277(25), ss. 22759-67.
- Tyagi, S., Surjit, M., Roy, A.K., Jameel, S. & Lal, S.K. (2004). The ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus interacts with liver-specific alpha1-microglobulin and its precursor alpha1-microglobulin/bikunin precursor (AMBP) and expedites their export from the hepatocyte. *The Journal of biological chemistry*, 279(28), ss. 29308-19.
- UNHCR (2012a). UNHCR responds strongly to jaundice, hepatitis out-breaks in dadaab. UNCH.
- UNHCR (2012b). UNHCR tackles hepatitis E outbreak that kills 16 Suda-nese refugees. .
- van Cuyck, H., Fan, J., Robertson, D.L. & Roques, P. (2005). Evidence of recombination between divergent hepatitis E viruses. *J Virol*, 79(14), ss. 9306-14.
- van der Poel, W.H., Verschoor, F., van der Heide, R., Herrera, M.I., Vivo, A., Kooreman, M. & de Roda Husman, A.M. (2001). Hepatitis E virus sequences in swine related to sequences in humans, The Netherlands. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 7(6), ss. 970-6.
- Wang, H., Zhang, W., Ni, B., Shen, H., Song, Y., Wang, X., Shao, S., Hua, X. & Cui, L. (2010). Recombination analysis reveals a double recombination event in hepatitis E virus. *Virol J*, 7, s. 129.

- Wang, Y., Ling, R., Erker, J.C., Zhang, H., Li, H., Desai, S., Mushahwar, I.K. & Harrison, T.J. (1999). A divergent genotype of hepatitis E virus in Chinese patients with acute hepatitis. *The Journal of general virology*, 80 (Pt 1), ss. 169-77.
- Wang, Y. & Ma, X. (2010). [Detection and sequences analysis of sheep hepatitis E virus RNA in Xinjiang autonomous region]. Wei Sheng Wu Xue Bao, 50(7), ss. 937-41.
- Wang, Y., Zhang, H., Ling, R., Li, H. & Harrison, T.J. (2000). The complete sequence of hepatitis E virus genotype 4 reveals an alternative strategy for translation of open reading frames 2 and 3. *The Journal of general virology*, 81(Pt 7), ss. 1675-86.
- Varma, S.P., Kumar, A., Kapur, N., Durgapal, H., Acharya, S.K. & Panda, S.K. (2010). HEV replication involves alternating negative and positive sense RNA synthesis. *The Journal of general virology*.
- Vasickova, P., Kralik, P., Slana, I. & Pavlik, I. (2012). Optimisation of a triplex real time RT-PCR for detection of hepatitis E virus RNA and validation on biological samples. *J Virol Methods*, 180(1-2), ss. 38-42.
- Watanobe, T., Okumura, N., Ishiguro, N., Nakano, M., Matsui, A., Sahara, M. & Komatsu, M. (1999). Genetic relationship and distribution of the Japanese wild boar (Sus scrofa leucomystax) and Ryukyu wild boar (Sus scrofa riukiuanus) analysed by mitochondrial DNA. *Mol Ecol*, 8(9), ss. 1509-12.
- Wenzel, J.J., Preiss, J., Schemmerer, M., Huber, B. & Jilg, W. (2013). Test performance characteristics of Anti-HEV IgG assays strongly influence hepatitis E seroprevalence estimates. *J Infect Dis*, 207(3), ss. 497-500.
- Wenzel, J.J., Preiss, J., Schemmerer, M., Huber, B., Plentz, A. & Jilg, W. (2011). Detection of hepatitis E virus (HEV) from porcine livers in Southeastern Germany and high sequence homology to human HEV isolates. J Clin Virol, 52(1), ss. 50-4.
- WHO, W.H.O. Zoonoses http://www.who.int/zoonoses/vph/en/.
- Widen, F., Ayral, F., Artois, M., Olofson, A.S. & Lin, J. (2014). PCR detection and analysis of potentially zoonotic Hepatitis E virus in French rats. *Virol J*, 11, s. 90.
- Widén, F., Sundqvist, L., Matyi-Tóth, A., Metreveli, G., Belák, S., Hallgren, G. & Norder, H. (2010). Molecular epidemiology of hepatitis E virus in humans, pigs and wild boars in Sweden. *Epidemiol Infect*, ss. 1-11.
- Williams, T.P., Kasorndorkbua, C., Halbur, P.G., Haqshenas, G., Guenette, D.K., Toth, T.E. & Meng, X.J. (2001). Evidence of extrahepatic sites of replication of the hepatitis E virus in a swine model. *J Clin Microbiol*, 39(9), ss. 3040-6.
- Viswanathan, R. (1957). Epidemiology. Indian J Med Res, 45(Suppl.), ss. 1-29.
- Wolf, S., Reetz, J., Johne, R., Heiberg, A.C., Petri, S., Kanig, H. & Ulrich, R.G. (2013). The simultaneous occurrence of human norovirus and hepatitis E virus in a Norway rat (Rattus norvegicus). *Arch Virol*, 158(7), ss. 1575-8.
- Woo, P.C., Lau, S.K., Teng, J.L., Tsang, A.K., Joseph, M., Wong, E.Y., Tang, Y., Sivakumar, S., Xie, J., Bai, R., Wernery, R., Wernery, U. & Yuen, K.Y. (2014). New hepatitis E virus genotype in camels, the Middle East. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 20(6), ss. 1044-8.

- World Health, O. (2005). Epidemic-prone disease surveillance and response after the tsunami in Aceh Province, Indonesia. *Wkly Epidemiol Rec*, 80(18), ss. 160-4.
- Wu, J., Si, F., Jiang, C., Li, T. & Jin, M. (2015). Molecular detection of hepatitis E virus in sheep from southern Xinjiang, China. *Virus Genes*, 50(3), ss. 410-7.
- Wu, J.Y., Kang, Q., Bai, W.S. & Bai, Z.H. (2010). [Seroepidemiological survey of sheep hepatitis E virus infection in Aksu region of Xinjiang Autonomous]. *Bing Du Xue Bao*, 26(3), ss. 234-7.
- Wu, T., Zhu, F.C., Huang, S.J., Zhang, X.F., Wang, Z.Z., Zhang, J. & Xia, N.S. (2012). Safety of the hepatitis E vaccine for pregnant women: a preliminary analysis. *Hepatology*, 55(6), s. 2038.
- Xia, H., Liu, L., Linde, A.M., Belák, S., Norder, H. & Widén, F. (2008). Molecular characterization and phylogenetic analysis of the complete genome of a hepatitis E virus from European swine. *Virus Genes*, 37(1), ss. 39-48.
- Xia, J., Liu, L., Wang, L., Zhang, Y., Zeng, H., Liu, P., Zou, Q., Wang, L. & Zhuang, H. (2015). Experimental infection of pregnant rabbits with hepatitis E virus demonstrating high mortality and vertical transmission. J Viral Hepat.
- Xing, L., Li, T.C., Miyazaki, N., Simon, M.N., Wall, J.S., Moore, M., Wang, C.Y., Takeda, N., Wakita, T., Miyamura, T. & Cheng, R.H. (2010). Structure of hepatitis E virion-sized particle reveals an RNA-dependent viral assembly pathway. J Biol Chem.
- Xu, F., Pan, Y., Baloch, A.R., Tian, L., Wang, M., Na, W., Ding, L. & Zeng, Q. (2014). Hepatitis E virus genotype 4 in yak, northwestern China. *Emerg Infect Dis*, 20(12), ss. 2182-4.
- Yamada, K., Takahashi, M., Hoshino, Y., Takahashi, H., Ichiyama, K., Nagashima, S., Tanaka, T. & Okamoto, H. (2009a). ORF3 protein of hepatitis E virus is essential for virion release from infected cells. *The Journal of general virology*, 90(Pt 8), ss. 1880-91.
- Yamada, K., Takahashi, M., Hoshino, Y., Takahashi, H., Ichiyama, K., Tanaka, T. & Okamoto, H. (2009b). Construction of an infectious cDNA clone of hepatitis E virus strain JE03-1760F that can propagate efficiently in cultured cells. *The Journal of general virology*, 90(Pt 2), ss. 457-62.
- Yamashita, T., Mori, Y., Miyazaki, N., Cheng, R.H., Yoshimura, M., Unno, H., Shima, R., Moriishi, K., Tsukihara, T., Li, T.C., Takeda, N., Miyamura, T. & Matsuura, Y. (2009). Biological and immunological characteristics of hepatitis E virus-like particles based on the crystal structure. *Proc Natl Acad Sci U S A*, 106(31), ss. 12986-91.
- Yazaki, Y., Mizuo, H., Takahashi, M., Nishizawa, T., Sasaki, N., Gotanda, Y. & Okamoto, H. (2003). Sporadic acute or fulminant hepatitis E in Hokkaido, Japan, may be food-borne, as suggested by the presence of hepatitis E virus in pig liver as food. *The Journal of general virology*, 84(Pt 9), ss. 2351-7.
- Yoo, D., Willson, P., Pei, Y., Hayes, M.A., Deckert, A., Dewey, C.E., Friendship, R.M., Yoon, Y., Gottschalk, M., Yason, C. & Giulivi, A. (2001).
 Prevalence of hepatitis E virus antibodies in Canadian swine herds and

identification of a novel variant of swine hepatitis E virus. *Clin Diagn Lab Immunol*, 8(6), ss. 1213-9.

- Yu, H., Li, S., Yang, C., Wei, M., Song, C., Zheng, Z., Gu, Y., Du, H., Zhang, J. & Xia, N. (2011). Homology model and potential virus-capsid binding site of a putative HEV receptor Grp78. *J Mol Model*, 17(5), ss. 987-95.
- Yugo, D.M. & Meng, X.J. (2013). Hepatitis E virus: foodborne, waterborne and zoonotic transmission. *International journal of environmental research* and public health, 10(10), ss. 4507-33.
- Zafrullah, M., Ozdener, M.H., Kumar, R., Panda, S.K. & Jameel, S. (1999). Mutational analysis of glycosylation, membrane translocation, and cell surface expression of the hepatitis E virus ORF2 protein. *J Virol*, 73(5), ss. 4074-82.
- Zhai, L., Dai, X. & Meng, J. (2006). Hepatitis E virus genotyping based on fulllength genome and partial genomic regions. *Virus Res*, 120(1-2), ss. 57-69.
- Zhang, J., Shih, J.W., Wu, T., Li, S.W. & Xia, N.S. (2013). Development of the hepatitis E vaccine: from bench to field. *Semin Liver Dis*, 33(1), ss. 79-88.
- Zhang, W., Shen, J.M., G, G.Z., Yang, L., Cui, J.Z., Ju, G. & Z, H. (2008). Hepatitis E Virus Infection among Domestic Animals in Eastern China. *Zoonoses public health*, 55, ss. 291-298.
- Zhao, C., Ma, Z., Harrison, T.J., Feng, R., Zhang, C., Qiao, Z., Fan, J., Ma, H., Li, M., Song, A. & Wang, Y. (2009). A novel genotype of hepatitis E virus prevalent among farmed rabbits in China. *J Med Virol*, 81(8), ss. 1371-9.
- Zheng, Z.Z., Miao, J., Zhao, M., Tang, M., Yeo, A.E., Yu, H., Zhang, J. & Xia, N.S. (2010). Role of heat-shock protein 90 in hepatitis E virus capsid trafficking. *The Journal of general virology*, 91(Pt 7), ss. 1728-36.
- Zhou, C., Li, W. & Yang, S. (2014). Analysis of hepatitis e virus-like sequence in chimpanzee. *Hepat Mon*, 14(9), s. e19473.
- Zhu, F.C., Zhang, J., Zhang, X.F., Zhou, C., Wang, Z.Z., Huang, S.J., Wang, H., Yang, C.L., Jiang, H.M., Cai, J.P., Wang, Y.J., Ai, X., Hu, Y.M., Tang, Q., Yao, X., Yan, Q., Xian, Y.L., Wu, T., Li, Y.M., Miao, J., Ng, M.H., Shih, J.W. & Xia, N.S. (2010). Efficacy and safety of a recombinant hepatitis E vaccine in healthy adults: a large-scale, randomised, doubleblind placebo-controlled, phase 3 trial. *Lancet*, 376(9744), ss. 895-902.
- Zhuang, H., Cao, X.Y., Liu, C.B. & Wang, G.M. (1991). Epidemiology of hepatitis E in China. *Gastroenterol Jpn*, 26 Suppl 3, ss. 135-8.

Acknowledgements

This study was conducted at the Department of Virology, Immunobiology and Parasitology (VIP), National Veterinary Institute (SVA), Uppsala, Sweden and the Department of Biomedical Sciences and Veterinary Public Health (BVF), Swedish University of Agricultural Sciences (SLU), Sweden. This study was mainly financially supported by a grant 2009-747 from the Swedish Research Council for Environment, Agricultural Sciences and Agricultural Sciences and Spatial Planning (FORMAS). Part of this study was supported by the project 'PREDEMICS', (7th Framework Program, grant agreement no. 278433) and the Wildtech Project of the EU Seventh Framework Program, (FP7/2007-2013) grant agreement no. 222633. Thanks to the Swedish hunters, Gård & Djurhälsan (Tidigare Svenska djurhälsovården). Thanks to Associate Professor Jean-Francois Valarcher, the head of the Department of Virology, Immunology and Parasitology, SVA and Professor Anders Engvall and Dr. Jens Mattson, the former and present director-general SVA, for the possibilities for research.

I would especially like to express my sincere gratitude to:

Associate Professor Frederik Widén, my main supervisor, thank you for all support, compassion, patience, encouragement, manuscript corrections, wise guidance and always taking your time to help. No words can't express my gratitude and appreciation for your assistance. This work would not have been possible if it wasn't for you! =D

Professor Heléne Norder, my co-supervisor, I have always been impressed with your deep knowledge in virology, endless curiosity and strength to carry out things even in the most challenging moments. Thank you for your support, patience, with the manuscript corrections, encouragement and guidance! I am so grateful and privileged to have you as my supervisor.

Professor Sándor Belák, my co-supervisor, thank you for sharing your deep knowledge in virology, manuscript corrections and your professional supervising and positive feedback! Classical virology is always needed despite advances in new technology! ;)

My excellent co-authors, thank you so much:

Ann-Sophie Olofson, for your help and guidance in the lab, and your most friendly attitude and nice conversations.

Dr. Jonas Malmsten for sharing samples and helping me with the preparation of the manuscript.

Marie Karlsson and Anette Roth for taking your time and effort, your contributions is much appreciated and I am so happy to have you onboard! =D

Dr. Henrik Uhlhorn for sharing samples and feedback in the manuscript preparation.

Professor Ann-Marie Dalin, for sharing samples and information.

I would also like to thank:

Dr. Mikhayil Hakhverdyan: for helping me with the MiSeq preparation and other things, from small to big! I have really enjoyed your our gadget talks and our lunch time talks. Thank you for being a superb colleague and as a friend!

Dr. Jenna Anderson: for helping me with the language correction and other remarks in the manuscript preparation, and reminding me that Youtube exists! Thank you for all friendly discussions about life and work! You are truly a unique friendly American/Swedish girl! ;)

Dr. Helena Back: my fellow PhD colleague, thanks for exchanging ALL aspects of the PhD perspective, but also our friendship. I am so impressed that you can manage sports at elite level, horse and PhD activities all at the same time. Wherever you go, you will always be an appreciated colleague and friend! Good luck on your PhD defense!

Alia: for being an excellent colleague, friend and "second mum" for sharing everything from science to life in general. Thank you for your support, good food and for making me company during the fika and lunch time!

Dr. Tanja Strand for engaging and sharing rat samples. You are truly a One health representative!

Professor Mikael Berg: for all feedback from the half time, and for your time when you still was at the SVA room. Our shared hate and love (not) for SJ! ;)

Dr. Giorgi Metrevelli: for being a colleague and friend. Although you faced a lot of obstacles, you manage them all by going your way. I am sooo impressed! Cheers my friend! =)

Dr. Eva Emmoth: for taking your time for discussion on all levels! Good luck on your PhD defense!

Pia: for the wonderful time at SVA and shared times at conferences.

Fredrik G., Oskar K., Karin U.: thanks for all advice, discussion and help regarding NGS You are all gurus! =) Thanks for all lunch times and other activities, and for the time at SVA.

Dr, Siamak S.: for your support and kindness. Long live VIF!! =)

VIF group consisting of Frederik, Siamak, Ann-Sophie, Gunilla B, Birgitta P.: For sharing results, problem-solving, updates and the wonderful fika-time!!

Claudia and Shaman: Thank you for sharing your deep knowledge and working experience, and for the wonderful time here at SVA!

Former office mates:

Gordana, Oliver, Rajiv, Hari and Mehdi: I miss those times when I had you as my office mate. The friendly atmosphere and lively discussion about life and science in general, not to mentioned some game of tennis or table tennis! A had a wonderful time with you all!!! Thank you so much!

Lihong, Hongyan, Munir, Jonas W, Anne-Lie, Johanna, Shaman, Shahid, Neil, Sandra C. R., Marti, Valeria, Magda and Balaje: Thank you so much for the outstanding time at SVA with nice and interesting discussion on every level, lunches, social activities, parties and great company!

Associate Professor Jean-François Valarcher: for the encouragement and support. Thank you so much!

Dr. Mikael L.: for the help regarding NGS and scientific discussions.

Berka: for taking your time to help me with work related and bicycle problems.

Birgitta, Annica and Anki: For helping me with office and work related issues!

Johnny E and Mikael P.: For helping me with computer problems, in reality and online in virtual reality!

I would also like to thank other people at SVA/SLU for helping me in some way or just nice company at work/shared courses/conferences: Jakob O., Janne, Madeline, Maja, Karin A., Anna L., Jenny F., Marko G, Jenny L., Johnny E., Mikael P., Christina Ö., Bo S., Marianne W,O., Stefan B., Lena R., Tomas J., Giulio G., Babu, Karin T., Madeleine J., Shahi F., Annie P-W., Eva W., Anna L., Caroline V., Mats I., Louise B., Mikael J., Snus, Kjell-Olov G., Cecilia A., Christina Ö., Anna L., Eva O-L., Birgitta B., Kersti L., Karl S., Anna-Karin T., Ullis, Anders A., Robert S., Gunnel S., Disa D., Josefine E., Axel S., Anna-Lena E., Jorge M-L, and Anna N.

I would like to thank all my friends in Stockholm and other parts in Sweden and abroad (you know who you are =P)!!

Many thanks those people I miss in the text, but not in my heart!

I would like to send my special gratitude to my parents, sisters for your love, endless support!! I am truly blessed for having my wife Cecilia and my son Tim by my side. You are all my dearest treasures in my life!! I \checkmark U!